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OHIO APPELLATE AND CIRCUIT
COURT REPORTS.

NEW SERIES—VOLUME XXIV.

CAUSES ARGUED AND DETERMINED IN THE COURTS OF
APPEAL AND THE CIRCUIT COURTS
OF OHIO.

NEGLIGENCE AS BETWLEEN A CHAFFEUR AND A
MOTORMAN.

Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

THE CINCINNATI TRACTION COMPANY V.
BERTHA WEBSTER HARRISON.

Decided, March 29, 1915.

Automodile Struck by Street Car—Whether Ordinary Care Was Ez-
ercised by Either Chauffeur or Motorman a Question for the Jury—
Relative Value of Testimony of Witnesses—Claim of Husband Who
Paid Bills of Nurse and Physician—Models in Evidence.

1. The degree of -care required of motormen between street intersec-
tions is not as great as at street crossings, while drivers of other
vehicles should exercise greater care in crossing street car tracks
between intersections than at street crossings.

2. Whether a chauffeur exercised ordinary care in driving out of pri-
vate grounds upon the street in the face of an approaching car, with
the result that his machine was struck by the car and his em-
ployer injured, is for the jury to determine in view of all the
circumstances surrounding the case.

3. It would be error to charge a jury that “if you find the witnesses are
of equal credibility, then I charge you that the affirmative testi-
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mony of the witness who says that he heard the gong sounded is
of greater value than the testimony of the other witnesses,” unless
the qualification be added that “they had equal opportunity to
hear.”

4. Where a husband testifies that he has assigned to his injured wife
the claim on account of services of a physician and nurse, he estops
himself from asserting such a claim in a future action, and these
items may be submitted to the jury to be included in the damages
awarded notwithstanding the assignment was not in writing:

Kinkead & Rogers, for plaintiff in error.
Galvin & Galvin, contra.

GoORrRMAN, J.

This was an action to recover damages for personal injuries
sustained by the defendant in error, by reason of a collision
between her automobile and a car of the plaintiff in error com-
pany, on Gilbert avenue near Chapel street, in January, 1912. A
verdict of $3,750 was rendered in her favor below, and the cause
is now here on error.

The principal contention of plaintiff in error is that the ver-
dict is against the weight of the evidence. We have read the
record of the evidence in the case ,and carefully considered
same. It appears that defendant in error was driving out of the
premises of Mrs. Krippendorf, on the west side of Gilbert av-
enue, about forty feet south of Chapel street. There was a slight
cut in the driveway near the street line, and the driveway gradu-
ally sloped from the house, which stood back perhaps eighty or
a hundred feet, to the street line. Plaintiff in error claims that
it was such negligence on the part of the chauffeur, who was
driving the automobile of defendant in error, to drive his auto-
mobile onto the street car track ahead of a north bound car on
Gilbert avenue; that the defendant in error is precluded from
recovery.

The evidence tends to show that at the time the chauffeur
drove out upon the street, there was a south bound car standing
at the intersection of Chapel street and Gilbert avenue, about
forty feet north of the driveway, the front end of the south
‘bound car being not more than ten or fifteen feet from the drive-
way. There was a great deal of snow, which had been cast
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outo the sides of the street by the sweepers of the traction
company, leaving no space between the stréet car tracks and the
curbs on either side of Gilbert avenue for the automobiles or
vehicles to pass, and it was necessary for automobiles to keep
to the center of the street along the street car tracks in order
to pass over the street. The evidence tends to show that there
was a north bound car approaching Chapel street at the time
the chauffeur drove onto Gilbert avenue from the driveway of
Mrs. Krippendorf, and the distance this car was from the drive-
way at the time the chauffeur crossed the sidewalk, on the drive,
to the street, is placed at from eighty feet to four hundred and
fifty feet away. .

Now it is claimed by plaintiff in error that it was negligence
on the part of the chauffeur to undertake to drive onto the
street in front of this approaching car when it was so near to him
as the evidence tended to show it was. Mrs. Harrison testified
that she saw the approaching car and also saw the stationary
south bound car, but that the north bound car was so far away
that she didn’t think there could be any danger in driving upon
the street ahead of the car.

‘We think that it was a question for the jury to determine un-
der all the circumstances of the case, taking into consideration
the speed of the car, the necessity of Mrs. Harrison’s automobile
to drive in the part of the street where the street ear tracks
were laid, whether or not a reasonably prudent person would
have driven upon the track at the time and place the chauffeur
of the defendant in error did drive. If, as a reasonably prudent
chauffeur, he believed that, under all the conditions before him,
it was reasonably safe to drive upon the north bound track at
the time and place he did, then he was not guilty of negligence.
If, on the other hand, the approaching car was so near to him
at the time he undertook to drive upon the north bound track
that a reasonably prudent chauffeur would not undertake to
drive upon the track, then he would have been guilty of such
negligence as would preclude a recovery on the part of the de-
fendant in error.

It was not, in our opinion, as a matter of law, negligence for
the chauffeur to drive upon the track of the street car company,
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even though there was an approaching car and he saw it ap-
proaching. As we understand the rule laid down in the Brandon
case, 87 O. S., which, to be sure, was a case at an intersection,
it was a question of whether or not a reasonably prudent driver
would under the circumstances undertake to drive upon the
track; and this rule we believe applies whether it be at an inter-
section or between intersections. Tt is true that between inter-
sections greater care is required to be exercised by drivers of
vehicles to avoid being injured in crossing tracks of the street
railway, and the degree of care to be exercised by a motorman
between intersections is not as great as that required to be ex-
ercised at an intersection. But when we consider that the car
was approaching Chapel street, an intersecting street, and this
automobile was not more than forty, and perhaps not more
than thirty feet away from this intersection, it was the duty
of the motorman to have his car under such control as to be
able to stop it within a reasonable distance and to be on the look-
out for persons and vehicles who might be on the street and
had a right to be on the street. The street car had no superior
right in the street over and above the right of the defendant in
error and her automobile. Each of the parties, the chauffeur of
the defendant in error and the motorman of the plaintiff in cx-
ror, were bound to exercise ordinary care. Ordinary care under
some circumstances is a higher degree of care than under other
circumstances, but the whole question whether or not the parties
were guilty of negligence, or contributory negligence, if there
was any evidence tending to show negligence or contributory
negligence, or both, is one for the jury under proper instructions
from the court. Upon this point we do not find any error in
the charge of the court, and we feel that there was evidence tend-
ing to support the verdict, as to the negligence of the plaintiff
in error.

This court ought not set aside a verdict on the ground
that it is not supported by the weight of the evidence,
unless it be manifestly against the weight of the evidence. The
trial judge heard all the testimony of the witnesses, and saw them
face to face, and was better able to judge as to the weight to be
given to their testimony and the value of their testimony, than
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a reviewing court. The trial court having refused to set aside
the verdict on the ground that it was against the weight of the
evidence, we feel that this court should not do so unless it is
manifestly against the weight of the evidence. We are not pre-
pared to say that the verdict was manifestly against the weight
of the evidence.

It is further urged that the court erred in refusing to give
special charges Nos. 1 and 2 requested by plaintiff in error.

‘We think that special charge No. 1 was substantially given in
special charge No. 3; so that, if it be true that special charge
No. 3 is substantially the same as special charge No. 1, there was
no error in the court’s refusal to give special charge No. 1, be-
cause plaintiff in error had the benefit of the rule of law em-
bodied in special charge No. 1.

As to special charge No. 2, refused, we do not think the court
erred in refusing to give the same, because there was omitted
from the charge the question of whether or not the witnesses
testifying had equal opportunities to hear whether or not the
gong sounded. This charge was predicated upon the rule of
law that where two witnesses of equal credibility and equal op-
portunities of seeing and observing testify to the same fact, one
of whom testifies positively that a certain thing was done, and
the other testifies that he did not see or hear it done, then greater
credence must be given to the witness who testifies that it was
done, than to the witness who testifies that he didn’t see or hear
it done.

Now, if there had been added to special charge No. 2, which
was refused, the words ‘‘and have equal opportunities to hear,’’
we think that the charge would have been correct. But the
charge does not contain this language. The language is:

X1

* * * and if you find that the witnesses are of equal
credibility, then I charge you that the affirmative testimony of
the witness who says that he heard the gong sounded is of greater
value than the testimony of the other witness.”’

This charge should have read as follows:

[

¢ ® * and if you find that the witnesses are of equal
credibility, and had equal opportunities to hear, then I charge
you,’’ ete.
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Thirdly. It is claimed that the court erred as to its rule, in
the charge, respecting the liability of plaintiff in error to the
defendant in error, for the doctor’s bill, nurse’s bill, ete. The
evidence discloses that the doctor’s bill was incurred by the hus:
band of the defendant in error, and also the nurse’s bill. A
claim was made by defendant in error in the case, on the trial
below, for $400 damages by reason of the doctor’s bill and nurse’s-
bill. The husband of defendant in error testified as to these
services, and so did the doctor and the nurse. There was some:
evidence as to the reasonable value of the doctor’s services, butil
no evidence as to the value of the nurse’s services. It is con- '
tended that defendant in error could not have recovered for
these items of damage because there was no assignment in writ- '
ing of the claim by the husband to her. While it is true that
an assignment of this claim should have been made to the de- "
fendant in error in writing, nevertheless, in view of the fact that -
the husband of the defendant in error took the stand and testi-
fied that he had assigned his claim to his wife, we feel that he
would be precluded from asserting this claim against the plaintiff
in error at any future time. He would be estopped to assert
this claim in any future action, and this is the point which con-
cerns plaintiff in error as to this matter. We do not feel that the
verdict should be disturbed because of the admission of testimony
relating to these claims, or because of the charge of the court
relating to these claims. -

It is next claimed that there was error in the admission of .
certain exhibits—photographs, models and a plat taken- from
the auditor’s office of this county. It is admitted that the plat~
taken from the auditor’s office is substantially accurate and
drawn to a scale and we can see no error in admitting it in evi-
dence. It is practically the same sort of a plat that was offered
by plaintiff in error, with the difference that there was indicated
back from the street certain buildings upon the property. As
to the photograph, it was an enlarged one, but was not for that
reason inadmissible. It has been held by the Supreme Court
that photographs are admissible in evidence to show location,
situation and surroundings of the place where the cause of action
arose. As to the models, they were, to be sure, amateurish, but
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nevertheless, interesting and instructive. They showed a section
of the street and street car tracks, the driveway, the north bound
car and the south bound car, and the automobile, and were used
purely for illustration and in the argument to the jury. ~ We
can not find that, because these models were not highly artistic
and beautifully designed, they were improperly admitted or im-
properly used in the argument to the jury.

The amount of the verdiet in this case was not so great as
to indicate that there was any prejudice or bias on the part of
the jury. Indeed, it is not claimed that the verdict was excessive.
On the contrary, we think the jury might have returned a very
much larger verdict, if the defendant in error was entitled to
recover at all.

‘We are of the opinion that the case was fairly tried and there
was no substantial error in the admission or exclusion of evi-
dence; the charge of the court was as fair as could have been
asked, and substantial justice has been done by the rendmon
of the verdict in favor of the defendant in error.

The judgment of the court of common pleas will therefore
. be affirmed.

Jones (E. H.), J., and Jones (Oliver B.), J., concur.

COMMITMENT OF WITNESS BY NOTARY FOR CONTEMPT.
Court of Appeals for Erie County.

IN RE APPLICATION OF (GEORGE J. SAGE FOR A
‘WriT oF HABEAS CORPUS.

Decided, June 5, 1915.

Contempt—Sufiiciency of Commitment Issued by Notary Against a
Witness Refusing to Testify—Nature of an Oath.

1. An order of commitment of a witness for contempt for refusing to
be sworn, issued by a notary public before whom his deposition is
sought to be taken, is not defective in failing to show a specific
order that the witness be sworn, where it recites that the wit-
ness unlawfully refused to be sworn; and such order of commit-
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ment need not recite that the notary was not a relative or attorney
of either party, or otherwise interested in the action.

2. An oath includes an afirmation and embraces every method whereby
the conscience of a witness is obligated to testify to the truth.

George A. Groot, Herman Preusser and H. L. Peeke, for
plaintiff in error.
Stanley & Horwitz, contra.

RicHARDS, J.

Error to the court of common pleas.

‘While the case of The Ohto Assets Company v. George A. Groot,
George J. Sage et al was pending in the Court of Common Pleas
of Cuyahoga County, the plaintiff gave due notice to the defend-
ants that the deposition of George J. Sage would be taken on
October 19, 1914, before a notary public in Erie county, in
which county said Sage resided. A subpoena was served on Sage
to appear at the time and place named and testify as a witness.
The -witness appeared in accordance with the command of the
subpoena but refused to be sworn as a witness. He was there-
upon committed to the jail of Erie county by order of the notary
public, for contempt, whereupon he sued out a writ of habeas
corpus in the probate court, and on a hearing being held in that
court he was discharged. Error was prosecuted from that de-
cision to the court of common pleas, where the judgment of the
probate court was reversed and the petitioner remanded to the
custody of the sheriff. To reverse this latter decision rendered
by the court of common pleas, this proceeding in error is brought
in this court.

The order of commitment issued by the notary public recites,
substantially, the facts of the pendency of the action in Cuyahoga
county; the service of notice on October 14, 1914, to take the
deposition of Sage at the office of the notary on October 19, 1914;
that the witness appeared at the office of the notary at the time
specified ; that his fees as a witness had been paid; that he was
called by plaintiff in that case as a witness, and that he re-
fused to be sworn as a witness in the taking of said deposition.
The commitment further recites that thereupon the notary
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found and determined that he was guilty of contempt by his un-
lawful refusal to be sworn as a witness, and ordered and ad-
Jjudged that he be imprisoned in the county jail of Erie county,
there to remain until he should submit to be sworn, testify and
give his deposition, or until otherwise legally discharged.

- When the case came on to be heard in the probate court coun-
sel for the petitioner moved that court for a discharge of the
prisoner for two reasons: first, that the commitment is defective
in that it does not specify the cause of commitment as required
by law; and, second, that the return of the sheriff fails to show
the facts in reference to the case which are required to be set
out by the sheriff in making his return.

On the hearing of the case in the court of appeals it was in-
sistéd by counsel for the petitioner that the commitment issued
by the notary is insufficient for the reason that it does not show
that any order was made upon him to be sworn or to give his
testimony at such hearing, and that the notary had no authority
to issue the commitment because the witness’ deposition could
not be taken a second time, it having already been taken in said
action. It is further insisted on behalf of the petitioner that the
commitment is defective in that it fails to show that the notary
is not a relative or attorney of either party or otherwise inter-
ested in the action; and it was contended in oral argument that
the commitment is defective in failing to show that the witness
had refused to be affirmed as well as refused to be sworn.

The order of commitment as recited contains a finding by the
notary public that the witness had unlawfully refused to be
sworn as a witness, and such refusal necessarily involves a find-
ing that the witness had been lawfully ecalled upon to testify.
The refusal of the witness to testify could not be an unlawful
refusal unless the circumstances were such that the witness was
properly required to testify, and when the notary finds and de-
termines that the witness has unlawfully refused to testify, he
has made all the finding in that respeet which is required by
law. (General Code, 11510.)

In view of the evidence contained in the bill of exceptions, the
contention that this was a second taking of the deposition of the
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witness and that, for this reason, the notary had no authority
to commit him for contempt, certainly exhibits ingenuity. It
appears in the bill of exceptions that an attempt had been made
to take the deposition of this witness in the same case on Sep-
tember 10, 1914, on which occasion the witness appeared and was
sworn, but refused to answer very many material questions. The
issue in the case was whether a certain conveyance of real estate,
from Groot to his brother-in-law, Sage, situated on Scovill av-
enue in the city of Cleveland, was fraudulent as against creditors,
the plaintiff claiming that the conveyance had been made without
consideration and that it was invalid. In view of this issue in
the pleadings, the witness was inquired of when the first attempt
was made to take his deposition, as to how much he had paid for
the property. His answer was, ‘‘That is my own business, I
shall give no answer to that. It is none of your business. I am
not going to answer.”” He was asked whether his answer would
inceriminate him in any way and he answered that it would not.
The notary thereupon held that the answer was sufficient and
that he could not compel the witness to answer further.

The deposition of September 10th contains many other illus-
trations of refusals to answer pertinent questions. It is impos-
sible to conceive of any circumstances which would have justified
these refusals, and, as the questions to which answers were de-
gired were of vital importance in the case and the special fact
which plaintiff desired to prove, it could not in any sense be
said that the deposition of the witness had in fact been taken.
It is true that many years before, an action had been brought
by some other creditor to set aside the conveyance and that such
creditor had failed in the action, but the plaintiff in the action
in which the deposition was being taken was not a party to the
prior action and in no sense bound by the judgment therein ren-
dered. In addition to all this, the trial of the case in which the
deposition of September 10th was taken was commenced, and
that deposition, such as it was, was offered in evidence. The trial
court, apparently concluding that it was in effect no deposition
so far as the material issue was concerned, stopped the trial,
manifestly for the purpose of enabling the plaintiff to take the

rd
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deposition of Sage, and if any order to take a second deposition
was necessary, this action of the court would be a substantial
compliance therewith.

It is said that the commitment is defective because it fails to
show that the witness refused to affirm; and this contention is
made in the face of the language contained in General Code, Sec.
1, where it is enacted that, ‘‘the word ‘oath’ includes affirmation.”’
The same enactment is again contained in General Code, Sec.
10213. It is provided in General Code, Sec. 11542, that the"
officer before whom the deposition is taken shall certify that
the witness was first ‘‘sworn’’ to testify, ete., and it is further
provided in General Code, Sec. 12137, that a refusal to be
sworn may be punished as for a contempt. Section 11510 has
been held applicable to confer power on notaries public (De-
Camp v. Archibald, 50 O. S., 618; Ex Parte Malcolm Jennings,
60 0. S, 319). We hold, in view of these provisions, that an
oath, within the meaning of the statutes, embraces every method
whereby the conscience of a witness is obligated to testify to the
truth. The sections of the code cited show that the objection
was a mere triviality. In addition to this, the record discloses
that the witness had in fact been sworn, without objection on
his part, when they sought to take his deposition a month pre-
vious, so that he evidently had no conscientious scruples against
taking an oath.

The contention that the warrant of commitment is defective
in that it fails to show that the notary was not a relative or at-
torney of either party, or otherwise interested in the action, is
without merit. The record shows that the notary public was duly
qualified as such within the county of Erie, and that he had
jurisdiction of the person of the petitioner who was duly sub-
poenaed as a witness, and he had, of course, jurisdiction and au-
thority to take depositions. It would be announcing altogether
too strict a rule to say that the absence of every disqualification
must appear in the commitment. If it were true that the notary
was subject to any disqualification, that fact could easily be
made to appear on the hearing of the habeas corpus proceeding,
and ro attempt was made to show that. The whole record discloses
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a persistent and flagrant attempt to frustrate the endeavors of
the plaintiff to ascertain the truth on issues properly made and
awaiting determination in a court of justice.

Finding no error, the judgment of the court of common pleas
will be affirmed.

CHITTENDEN, J., and KINKADE, J., concur.

JUSTIFIABLE REPUDIATION OF A SETTLEMENT
AGREEIMENT.

Court of Appeals for Cuyahoga County.

ELizABETH FARLEY, ADMINISTRATRIX, v. THE CLEVELAND, CIN-
CINNATI, CHICAGO & St. Lorvis Rarnway CoMPANY.

Decided, May 26, 1914.

Release of Claim for Wrongful Deatil—Term(Mted by Failure of Defend-
ant to Carry Out One of its Essential Features.

1. An agreement to pay a widow a specified sum of money in full
gettlement of her claim for the wrongful death of her husband,
and also to pay her lawyer a stipulated sum under his agreement
with her when he took the case or to protect her against the claim
of the lawyer, is so far repudiated by a subsequent refusal to
gsettle with the lawyer as to justify the party of the first part in
tendering back the amount she had received and declaring the
whole agreement at an end.

2. Where one of the parties to an agreement of settlement has re-
pudiated an integral part of it, and the other party has thereupon
elected to disavow the whole of it with-an offer to restore the
status quo ante, the rescission is an accomplished fact and requires
no judicial declaration of the result thereby accomplished.

G. B. Keppel and Chas. A. Thatcher, for plaintiff in error.
Cook, McGQowan & Foote, contra.

GRANT, J.

Error to the court of common pleas.

In 1913 and at the time of his death, one George F. Farley,
the plaintiff’s intestate, was engaged.in the service of the defend-
ant company, and while so engaged was killed.
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The plaintiff is his widow as well as the administratrix of his
estate. In the latter capacity she brought suit against the defend-
ant for damages occasioned by her husband’s death, alleging it
to have resulted from the wrongful acts and omissions of the
company. For the prosecution and conduct of that action she
employed one Thatcher as her agent, engaging to pay him for
his service in that behalf 25 per centum of any recovery or settle-
ment reached in the case without going to a trial on the merits.

‘While that action was pending in court and untried, the plaint-
iff came to an agreement of settlement with the defendant for the
sum of $3,000, and executed a full relcase, accordingly.

‘Whereupon, such settlement having been approved by the
probate court having jurisdiction, the suit was discontinued by
the plaintiff, or at her instance.

The agents of the defendant who effected this settlement knew
at the time it was made of the contract between the plaintiff and
Thatcher as to the latter’s stipulated compensation, and it was a
part of their agreement with her, either to pay Thatcher’s claim
at the rate contracted for, or to ‘‘protect’’ her against it—which
of the two things agreed to be done in this respect being in dis-
pute in the record in this case. After the relcase was signed
Thatcher claimed $750 for himself under his agreement with Mrs.
Farley. He was entitled to more, his compensation being liqui-
dated at one-fourth of the recovery, and- the recovery being
$3,000 and such sum as might be coming to him in_addition.

The defendant refused to pay Thatcher. Mrs. Farley then—
as she stood obligated to do—paid him the amount he claimed, to-
wit, $750, and so satisfied and kept her promise to him.

Mrs. Farley thereupon treated this repudiation by the defend-
ant of what she regarded as a material part of an indivisible
contract, as a resecission of it, pro tante, and elected to rescind
it on her own part as an entirety. Aeccordingly, she tendered
back to the defendant company all the money received by her in
settlement of her claim, with interest to the day the tender was
made, and” commenced this action, the tender having been re-
fused.

The petition alleged two canses of action. The first was at
law, strictly, being in fact a restatement of the original suit
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for damages for the alleged wrongful death cf her intestate. The
second demanded that the alleged contract of settlement be va-
cated and set aside, and concluded with a prayer for a money
judgment upon the first cause of action.

The defendant, by answer, among other things, pleaded the
release. .

The plaintiff replied, alleging again in substance the second
cause of action of the petition.

Upon the trial in the court below the plaintiff called for the
submission to a jury of the issue joined by the pleadings on the
second cause of action. This demand was denied, and the court
proceeding to a trial of that issue, upheld the release, and dis-
missed the action.

It is alleged that error has intervened in both of these respects,
that is, in refusing a trial of the issue raised by the second cause
of action by a jury and in rendering final judgment against
the plaintiff.

In support of the first proposition the case of Perry v. O’Nesll
& Co., 78 O. 8., 200, is relied on.

Assuming, but not deciding, that the doctrine of that case al-
lows, as of right, a jury trial where the question to be decided
is whether on account of the absolute incapacity of a party to
make it, a contract is void, ab inttio, we are of the opinion that
no such question. is presented in this case. The most that is said
in the petition in this respect is that Mrs: Farley, at the time she
cxecuted the release, ‘‘suffered great mental anguish and grief’’
and that the defendant knew it.

This allegation falls short of alleging that the settlement con-
tract was void for want of capacity on the part of Mrs. Farley to
make it, instead of being voidable at her instance because she,
although mentally qualified to make it, was induced to make it
by the false and fraudulent conduct and representations of the
defendant.

This allegation, without more, does not bring the case within
the principle announced in Perry v. O’Neill, or within the re-
marks made in the opinion in that case.

. It is to be remembered that a pretty -stringent rule has re-
cently been announced by the Supreme Court of Ohio in this
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respect. In Palmer v. Humiston, decided February 25, 1913, the
syllabus is:

““1. The issues of a case are defined by and confined to the
pleadings.”’

It is quite true that in the later case of Ryland Coal Co. v.
McFadden, decided April 21, 1914, the following syllabus de-
clares the law also on this subject, in the following words:

““2. In such case the issue of contributory negligence is not
made by the pleadings, but is raised by the evidence properly
offered by the parties in support of their respective claims. The
issue of contributory negligence thus raised is to be determined
by the same rules as to burden of proof and otherwise as if made
by the pleadings.’’

‘We are not at present called upon to say which of these two
cases, in apparently hopeless conflict, as they appear to be, is the
law for us, because neither does the petition sufficiently raise a
jury issue, nor is one raised by the testlmony disclosed by the
record before us, as we think.

‘We shall spend no time in discussing the question of whether
the contract of settlement was induced on the part of Mrs. Farley
by the active fraud of the agents of the defendant company, or
whether the representations they made to her as part of such
inducement were representations which, although false and
known by them to be so, were still such representations as she
had no right in law to rely upon, and did rely upon them at her
own proper peril. Our conclusion rests upon another, and, as
we think, more certain and less difficult ground. Nor need we
determine whether or not that question presents an issue triable
as of right by a jury.

The agents of the defendant company knew, at the time they
made settlement with Mrs. Farley, that she had agreed to pay
Thatcher at least $750 on the basis of that settlement, and not
that she had merely reserved the right to have a lawsuit with
Thatcher over his compensation when he should come to the
point of demanding it. Just what they agreed to do in regard
to Thatcher’s claim is not so clear: the testimony on that point
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is in dispute. Mrs. Farley says the agreement was to pay
Thatcher, unreservedly. The agents say it was to ‘‘protect’’ her
against Thatcher.

As these agents had not just fallen from a Christmas tree, but
were experienced and seasoned men in that line of activity, it
is not likely that they did not at the time have in view the avenue
of retreat finally taken by their company in refusing to pay
Thatcher, and rely on the requisite degree of darkness that would
be shed upon their agreement by the word ‘‘protect,’’ as used
in relation to Mrs. Farley. » In this view of the matter it is prob-
able that the testimony of one of the agents is not far afield.
His language is:

‘“Well, I conferred with Mr. Hruska, who was in the adjoining
room, and together we told her that we would protect her against

Mr. Thatcher and not to accord him the mere privilege of suing
her.”’

‘What they really meant by agreeing to ‘‘protect’’ her, instead
of paying the debt she had obligated herself to pay, is disclosed
by their letter to her of April 8th, 1913, which they caused to
be read aloud to her ‘‘at about 5:30 p. M.,”’ a8 the endorsement
on the communication is at pains to state.

In that letter they tell her plainly that what they mean by
‘““protecting’’ her is to allow her to be sued by Thatcher, when
she should send the summons to them and the company would
then do the defending. They further notify her that if she fails
to do this, or if she voluntarily pays Thatcher what she thinks
she owes him, or in any way assists him to the company’s pre-
judice, then they will consider themselves relieved from ‘‘pro-
tecting’’ her further and will regard their agreement to do so as
at an end. This was a matter of ten days after they had gotten
the release.

It is of no moment, in our estimation, whether one version or
the other of this part of the settlement agreement is accepted,
although the brief refers to an answer of one of the agents
who affected it as being ‘‘illuminating.”’ The answer shows
that the agent told Thatcher that they would not pay him $750;
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that while that was the proper percentage reserved in the latter’s
contract with Mrs. Farley, still as he, Thatcher, had not brought
about the settlement there was simply no percentage about it;
he had earned nothing under his agreement; but that, never-
theless, they were willing to pay him what he reasonably had
earned. In other words, having earned nothing they would
pay it.

In the view of the matter that the promise was to ‘‘protect’’
Mrs. Farley, instead of to pay what she owed Thatcher, even so,
the kind of ‘‘protection’ to which. upon every just considera-
tion, she was entitled, was that due to an honest and honorable
woman, although an Irish woman, namely, not to back her in an
attempt to break faith and repudiate an obligation and to be put
in the attitude of one who is to be sued before she will pay what
she owns is an honest debt. To defend her in such a lawsuit, in
which she goes on an enduring and public record as one who will
not keep her written engagement, is no adequate ‘‘protection’’
to a woman, who having a higher sense of honor than that, paid
the debt out of her own pocket and thus received a less sum
than she had been promised, to meet the loss occasioned by her
husband’s killing. In the view we take of the matter it was
no ‘‘protection’’ at all.

It may be that Mrs. Farley’s idea that she ought to be pro-
tected in keeping her agreement with Thatcher instead of break-
ing it, was rather primitive; but such as it was, it was hers. She
was entitled to have it, and it is not believable that she would
have settled if she had not thought it was the idea of the com-
pany also. The record shows her to be that kind of a woman,
and she and not the company was doing the obliging when she
agreed to settle her lawsuit. If it shall be said that by going
back from her settlement she showed herself willing to break
contracts, too, the answer must be the example she had just had
in that line, from men who told her that they were her real
friends and her only disinterested advisers.

The defendant company broke its agreement in this respeet.
Mrs. Farley, because she would not break her agreement-—and
no amount of typical ‘‘protection” could either in law or morals
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compel her to do so—did not receive in settlement the amount
the company bargained to pay her, and the vice of the defend-
ant’s initial repudiation of its contract penetrated the entire
transaction, and entitled Mrs. Farley to treat it as at an end,
at her own election. She did so elect and offered to restore to
the defendant all she had taken from it.

It does not affect this conclusion to say that as the two parts
of the contract have regard to two separate things, one to paying
Mrs. Farley for her loss, and the other to paying a debt which
the defendant assumed to pay in her stead, therefore the éom-
pany may keep that part of the agreement which is of advantage
to itself and may violate the part which it deems burdensome,
and send the other party forth to revel in the luxury of a law-
suit, or, in legal parlance, remit him to his remedy at law. It
would be most inequitable to allow this. The two parties are not
equals in this respect. To the defendant, lawsuits are easy
things, old and familiar acquaintances. To a poor Irish woman
they are a burdensome thing. And to compel her to indulge in
one, when her sole desire is to keep her own engagements and
to expect others to keep theirs, which if done would obviate law-
suits, must be regarded as an unjust thing. Speaking for my-
self, it would be with extreme reluctance that a view of the law
would be entertained which could permit a party to a contract
to retain its benefits and reject its burdens, with no alternative
right except to engage in all the uncertainties, vexations and ex-
penses of the litigation to which the other party should be re-
mitted. The defendant company could have easily held its
settlement contract by keeping its part of it, and at a relatively
small expense; for it is not seriously contended now that
Thatcher’s claim was unreasonable in amount. The responsi-
bility, therefore, is on the company and not on Mrs. Farley. In
receding from her part of the agreement she was only entering on
a path to which she was invited by her adversary, who had
opened the way for her. If this case goes to a jury it will be
because the defendant company sent it there.

‘When the defendant repudiated its contract to ‘‘protect’’ her.
within the intendment of that word as we find it, it was Mrs.
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Farley’s right to declare the agreement as a totality at an end,
to tender back the money received by her on account of it, and
“stand where she stood before it was made. She might then sue
in damages as for a breach of it, or be remitted to her original
cause of action, which would then remain wholly unadjudicated
and unaffected by a settlement which had failed through no
fault of hers, but through the sole fault of the other party to it.

Mrs. Farley has elected, seasonably, to take the latter alter-
native.

‘When, because the defendant had repudiated an integral part
of the settlement agreement, the plaintiff chose to end the whole
of it and offered to put the other party in statu quo ante, the
rescission of it was a fact accomplished—accomplished by the
parties themselves, as their right was—and no duty remained
to the court in that respect, but upon the prayer of the plaintiff
to make a judicial finding and declaration of the already right-
fully accomplished result. The prayer of the petition is broad
enough to allow this to be done.

Our conclusion is that the trial court should have done this
and sent the case, thus stripped of its impotent settlement agree-
ment, to a jury for determination upon the first cause of action
in the petition.

Because this was not done, the judgment complained of is
reversed and the cause is remanded to the court of common pleas
for further proceedings, in accordance with law.

Having made this disposition of the petition in error, the ap-
peal in the same case is dismissed.

WiNcH, J., and MEALS, J., concur.
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CLAIM TO PART OF STREET BY PRESCRIPTION.
Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

CLARA HERMANN V. JOSEPH SPITZMILLER ET AL,
Decided, June 25, 1914.

Adverse Pogsession—Policy of the Law With Reference to Prescriptive
Title to Land Dedicated for Street Purposes—Character of the Im-
provements Which Will Create Estoppel Against the Pubdlic.

i. The decisions of the Ohio Supreme Court show a tendency to re-

" quire a private person, claiming through adverse possession title to
land which originally belonged to the public for street purposes,
to base his claim on estoppel rather than the statute of limitations,
and recognition will hardly be given to a claim by prescription un-
less in regard to land upon which valuable improvements have
been erected.

2. Where the grade of an unimproved street was such that it could
not be used by vehicles until improved, the inclosure by an abutting
owner of a part of the dedicated strip by a fence for a period of
less than twenty-one years does not afford ground for enjoining its
improvement on a claim of title by adverse possession.

Ellis B. Gregg and J. T. Rhyno, for plaintiff.
Walter M. Schoenle and Dennis J. Ryan, City Solicitors, and
Gideon C. Wilson and John O. Eckert, contra.

Jones (Oliver B.), J.

This action was brought by the plaintiff for the purpose of en-
joining certain grading that was being done upon a strip of land
25 feet wide by about 70 feet long, which is the east end of an
unnamed street, along the north section line ag shown on the plat
of James H. Oliver’s subdivision of St. Peter’s, Lick Run, Section
31, Town. 3, Fractional Range 2 of the Miami Purchase, as re-
corded in plat book 1, page 254.

The action was originally brought against Joseph Spitzmiller,
a contractor who was doing the work of grading, and Jennie
‘Wahl, who owned the property east of plaintiff’s property and
who had been granted permission by the city of Cincinnati to
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grade said part of said street by private contraet, on behalf of
the city and under the direction of the city authorities. The
city of Cincinnati was afterwards made a party, and claimed in
its answer and cross-petition that the strip of land described in
plaintiff’s petition is a public street and forms a part of what
is known as Fairmount avenue, and asked for a permanent in-
junction against plaintiff from interfering with its use and en-
joyment as a public street.

At the time of the record of Oliver’s subdivision the territory
comprised in the plat was not within the city of Cincinnati. The
plat was made, signed, acknowledged and recorded in accordance
with the terms of the act of March 3, 1831 (29 O. L., 350), as
found in Swan’s Statutes of 1854, at pages 948-9. And under
Section 8 of that act, now General Code, 3589, the recording of
this plat made the strip of land shown along the north line
thereof a public street and vested the title in fee simple in the
county for public use as such. After the annexation of this ter-
ritory to the city of Cincinnati, the platting commission of the
city (under the platting commission act of 1871, 68 O. L., 36,
afterwards R. S., 2626 and 2639), by resolution of May 27, 1875,
adopted a plat of the territory of which this subdivision was a
part, showing this strip 25 feet wide as a dedicated and accepted
street of said city, and showing as located and recommended for
street purposes a strip 30 feet wide along its north line, and five
feet wide along its south line—which three strips taken together
would make a street 60 feet in width known as Fairmount av-
enue. The strip 30 feet wide along the north line was afterwards
dedicated by the will of Robert W. Orr, found in will book 86,
page 384, which together made a dedicated street 55 feet in
width, with five additional feet on the south recommended by the
platting commission but not yet dedicated.

Plaintiff holds the title to lots in J. H. Oliver’s subdivision
which abut upon the south line of this 25 foot street under deeds
which describe the property by lot numbers and refer to the
recorded plat. The description of the property in these deeds
does not embrace, by metes and bounds or otherwise, the tract
of land as to which she seeks an injunction, and she does not



22 COURT OF APPEALS.
Hermann v. Spitzmiller. [Vol. 24 (N.8.)

claim title under any deed, but claims to be the owner of that
tract of land by adverse possession.

There is, therefore, no question but that the tract of land in
dispute was part of a regularly dedicated street by statutory
dedication, and that the title to same which originally vested in
the county became vested in the city by the annexation of the
territory embracing this subdivision, as a public street. The
provision of law now found in Section 3723, General Code, did
not require an acceptance by ordinance of this particular street,
as that section is made for the protection of the city against lia-
bility for care and maintenance of the street rather than for
the perfection of its title, and the action of the platting com-
mission under the law in force at that time would constitute a
complete acceptance of the street if a specific acceptance were
required.

The question presented to the court is, whether the city has lost
that title and the plaintiff has acquired title to this tract by ad-
verse possession.

It is well settled in Ohio that an abutting property owner can
acquire no right in a public highway by encroachment or occu-
pation however long continued, where such encroachment or
occupation is of a temporary character, such as fences, walls,
shrubbery, etc., and is upon that part of the street not then re-
quired for public use. Lane v. Kennedy, 13 0. S., 42; McClellan
v. Miller, 28 O. S, 488; Ry. v. Commissioner, 31 O. S., 338; Ry.
v. Commissioner, 35 O. S., 1; Ry. v. Elyria, 69 O. S., 414.

The doctrine that adverse possession of a public highway can
be established alone by fencing it in is not sustained by the late
Ohio decisions. The tendency of the Supreme Court decisions
seems to be to place the right of the private person to claim
land belonging originally to the public for street purposes upon
the ground of equitable estoppel rather than that of the statute
of limitations and to refuse to recognize any claim of right by
adverse possession unless accompanied with the erection of valu-
able improvements upon the land. Elster v. Springfield, 49
0. 8, at 98.

The subject has been quite thoroughly examined and the de-
cisions of this state considered in Heddleston, Supervisor, v.
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Hendricks, 52 O. S., 460, the third syllabus of which is as fol-
lows:

‘“The right of an adjacent landowner to inclose by a fence,
however constructed, a portion of a public highway, can not be
acquired by adverse possession, however long continued.’’

And Minshall, J., in the opinion of the eourt, at page 465,
used the following language:

““The general rule is that the statute of limitations does not
apply as a bar to the rights of the public unless expressly
named in the statute; for the reason that the same active vigi-
lance can not be expected of it, as is known to characterize that
of a private person, always jealous of his rights and prompt
to repel any invasion of them,”’

following this with a discussion of Ohio cases, and then saying:

‘‘More recent cases place the right of the public as against
encroachments on its highways, however long continued, on the
ground that they are public nuisances, in favor of which the
statute of limitations does not run.’’

And refers to Section 6921, Revised Statutes, now found in
Section 13421, General Code, which imposes a penalty on who-
ever obstructs or incumbers by fences, buildings, etc., a public
street or alley in a municipal corporation.

A good discussion of the law in regard to adverse possession
of a public highway by fencing, is found in the decision of the
superior court, general term, in the case of Winslow v. Cin-
cinnati, 6 N. P., 47. ‘

There is some conflict in the decisions of the cireunit court in
regard to this question of adverse possession of a street, but
this conflict is not serious when the facts of each case are con-
sidered, and it is not necessary nor have we space to discuss all
of the cases or attempt to point out wherein they differ or how
they may be reconciled.

Plaintiff relies upon the case of Mott v. Toledo, 17 C. C., 472,
where the facts justified the decision. The owners of the land
dedicated a certain street by plat dated February 20, 1866, duly
accepted by council March 21, 1866, but on October 25, 1866,
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conveyed by metes and bounds a portion of the land covered by
such plat, including part of the dedicated street, and under that
deed possession was taken and the land enclosed, and the prop-
erty was used by the grantee and assigns for more than twenty-
one years before the city made any effort to improve or take
possession of the street. The court, in its opinion, on page 483,
said: ‘

**We do not intend to decide now that the owner of land who
dedicates it for street purposes may himself set up a title against
the publie, elaiming to hold by adverse possession, unless he shall
hold by such possession of the property after the dedication,
as to have made it notice to the public and to the city that he
intended to hold that property against the city and to ignore
and set aside his deed of dedication.”’

Another case relied upon by plaintiff is that of Seese v. Village
of Maumee, T C.C.(N.S.), 497, where the effect of Section 4977,
Revised Statutes, as amended in 1889, now Section 11220, Gen-
eral Code, was discussed. The facts there made out a case show-
ing adverse possession within the terms of that section, and the
case was properly decided. In its opinion, the court, discussing
numerous cases, saw fit to question the decision found in More-
house v. Burgot, 22 C. C., 174, and Wright v. Oberlin, 3 C.C.
(N.S.), 242. 'We think this was unnecessary, and on the con-
trary approve the doctrine as laid down in the cases last named.

In the case at bar we think the evidence has failed to make
out a case of adverse possession under the terms of Section 11220,
General Code. It appears that the property covered by this sub-
division of which the street was a part was rough and hilly,
that there was an old fence upon the north line called Orr’s fence,
between the lands of Oliver and Orr, and also a fence upon the
east line between the lands of Fenton and Oliver, part of the prop-
erty being now owned by the defendant, Jennie Wahl. These
fences were in existence at the time of the subdivision and have
not been changed except by decay and renewal. The evidence
fails to show that there ever was a complete enclosure of the
tract owned by plaintiff, and also shows that there was a certain
amount of passing along the lines of Fairmount avenue and
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Massasoit avenue, formerly called Orr’s lane, by pedestrians
traveling from Fairmount into Lick Run. It shows that the
property was practically not in use, except for pasturage pur-
poses during certain parts of the year, until about fourteen
years ago when plaintiff built her dwelling-house upon her lots,
and the only dominion she has undertaken to exercise over this
particular tract since that time has been by grading and grass-
ing same and the planting of one or two trees upon it. The
street was of a character that could not be traveled conveniently
by vehicles without grading and improvement. There was no
necessity on the part of the city to tear down fences in advance
of proceedings for such improvement, as the only travel that
could be had upon it was that of pedestrians who could and did
use the streets regardless of the fences.

The evidence also shows that the 20-foot street or alley known
as Hill street, along the east side of the Oliver subdivision, was
vacated by the council of the city of Cincinnati, at the instance
of plaintiff, and that in January, 1913, she presented to council
a petition and ordinance asking for the vacation of the tract in
question under the description of an ‘‘unnamed 25-foot alleyway
between High street and Massasoit avenue, along the south line
of Section 31, Millereek township,’’ which vacation was not
granted—thus showing a recognition at that time of the exist-
ence of the streets and ways shown in the Oliver subdivision.

To bar ‘‘rights under the statute of limitations the possession
must be actual, open, notorious, continuous, exclusive and adverse,
shown by overt acts of unequivocal character which clearly in-
dicate an assertion of ownership to the premises to the exclusion
of the rights of the real owner.”” Ghll v. Fletcher, 74 O. S., 295
(3 Syl.).

‘¢ Adverse possession to give title must have been open, notori-
ous, continuous and adverse for twenty-one years, and where it
appears that land, part of a dedicated and aceepted public street,
while yet unopened and unimproved, was fenced in by an ad-
Jjoining owner for twenty-one years, such fact is only one ele-
ment of evidence necessary to establish his right to possession,
and would not be conclusive to establish such right. The ques-
tion remains under what eircumstances and claim the fence was
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built and maintained.’’ Reynolds v. Newton, 14 C. C., 433, 434;
1 Am. & Eng. Enc. (2d Ed.), 759.

The plaintiff has not shown adverse possession to bring her-
self within the terms of Section 11220 of the General Code; even
conceding all that she claims from the evidence, certainly not
for a period longer than fourteen years. To entitle the plaintiff
to an injunction the burden is upon her to show clearly that she
is the owner of the land claimed. In this we think she had failed.
In our opinion the evidence shows that the city is entitled to
improve this street directly or by means of a permit granted
to any interested property owner, as it may see fit.

The petition of plaintiff will therefore be dismissed and a de-
cree will be entered enjoining her from interfering with the city
in the possession of thig land.

Jones (E. H.), J., concurs; Swing, J., dissents.

Swing, J., dissenting.

I can not agree with the decision of a majority of the court.
I have no contention about the law as announced in the decision,
but the facts of the case, in my judgment, do not fit the law as
laid down. This is not an encroachment on a part of the street,
but for more than fifty years the public has been excluded from
any portion of the street and the plaintiff and her predecessors -
in title have for more than fifty years enjoyed the adverse, con-
tinuous and exclusive possession of the street, and under such
conditions the plaintiff has acquired a good title as against the
public and everybody else.
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RIGHTS UNDER. A PRIVILEGE OF DRILLING FOR OLL.
Circuit Court of Wood County.

ALBERT J. STEELE v. OHI0O OIL COMPANY.
Decided, May 3, 1912.

Allegations of Reprehensible Conduct—Not Ground for Afirmative
Relief, When—Right to Drill for O{1l—Not Affected by Alleged Mem-
bership in an Oil Trust.

An allegation that the defendant is a member of an unlawful conspiracy
in restraint of trade, designed to create and perpetuate a monopoly
in the business of producing, transporting and manufacturing pe-
troleum and its products, is not ground for quieting the title of
plaintiff in certain land on which the defendant claims the right to
drill for oil. .

Geo. H. Phelps and Silas E. Hurin, for plaintiff in error.
J. W. Schaufelberger and F. P. Riegel, contra.

RicHARDS, J.; WILDMAN, J., and KINKADE, J., concur.

Error to the Court of Common Pleas of Wood County.

In the court of common pleas, Albert J. Steele sued for the pur-
pose of restraining the defendant from drilling oil wells upon
a forty-acre tract of land owned by him in this county, and asked
to have his title quieted against any claim made by the defend-
ant. Subsequently he filed a second amended petition in which
he set up additional grounds for an injunetion. The additional
grounds alleged were, in a general way, that the defendant is a
member of and acting in furtherance of an unlawful and fraudu-
lent conspiracy in restraint of trade designed to create and per-
petuate a monopoly in the business of producing, transporting
and manufacturing petroleum and its products in violation of
the statutes of Ohio. The pleading contained other analogous
allegations in further statement of the details of such claim of
unlawful trust and conspiracy, but the pleading does not con-
tain any averment that such alleged combination and conspiracy
had anything to do with the oil lease referred to in plaintift’s
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pleadings or that said lease was entered into in furtherance of
the claimed conspiracy.

Thereafter, upon motion, all of these allegations contained in
this pleading which relate to the claim of unlawful and fraudu-
lent conspiracy were stricken from the pleading by order of the
court of common pleas. At a later date, to-wit, on September
26th, 1911, the journal entry recites that the parties
came with their attorneys and by consent in open court
the plaintiff is permitted to withdraw all pleadings filed by him
in the case subsequent to the original petition. The issues were
tben made up and the case tried upon the original petition and
answer thereto, which averred a right to operate the lands for
oil by reason of certain facts set forth in the answer, and a re-
ply filed by the plaintiff which denied the right claimed by the
defendant company by reason of the claim that such right was
barred by the statute of limitations.

Upon the trial in the court of common pleas the issues were
found for the defendant, the Ohio Oil Company. The plaintiff
thereupon filed a petition in error in this court, in which he as-
signs as his only ground of error:that the court erred in sus-
taining the motion of the defendant to strike from the second
amended petition the matter constituting the plaintiff’s principal
ground of action. No bill of exceptions was taken and the plaint-
iff does not contend any error was committed by the court ex-
cept in the one particular mentioned.

The state of the record is such in this case, that we are unable
to see that the error upon which reliance is placed, arises. The
plaintiff by leave of court voluntarily withdrew his pleading,
which had, as he claims, been emasculated by order of the court,
and the only issue submitted to the trial court, and upon which
this judgment was based, was the issue made by the pleadings
remaining in the case, viz,, the original petition, the amended
answer thereto, and the reply. None of these pleadings con-
tained any of the averments which it is contended were erro-
neously ordered to be stricken out.

Under such cireumstances error can not be predicated upon
the action of the court in striking from the second amended peti-
tion the allegations to which reference has been made. If any
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error was committed in that respect, it was waived by a voluntary
withdrawal of the pleading upon leave of the court. We have,
however, examined the question sought to be made because of
its importance and of the attempt to present it upon the record.
If the question were fairly before us we would be constrained to
hold that the court of common pleas committed no error in order-
ing the matter, which avers that the Ohio Oil Company was a
party to an unlawful conspiracy in restraint of trade, stricken
from the second amended petition.

The question was before this eourt two or three years ago in
Sandusky county in the case of Herbrand Company v. Bellefon-
taine Bridge & Iron Company, an unreported case. In that
case the court of common pleas had held that the fact, if it was
a fact, that the Bellefontaine Bridge & Iron Co. was a member
of an unlawful trust and combination called ‘‘the bridge trust,’’
did not prevent its recovering upon a contract for furnishing the
Herbrand Co. certain building material for a. structure being
crected by the latter company in the city of Fremont. We see
no reason to differ with the holding thus made. If a plaintiff
were a member of a gang of highwaymen, such plaintiff would
not thereby be deprived from recovering in a court of law upon
a contract having no relation to his criminal membership in
such organization. In analogy to this principle we cite Kinner
v.L. 8.« M. 8. Ry. Co,69 0. S, 339, in which the familiar rule
is announced that the plaintiff when he comes into a court of
equity must come with clean hands, requires only that the
plaintiff must not be guilty of reprehensible conduect with re-
spect to the subject-matter of his suit. This principle is one
of universal application and has been followed in Hol-
land Stock Remedy Co. v. Indepcndent Chemical Co., 17 Ohio
Dee., 207, and in many other cases.

It is insisted in argument that the plaintiff is not entitled to
prosecute error for the reason that no exception was lodged to
the.final judgment of the trial court, hut no exception need be
taken to a final judgment. See (‘~'om~mercial Bank v. Bucking-
hem.12.0. 8., 402.

"_ Finding no. prejudicial error the ]udgn*ent of the court of
common pleas will- be affirtned. : o :
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AS TO OWNERSHIP OF PROCEEDS OF A POLICY OF
LIFE INSURANCE.

Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

HENRY SCHLACHTER, ADMINISTRATOR, ETC., OF MARY TEEPEN, DE-
CEASED, V. AL. H. TEEPEN.*

Decided, June, 1915.

Wills—Determination as to Ownership of the Proceeds of a Policy of
Life Insurance of Husband—Begueathed by Wife lo Husband.

A bequest by a wife of all her property both real and personal to her
ﬁusband, includes a policy of insurance on the life of her husband
(who was still living), made payable to her, her executors, ad-
ministrators and assigns.

Clore & Clayton, for plaintiff in error.
Charles M. Leslie, contra.

Jongs (Oliver B.), J.; Jones (E. H.), J., and GorMaAN, J.,
concur. '

The insurance policy, the proceeds of which is in controversy
here, was written on the life of Herman Teepen, and made pay-
able to Mary Teepen, his wife, ‘‘her executors, administrators
or assigns.”’ Mary Teepen died in 1898, leaving a last will in
which the material clause was as follows:

‘‘Second: Subject to the payment of my debts, should there
be any, I give, devise and bequeath all my property, both real
and personal of which I may die seized, to my husband, Herman
Teepen, to him and his heirs forever.”’

Herman Teepen was appointed executor, and duly elected
to take under this will. He settled the estate and filed his final
account. Nothing was done by him in this administration or
account in regard to this insurance policy. After the death of
Herman Teepen in 1911, the plaintiff in error was appointed
administrator de bonis non with the will annexed of Mary Tee-

*Afirming, Teepen -v. Sohlachter, 18 N.P.(N.B.),—.
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pen, and collected and now holds the proceeds of such insurance.
Defendant in error was appointed administrator of Herman
Teepen and filed a claim on behalf of his estate with said admin-
istrator de bonis non of Mary Teépen by virtue of the clause in
her will above quoted, and demanded payment to him of the pro-
ceeds of said insurance, which being refused this action was
brought in the court below.

A demurrer to the petition was overruled. An answer was
then filed which alleged that Herman Teepen procured said in-
surance with the intention of himself and of his wife to make
provision for his wife and children, and to make its proceeds
her separate estate if she survived him, and if not, such proceeds
would go to and hecome the property of their children to be ex-
clusively for their benefit; that such insurance was taken out

"in contemplation of Section 9398, General Code, for the purpose
of creating a fund and separate estate for said wife and chil-
dren independent of said Herman Teepen and his creditors, and
that it was not the intention of Mary Teepen by her will to in-
vest any estate or interest in the proceeds of said insurance in
her husband because it could not be collected until after her
death. A demurrer to this answer was sustained.

The question to be determined is whether Mary Teepen had
such a vested interest in the insurance policy that it would pass
under the terms of her will to her husband, or whether by virtue
of Section 9398, General Code, it was limited to her children.

There is nv question but that the words of Mary Teepen’s will
are sufficiently broad to include every interest in property vested
in her at the time of her decease. As the beneficiary named in
the policy she obtained a vested interest in it the moment it was
issued, and it continued to be her property up to the time of her
decease. Bliss on Life Insurance (2d Ed.), Section 318; Man-
hattan Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 44 O. S., 156, 163; U. 8. Life Ins.
Co. v. Buzon, 62 O. S., 385, 390; Washington Ceniral Bk. v.
Home, 128 U. 8., 195; Marsh v. Legion of Honor, 149 Mass., 512,
515.

After her death, as it was written to her and ‘‘ her executors,
administrators or assigns,”’ her executor became the owner for
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the purpose of administration under the terms of her will. The
fact that it had not then matured and that under the will it
passed to her husband who was himself the insured, can make
no difference. It would become his property for the benefit of
his estate. Nor was it necessary for him as executor of her es-
tate to make a formal assignment of the policy to himself in the
settlement cf her estate, although that might have propertly
been done.

It is true that under the terms of Sections 9398 and 9399,
General Code, this policy might have been made payable to and
written for the benefit of the wife and children, instead of, as
it was, to her and her executors, administrators or assigns. In
that event, it would have gone to the children after her death.
Or, she might have bequeathed it by her will to her children in-
stead of to her husband. Either plan would have accomplished
the intention for which plaintiff in error contends. But the
policy was not solely to her, but to her ‘‘and her executors,’’ ete.,
and giving the broadest construction possible to the sections of
the statute relied upon, they would not prevent her disposition
of it by her will.

The history of the legislation now embodied in these sections
shows that it was enacted before the married woman’s enabling
act, for the purpose of permitting insurance for the separate es-
tate of a married woman for her benefit and that of her children,
free from the debts of her husband.

It is not necessary to say more as the questions involved have
been fully considered in the opinion of the court below.

The judgment is affirmed.
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INTEREST OF TRIAL JUDGE IN THE DECREE ENTERED.
Court of Appeals for Ashland County.

THE ASHLAND BANK & SAvINGS COMPANY AND JACOB FRIEDLINE
v. JosePH W. HOUSEMAN. .

Decided, 19165.

Disqualification of Judge—Not BTrought About by His Interest in the
Judgment to be Entered, When—Judgment and Decree of Fore-
closure where Entered by Default—Not Open to Collateral Attack
by Interest of the Judge in the Issue—Causes for which a Judge
may be Disqualified.

1. A default judgment taken on promissory notes and for the fore-
closure of the mortgage securing the same, entered by a judge who
is interested in the cause or matter pending as stockholder in
plaintiff company, if the proceedings are all regular, is not void
and can not be collaterally attacked.

2. The causes provided in the statute are the only ones disqualifying
a judge in the trial of a cause or matter pending in his court. The
clause “or is otherwise disqualified to sit in such cause or matter”
brings into the statute all the common law causes for which a
judge may be disqualified, in addition to those enumerated in the
statute, and the statutory remedy of filing an affidavit of prejudice
applies to all of them.

Error to the Court of Common Pleas of Ashland County.

Mykrantz & Patterson and Semple «& Sherick, for plaintiff
in error.

McBride & Wolfe and C. P. Winbigler, contra.

SPENCE, J.

The defendant in error, Joseph W. Houseman, began this ac-
tion in the Court of Common Pleas of Ashland County against
the plaintiffs in error, the Ashland Bank & Savings Company
and Jaeob Friedline, and for his cause of action averring that
on July 25, 1914, the Ashland Bank & Savings Company took
a judgment against him on a cognovit note for the amount of
one thousand dollars and interest, and caused the sheriff to levy
upon and sell certain personal property for the payment of said
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judgment ; that on the 25th day of July, 1914, the Ashland Bank
& Savings Company began an action against him in the Court
of Common Pleas of Ashland County, Ohio, asking for a judg-
ment on certain notes and a decree of foreclosure of the mort-
gage securing the same; that on the 25th day of August, 1914, a
judgment for $2,227.87 was rendered on said notes against the
plaintiff and a decree of foreclosure was given on said mortgage.
Then the petition recites the sale of the mortgaged property.

Plaintiff- further avers that on the 25th day of July, 1914, the
Ashland Bank & Savings Company filed its petition in the Court
of Common Pleas of Ashland County, Ohio, against this plaint-
iff asking for judgment on certain notes and a decree of fore-
closure of the mortgage securing the same; that on the 25th day
of August, 1914, a judgment for $5,500 was rendered on said
notes in favor of the Ashland Bank & Savings Company and
against the plaintiff and a decree of foreclosure was given of
the mortgage securing said notes, and the petition recites the
sale of the mortgaged property.

Then follows this averment:

‘“‘Plaintiff further says that each and all of said judgments,
orders and decrees were taken before one William T. Devor who
was the common pleas judge holding court in Ashland county,
Chio, at each of the several times at which said decrees were
rendered and given, and that the said William T. Devor, judge
as aforesaid at the time of rendering each and all of said judg-
ments decrees and orders, was wholly and completely disquali-
fied to render said judgments for the reason that said Devor was
at and prior to and ever since has been a stockholder of the Ash-
land Bank & Savings Company and was financially interested
in the result of said judgment and as such judge willfully and
without any authority to do so and being wholly disqualified by
law, rendered said judgments in each and every instance as
aforesaid.”’

Plaintiff prays that each and all of said judgments may be
vacated, set aside and held for naught, and that the property
sold be restored to him: that an accounting may be made to him
for the use of -the property and he asks damages in the sum of
$£12,000,
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The Ashland Bank & Savings Company by answer admits
Lringing the actions as alleged in the petition and the taking
of the various judgments, orders and decrees of foreclosure of
mortgages as alleged in the petition and the sale of the mort-
gaged property, and that William T. Devor was the owner of ten
shares of stock of the value of one hundred dollars each in the
Ashland Bank & Savings Company at and before the time that
each of said judgments, orders and decrees of foreclosure were
ertered, and by way of answer says first, the personal property
sold for the payment of the judgment in the first action set up
in the petition was sold by agreement between Joseph W. Ilouse-
man, the Ashland Bank & Trust Company and the sheriff who
held the execution, and that the proceeds of the sale were applied
to the payment of the judgment.

As a third and fourth defense the Ashland Bank & Savings
Company sets up the judgment and orders of foreclosure in the
two actions begun on July 25th, 1914, and says that the pro-
ceedings in these cases were all regular and legal and that they
are a bar to the plaintiff’s claim.

" The answer further avers that personal service of a summons
in each of said cases was made on Joseph W. Houseman, and that
he failed to file answers or demurrers within the time provided
by law and each of said judgments was entered by default. -The
petition avers that Jacob Friedline claims some interest in the
property located in Ashland. The court sustained a demurrer to
the third and fourth defenses and the plaintiff filed a reply to
the second defense.

This case was tried on the petition and the second defense of
the answer and the reply to a judge of the Court of Common
Pleas of Ashland County, Ohio, who found in favor of the de-
fendant on the first action set forth in the petition, and in favor
of this plaintiff on the second and third actions set forth in the
petition and directed that the judgments, orders and decrees set
forth in said actions be and the same are set aside, vacated and
held for naught for the reason that at the time of the rendition
of the same by one William T. Devor, then judge of the Court
of Common Pleas of Ashland County, Ohio, the said William T.
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Devor was a stockholder in the said the Ashland Bank & Sav-
ings Company.

Counsel for all parties to this action agree that the only ques-
tion here presented for the consideration and determination of
this court is whether the judgments, orders and decrees in said
actions set forth in the petition are void hecause William T. De-
vor, a judge of the Court of Common Pleas in and for Ashland
County, Ohio, was a stockholder in the Ashland Bank & Savings
Company at the time he entered said default judgments, orders
and decrees.

The question is made in this ease by the court sustaining de-
murrers to the third and fourth grounds of the answer and upon
" the trial and judgment or finding of the court. While the ques-
tion is here presented in different forms, first upon the court
sustaining the demurrer and second upon the trial and judgment
or finding of the court, it all goes to the one question: were the
judgments, orders and decrees of the court void because of the
interest of Judge Devor in the Ashland Bank & Savings Com-
pany ! '

Counsel for plaintiffs in error contend that this action is a
collateral attack upon the judgments set forth in the petition,
that at most they could only be voidable, and if only voidable
they can not be collaterally attacked, which is clearly the law.
Counsel for defendant in error contend that the judgments are
absolutely void and can be collaterally attacked, which conten-
tion is true if the judgments are void and not merely voidable.

Counsel for Houseman carnestly contend that the question of
the right of an interested judge to enter judgment in a cause in
which he is interested, has been determined by the Supreme
Court in the case of Gregory v. Cleveland, Columbus & Cincin-
nats Railway Company, 4 Ohio St., 675. In that case two of the
judges of the court of common pleas were stockholders in a
railroad company which was seeking to appropriate property
for a right-of-way. These interested judges appointed apprais-
ers to fix and determine the value of the land to be appropriated
and to fix and determine the benefits from the road to the land
owner; the court appointing the appraisers received their re-
port to which report Gregory filed a motion to set it aside for
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several reasons, one of which was that two of the judges of the
court of common pleas which appointed the appraisers or com-
missioners were stockholders in the railroad company. The
court refused to set it aside but certified it to another county for
hearing by a judge of that county, where the report was approved
and confirmed by the common pleas court, from which finding
Gregory prosecuted error to the distriet court, which court re-
versed the finding of the common pleas court, and from the de-
cision of the, district court the railroad company prosecuted
error to the Supreme Court, which court affirmed the judgment
of the district court.
In his opinion in the Gregory case, Kennon, Judge, says:

‘‘The statute confers on the court, and upon the court only, the
power of selecting the men who shall decide the facts in the case,
who determine how much benefit the road will be to the land-
holder, and how much damages he will sustain by the appropria-
tion. There are few subjects upon which men are more likely to
differ in opinion, and few cases in which an interested judge, in
the mere selection of the commissioners, could (if he chose to do
s0) more effectually injure the landholder and that, too, without
redress, if his judgment could not be reversed without showing
actual error in the proceedings.’’

In his conclusion Judge Kennon says:

‘“We think, for the administration of justice, the safe way is,
in all cases, for interested judges to decline acting in such cases,
and where it appears on the record that they were interested
and acted on questions of fact, especially when they were to se-
lect the jury who try the facts, they should refuse to sit, and
make known their interest at the earliest stage of the proceed-
ings, that the case may, under the statute, be transferred to an
adjoining county.”’

It is not stated either in the syllabus or the opinion that the
judgment is void, but it was simply reversed for error. It will
be seen that the facts in the Gregory case are entirely different
from the facts in the case at bar, where Judge Devor only made
a formal entry in a case where the facts were determined by
statute and he had no diseretion in the case. Section 11281, Gen-
eral Code, provides:
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‘““When the action is for the recovery of money only there
must be endorsed on the writ the amount stated in the precipe,
for which, with interest, judgment will be taken if the defendant
fails to answer. If the defendant fails to appear, judgment shall
not be rendered for a larger amount and costs.’’

Section 11383, General Code, provides for entering a default
judgment as follows:

‘‘In an action upon an account, or written instrument for the
payment of money only, or in foreclosure, judgment may he
entered at any time during the term after the defendant is in
default for answer, unless for good cause shown the court gives
further time to answer.”’

There is no contention that the proceedings in the cases set
forth in the petition were not in every respect regular and legal
and that the defendant was in default for answers at the time the
judgments, orders and decrees were entered. The code gave the
court authority to enter judgments, orders and decrees, and also
fixed the amount for which the default judgments should be
entered. All that the judge could do was to make the formal
entry as directed by statute. The only discretion given to the
court by the statute is on good cause shown to give further time
to answer, which was not asked for in those cases. In Van
Ingen v. Berger, 82 Ohio St., 255, Spear J., at page 260, com-
menting on now Section 11283 of the code, says:

““Tt would seem not to require argument to show that the stat-
ute and the rights of parties under it can not be abridged by a
rule of court.”’

In the Gregory case Judge Kennon quoted the old English
maxim ‘“No one ought to be a judge in his own case.”” And also
refers to the case of Pearson v. Atwood, in 13 Mass., 324, and
says:

““The plaintiff brought an action of trespass against the de-
defendant, for arresting the plaintiff, on a warrant held by the
defendant as constable, that by the laws of Massachusetts, a

moity of the fine went to the town in which the justice resided
and that therefore he was interested.”’

The court did not find it necessary in the case to hold the act
of the justice wholly void. This case is an authority against
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the contention of counsel for defendant in error that the judg-
ments are wholly void.

In the case of Probasco v. Kasne, Auditor, 50 Ohio St., 378,
Burket, Judge, at page 392, says:

‘“A probate judge acts judicially in the appointment of guard-
ians and administrators and receives a fee for each appointment,
and yet such fee does not disqualify him from acting in the prem-
ises. A justice of the peace acts judicially and is paid therefor
by fees collected from litigants before him, and while his mind
may he biased in particular cases, it can not be claimed that he
is thereby disqualified from discharging his judicial duties. A
Judge who is a large tax-payer in his county or city is not there-
by disqualified from sitting in judgment in cases against the
county and eity.”’

This eonclusion is the reverse of that reached by the court
in the Massachusetts case above referred to.

In Cooley’s Constitutional Limitations, Fifth Ed., page 511,
the author says:

‘‘Mere formal acts necessary to enable the case to be brought
before a proper tribunal for adjudication an interested judge
may do.”’

There are many cases holding that it is not error for an inter-

ested judge to make a formal entry in a case. In County of
Floyd v. Cheny, 57 Towa, 160 (10 N. W., 324), syllabus:

‘“A decree of foreclosure entered on default and without mu-
tual consent by a judge who was an attorney for one of the
parties in the transaction, is not for that reason void.”’

Rothreck, J., at page 325 says:

““By Section 2685 of the revision of 1860 which was in force
when the plaintiff’s foreclosure was had, a judge was disquali-
fied from acting as such in any case where he had been an at-
torney for either party in the action, unless by mutual consent
of the parties. It does not appear that Collins, the party defend-
ant, to the foreclosure, appeared in the action. If he did not but
was in default, his default was an admission of the cause of ac-
tion and that something was due on the debt secured by the
mortgage. Under these circumstances the amount of the judg-
ment is usually ascertained by the clerk, and the decree is en-
tered as a matter of form. We do not think that the decree was
void, presuming as we may that it was entered by default.”’
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The amount for which judgment shall be entered in an action
for money only in this state is fixed by the eode and the judg-
ment or decree is entered as a matter of form.

The correct conclusion in this case will not be advanced by a
consideration of the common law rules or by a review of the de-
cisions in other states, as the matter is controlled in this state
by statute and we must look to the statutes for its proper solu-
tion.

Section 1687, General Code, as amended May 8, 1913, was ih
forece when the original actions were begun, and provides as
follows:

‘““When a judge of the common pleas court or of the superior
court of Cincinnati is interested in a cause or matter pending
before the court in a county of his district, or is related to, or
has a bias or prejudice, either for or against, a party to such
matter or cause, or to his counsel, or is otherwise disqualified to
sit in such cause or matter, on the filing of an affidavit of any
party to such cause or matter, or of the counsel of any party, set-
ting forth the fact of such interest, bias, prejudice or disquali-
fication, the clerk of the court shall enter the fact of the filing of
such affidavit on the trial docket in such case and forthwith
notify the chief justice of the Supreme Court, who shall desig-
nate and assign some other judge to take his place. Thereupon
the juc,lge so assigned shall proceed and try such matter or
cause.’

The statute after stating a number of cases for which a judgc;
may be disqualified, contains this clause:

“‘Or is otherwise disqualified to sit in such cause or matter.’’

This clause necessarily brings into the statute all the common
law causes for which a judge may be disqualified, in addition to
those enumerated in the statute and applies the statutory
remedy to all of them; that is, by filing an affidavit containing
one or more of the causes for disqualification of a judge, under
the statute it is not the existence of any of these causes, but the
filing of the affidavit which disqualifies the judge. If the re-
lief provided by statute is not sufficiently broad to cover all
cases that may arise, the remedy is with the Legislature and not
with the courts.
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In Patterson v. Police Court, 123 Cal., 453 (56 Pac., 105), the
court say :

‘“The causes enumerated by Code Civil Proc., See. 170, as
amended in 1897, are the only ones disqualifying a judge.’’

In State v. Moore, 121 Mo., 514 (26 S. W., 345), it is said :

‘‘“The only way by which a judge may be disqualified from sit-
ting in the trial of a cause i8 by the reason of the existence of
some one or more of the causes mentioned by Section 4174, Re-
vised Statutes 1889, and by a compliance with the provisions.”’

In Probasco v. Raine, Auditor, 50 Ohio St., 378, Burket,
Judge, at page 392 says:

‘“ Almost every officer in this state is more or less directly or
indirectly interested in the result of the duties by him per-
formed, whether ministerial or judicial, but such interest does
not disqualify him from performing his official duties, unless
the Legislature has by statute so provided.”’

It is argued by counsel for defendant in error that Houseman
did not know of the existence of the cause at the time the judg-
ments and decrees were entered. We have failed to find any
such an allegation in the petition, or any such evidence in the
record, as he was not called as a witness. Judge Devor was one
of the regular judges in that judieial distriet, holding court in
Ashland county, and from anything that appears in the record
Houseman knew at and before the judgments and decrees were
entered that Judge Devor was a stockholder in the Ashland
Bank & Savings Company.

It is our conclusion that all the judgments, orders and decrees
in the cases set forth in the petition are not void, and can not be
collaterally attacked, as in this proceeding; that the remedy pro-
vided by statute in case of a judge, who is interested in a cause
or matter pending before the court in one of the counties of his
distriet, is exclusive and must be followed or it is waived by the
parties.

The judgment of the court of common pleas will be reversed
and final judgment rendered for plaintiff in error.

SHIEEDS, J., and PowELL, J., concur.
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LIBEL OF A JUDGE TOUCHING PROCEEDINGS WHICH HAVE
BEEN TERMINATED.

Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

JOHN M. DUGaN v. STATE OF OHIO ET AL.
Decided, November 22, 1915.

Contempt—Punishment for, Can Not be Based on Defamatory Com-
ments Regarding the Court, When Libel Does Not Constitute Con-
tempt.

A libelous attack upon a judge can not be made the basis of a charge
of contempt, unless it has a tendency to impede or hinder the
court in the administration of justice by having reference to the
action or conduct of the judge in a pending case or proceeding.

Charles L. Swain and Pogue, Hoffheimer & Pogue, for plaint- ’
iff in error. )
Hosea & Knight, contra.

By tHE Courr (Edward H. Jones, Frank M. Gorman and
Oliver B. Jones, JJ.).

This is a proceeding in error to the judgment of the Superier
Court of Cincinnati imposing a sentence of fine and imprison-
ment upon the plaintiff in error, John M. Dugan, under a charge
of contempt.

The facts briefly stated are as follows:

On October 31, 1914, the Juvenile Protective Association, by
its president, Frank H. Nelson, brought an action for injunction
and damages in the Superior Court of Cincinnati against Mil-
lard F. Roebling, who at that time was a candidate for the office
of judge of the court of domestic relations. The Juvenile Pro-
tective Association, whose object is indicated by its name and
whose purposes were closely allied with the duties and functions
of the court of domestic relations, had endorsed for judge of that
court the opponent of Mr. Roebling, and had issued a circular
for publie distribution which while not mentioning the name of
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the candidate so endorsed by said association, called upon the
electors to carefully consider the qualifications and fitness of the
respective candidates and cast their ballots for the man best
qualified for the position. A very short time after the appear-
ance of said circular or pamphlet, another pamphlet was circu-
lated purporting to be issued by the Juvenile Protective Associa-
tion, the greater part of which adopted the language of the
original circular. This latter circular concluded with the en-
dorsement of Millard F. Roebling for the position of judge of the
court of domestic relations.

The petition of the Juvenile Protective Association in the case
against Roebling above referred to set forth the above facts and
charged that said circular representing the Juvenile Protective
Association as endorsing Mr. Roebling for judge was a misrepre-
sentation and a fraud wholly unauthorized by said association
and intended to place said association in a false and unenviable
attitude, ete. That case was partially heard before one of the

judges of the superior court on the day before the election, when
it was shown that the spurious or bogus circular was printed at
the printing establishment conducted by Mr. Henry S. Rosen-
thal. And it therefore became important in the conduct of the
case and in order to render a correct judgment therein to ascer-
tain who authorized the printing and distribution of said bogus
circular. To this end during the progress of the case Mr. Henry
Rosenthal was called as a witness.

It is only necessary, in order to understand the nature of the
case under consideration, to further state that on account of al-
leged evasive and false answers given by Mr. Rosenthal at said
time, and after a lengthy and fruitless examination, the judge
presiding found that the witness Rosenthal was concealing the
truth and in effect refusing to testify; that his conduct in the
presence of the court was an obstruction to the administration of
justice and, under the authority of Section 12136, General Code,
adjudged the witness Rosenthal guilty of contempt of court.

This took place on the 6th day of November, 1914. On the
same day Rosenthal instituted a suit in habeas corpus in the

Jourt of Common Pleas of Hamilton County, which was heard
and finally determined on the 25th day of November, 1914.
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We deem it necessary to give this short history of the Rosen-
thal matter in order that the charge against Dugan and the
ground of this decision may be fully understood, and we now
come to the part that Dugan took in the matter which led to the
formal charges of contempt filed against him by a committee of
the bar appointed for that purpose.

It appears that late in December, Dugan as correspondent for
a periodical known as the Typographical Journal, which is said
to be the official paper of the International Typographical Union
of North Ainerica, wrote an article to that journal which was
printed in its January, 1915 number. This article or contribu-
tion of Dugan occupied several columns of the journal and con-
sisted of items of news supposed to be of interest to printers.
In one of these items Mr. Dugan entered into a lengthy and
somewhat animated defense of Mr. Rosenthal, with reference par-
ticularly to the trouble which arose in the Printers’ Union No. 3
over the taking away from Rosenthal and his establishment of
the union label for the alleged offense of printing the spurious
circular above referred to and the use of the label thereon with-
out the number of said label.

It will be borne in mind that at the time of the writing of the
article, and a long time before its publication, the contempt pro-
ceedings against Rosenthal had ended, and that the habeas
corpus proceedings growing out of the adjudication of that case
had terminated. It was language used by Dugan at this
time which was made the basis of the charge of contempt against
him. On page 68 of the Tynographical Journal Dugan wrote:

‘‘During the discussion of the case at the last meeting of No.

3 it was plainly shown that a member of No. 3, an officer of the

allied council, had visited the homes of members working in the

Rosenthal office trying to secure evidence from these members

to assist in convicting the president of the Rosenthal plant in an

.action that was then on in ITamilton eounty courts. When the
proprietor of this shop was on trial this member of No. 3 and an

officer of the allied council sat on the bench with the judge

prompting him and coaching him as to how to proceed against

Mr. Rosenthal.”’

To the charges of contempt Mr. Dugan filed an answer con-
taining three separate defenses:
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The first defense was in effect a denial that said article or any
part or portion thereof insulted, villified or intimidated the
Jjudge, or had a tendency so to do; he denies that it inflamed or
had a tendency to inflame the prejudices of the people, ete.

The second defense was briefly stated in the answer and we
quote it in full:

“‘This defendant adopts and makes part hereof all and singu-
lar the allegations stated in the first defense, and says that the
proceedings referred to in said publication were, at the time
the same was written and published in said journal, wholly con-
cluded and terminated, and that neither said article, nor any-
thing therein contained obstructed or tended to obstruct in any
n.anner the administration of justice in the proceeding in which
Ilenry Rosenthal was tried for contempt.’’

And in the third defense Dugan states that his only object
in writing and publishing said article was to inform the printing
craft of the trial of Ilenry Rosenthal and the charges made
against him and the subsequent removing and taking away the
union label from the firm of Rosenthal & Company. He fur-
ther states that in writing and publishing said article he did the
same in good faith without any intention, purpose, thought, de-
sign or desire to embarrass or obstruect the process of the court
in the proceedings against ITenry Rosenthal or in the suit of
the Juvenile Protective Association v. Roebling, and now dis-
claims any intention or thought of disrespect or imputing cor-
rupt or improper motives to said judge or court or any of its
officers, or questioning its integrity or interrupting, embarrass-
ing or in any manner obstructing the administration of justice
therein. .

"A review of the evidence adduced in the court below shows
that the defendant utterly failed to prove his first and third
defenses. Tt was shown by the evidence in the case that the por-
tion of the article quoted above, in wheih it is stated that some-
one sat by the judge during the trial and coached him, was ab-
solutely unfounded, and that there was no justification whatever
for the publication in anything that Mr. Dugan had seen or
heard. He was not present in court while Rosenthal was on the
witness stand or when he was adjudged in contempt, or at any
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other time during the progress of the case. The only founda-
tion which he claimed for the article was that at a meeting of
No. 3 he had heard someone say that a Mr. Bell had prompted
the judge during the Rosenthal hearing. He could not say who
it was who made the statement in his hearing and did not show
that he had made any effort to ascertain the identity of the per-
son making the statement before writing the false and scurrilous
attack upon the judge.

It seems a travesty, almost, upon judicial procedure for him
to use this language in his first defense:

‘‘He denies that it degraded or had a tendency to degrade
said court in the estimation of the community; he denies that it
inflamed or had a tendency to inflame the prejudices of the peo-
pie against said court.”’

The truth or falsity of this must be determined by the court
from the language used. We do not see how reasonable minds
could differ as to the obvious purpose and effect of this lan-
guage. That it was false, no one now denies. We believe that
it was not only false, but was deliberately and wilfully false,
without any excuse or justification whatever. The attack was
libelous; it was vile and venomous.

The third defense is equally unsupported by the evidence. It
does not show that. Mr. Dugan -made this statement about the
judge in good faith ‘‘without any intention or thought or dis-
respect or imputing corrupt or improper motives to said judge
or court or any of its officers, of questioning its integrity or in-
terrupting, embarrassing or in any manner obstructing the
administration of justice therein.”’ ‘

But we think the second defense of the answer is a good de-
fense, and that it is supported by the evidence in the case, which
shows that at the time the article was written and at the time
it was published the proceedings for contempt against Mr.
Rosenthal—which was obviously the case referred to by Mr.
Dugan in his article—was fully terminated.

It seems to be the well settled law in most, if not all, of the
states of this Union that however libelous a written attack upon
a judge may be, it can not be successfully made the basis of a
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contempt charge unless it is with reference to the conduct of
the judge in a pending case or proceeding and thus has a tend-
ency to impede or hinder the court in the administration of
Jjustice.

Without further comment we will cite a few authorities in
support of this well recognized rule of law:

In 6 R. C. L., p. 512, the general principle is thus stated:

‘“Under our laws defamatory comments on the past conduct
of the judge or relating to his fairness or honesty, may be libel-
ous, but do not constitute contempt, even though they may well
embarrass the court to some extent in pending litigation.”’

In Post v. State, 14 C. C., 112, the last paragraph of the syl-
labus reads as follows:

‘“‘Newspaper comments, however libelous, having relation to
proceedings which are past and ended, are not in contempt of
court, or of the authority of the court to which reference is
made.”’

On page 121, in the opinion of this case, the court referring
to the opinion of the Supreme Court of Ohio in the case of
Myers v. Ohio, 46 O. S., 473, say :

‘“Tt is apparent to us that this language of the court was in-
tended to, and the ecourt does hold that the libels upon the court
which do not relate to cases pending, are not a contempt, and
concur with the adjudications in those states which so hold.’’

In Rosewater v. State, 47 Neb., 630, the court says:

‘“To constitute any publication contemptuous it must reflect
upon the conduct of the court in reference to a cause or pro-
ceeding then pending in court and undetermined and be of a
character tending to influence its decision or obstruct, inter-
rupt or embarrass the due administration of justice.”’

Clark, J., in the concurring opinion in the case of State v.
('or and Burba, 11 N.P.(N.S.), 265, tersely expresses the same
principle thus:

‘““The authority, this extraordinary power residing in the
court being founded on necessity, it must find its limit when the
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necessity ceases, and this necessity as has been set forth extends
only to the preservation of its freedom of action in the business
it has in hand.”’

We again quote from the opinion by Hale, J., in the case of
Post v. State of Ohio, supra, from the concluding paragraph on
page 123:

““The tendency of the article was not to embarrass the court
in the disposition of the case then pending before the court.
* * * In both the general discussion and in the specific in-
stance referred to, the reference was to a past transaction, to
matters done and ended. It will not be claimed that the publi-
cation of this article had, or could have had, the slightest in-
tluence on the judge named therein, in the disposition of a case
then pending, or in any way embarrass him in the disposition
of any case thereafter to be tried. It did not, therefore, within
the meaning of the statute, in the judgment of this court, ob-
struct the administration of justice. 1t was an unjust eriticism
of a faithful and upright judge, but not a contempt of court.’’

Every word of this quotation is peciliarly applicable to this
case. The false and unjust eriticism by Mr. Dugan had no ref-
crence, as we view the evidence, to any case pending hefore the
judge who was the object of Dugan’s mean attack. Although
libelous in the extreme, it was not contempt.

The judgment will therefore be reversed.
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CHANGE OF BENEFICIARIES BY A POLICY HOLDER OF
UNSOUND MIND.

Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

Laura L. JorDAN v. THE MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE
COMPANY ET AL.

Decided, November 26, 1906.
Insanity—Evidence of Egomania and Megalomania.

An insane degenerate with paranoidal tendencies and delusions which
take the form of egomania and megalomania, may continue in the
pursuit of his daily business and exercise such self-restraint that
those associated with him will not be aware of his condition, so
that, where two alienists after an exhaustive examination un-
qualifiedly declare a person to have been suffering with that form of
insanity, their testimony will be of more weight than that of

numerous associates who came in contract with him in a business
way.

ITENRY, J. (orally); WiNcH, J., and MarvIN, J., concur.

This is an appeal by the plaintiff. The action as originally
begun was an action to recover the amount of an insurance
policy issued by the Mutual Life Insurance Company; the de-
fendant, to Frank Jordan, plaintiff being the widow of said
Frank Jordan. And a part of the relief asked for by the prayer
of the petition is, that a certain change of the beneficiaries that
had been sought to be made by Frank Jordan in his lifetime,
with the concurrence of the insurance company, should be set
aside as null and void for one or more of three reasons.

First, that the plaintiff had paid some of the premiums upon
the policy, upon the faith of an agreement that the policy should
be taken out in her favor.

Second, that Frank Jordan, the insured, was at the time the
change of beneficiaries was made, of unsound mind, and that
the person who was made beneficiary under the change, namely,
his sister, Maude A. Wood, fraudulently induced him to make
such change not, however, by actual fraud, but by construction
of law,
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Third, that the policy’s terms forbid an assignment without
the consent of the beneficiary named therein.

As regards the first and third of these reasons, we may
say without discussing them that we do not found our judgment
upon them. There is no evidence tending to show that the state
of facts claimed with reference to either of these grounds exists,
and our construction of the policy and the provisions therein con-
tained with reference to the change of beneficiary is not the con-
struction which the plaintiff here seeks us to have put upon it.

‘With regard, however, to the second ground, namely, that
Frank Jordan, the insured, was of unsound mind at the time the
alleged change of beneficiary was made, and that, therefore, he
was incapable of making a valid change, we have submitted to
us the testimony of a great number of witnesses, pro and con.

Among the plaintiff’s witnesses are two physicians of this city,
experts, Dr. Aldrich and Dr. Upson, both of whom, upon an ex-
haustive examination by hypothetical questions and with respect
to the results of an examination which they made of documen-
tary matter of great variety, which was submitted to them, and
the handwriting of Frank Jordan, testified unqualifiedly that he
was of unsound mind; that he was an insane degenerate with
paranoidal tendencies and delusions which took the form of
egomania and megalomania and delusions of persecution im-
agined to have been suffered by him in the domestic affairs and
as shown by other evidence resulting in an insane jealousy of
his wife and extreme ill-treatment of her on several occasions in
consequence of the delusions referred to. Their examination
was exhaustive and their testimony in that behalf was, as I
say, unqualified. If we say he was of sound mind, we must
do 8o in the face of the positive testimony of these physicians.
Moreover, a physician, one of the defendant’s experts, Dr.
Straight, as a witness, undertook to testify from his acquaint-
ance with Mr. Jordan in his lifetime, that, although he was a
man of some peculiarities of character and conduect, yet he was
of perfectly sound mind. On cross-examination, he said that
if Frank Jordan wrote the writings that were submitted to
him upon the stand, he should be of the opinion the Jordan
was insane,
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A large number of business men of this community were
examined as witnesses for the defendant, having been business
associates of Mr. Jordon, who, by the way, was an insurance
agent. He had a wide circle of acquaintances, was a member
of the Chamber of Commerce and of a committee which was
appointed a few years ago to get new members, and his work
on that committee was very successful. A number of business
acquaintances in this city, of high standing, who saw him from
time to time in connection with his work on the Chamber of
Commerce committee, or his professional duties and otherwise,
testified on behalf of the defendant that in their judgment he
was of sound mind. Several of them were quite emphatic that
he was of sound mind, saying that the suspicion never entered
their minds that he was insane.

Here there was a sharp conflict.

Referring again to the testimony of plaintiff’s experts. Their
testimony was to the effect that a person suffering from this
form of insanity may continue in the discharge of his business
and the duties thereof for a long period of time without his in-
sanity necessarily interfering with his success therein. And it
is possible for a man suffering from this form of mental trouble
to continue for a period of time without his mental trouble be-
ing particularly noticeable, or even noticeable at all, to those who
.meet him from day to day while in the discharge of his duties.
And it is true to a degree of such insane persons, as it is indeed
of all persoms, that they are capable of exercising some self-
restraint in respect to making an exhibition or expression of
their peculiar delusions, and, henee, it is not at all surprising,
according to the testimony of these expert physicians, that the
business associates of a man suffering under the form of insanity
that the experts say Frank Jordan suffered from, should fail
to observe that he was thus afflicted.

Without entering into a resume of the great variety of in-
stances that were adduced in the testimony on the trial, which,
for length, in this court was unprecedented. it is sufficient to say
that the documentary matter which was presented to the experts
-and presented in evidence to us, we have examined carefully. It
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consists, in the main, of books owned by Frank Jordan which
he had marked by drawing lines around passages that struck.
him, on the margins of the pages, and by writings upon the fly-
leaves.

The markings of the books was of itself very erratic, to say
the least. He seemed to have a passion for marking his books,
and some of them are marked page after page by pencil marks
that disfigure the books, and marked without reference to any-
thing in the printed page. But some of the pages are very
significant, being with clear reference to the contents and mean-
ing of the printed words upon the page. And the things that
are written upon the fly-leaves of some of these books, so far as
they are intelligible at all, and particularly of the Bible, would
tend to show, according to the testimony of Dr. Straight, a
hypocritical and immoral life; yet Dr. Straight testified that
Jordan, if he went home and read the Bible for hours and days
at a time and marked passages such as were marked, would be
insane.

We have examined this bill which is marked at great length
and these books, some of which are Meyer’s Christian Living,
Long’s Thoughts of Marcus Aurelius, Clerk’s Instructions to
Christian Converts, Jordan’s Kingship of Self-Control, ete.,
and if these experts, witnesses, have correctly detailed the in-
dicia or symptoms of this species of insanity to which they testi-
fy, and if there is such a species of insanity as we have no
doubt there is, we think from our examination that we have
made of these documents, in the light of the instruction that we
have received from these experts, on the subject of insanity, that
their deductions from these writings and these books and the
markings thereon, are correct. .

‘We can not come to any other conclusion than that the man
who made these entries in these books, and made these peculiar
marks, was a man of unsound mind. And, without further dis-
cussion of the evidence and because our conclusions of fact re-
quire the judgment we render, we simply say that the judgment
will take the form of a reformation or annullment of the change
of beneficiary that was made by Frank Jordan, and a judgment
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for the plaintiff against the insurance company for the amount
of the policy.

I may say the insurance company is not contesting this policy ;
they have paid the proceeds into the hands of the Society for
Savings, which is acting as receiver or trustee, by agreement of
the parties. '

CORRECTION OF VERDICT RETURNED BY MISTAKE.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.
THE CApy-IvisoN SHOE CoMPANY v. A. CHICOWICZ.
Decided, November 24, 1905.

Trials—Court May Re-submit a Case to Jury Where a Verdict is Plainly
a Mistake.

Where a jury after returning a verdict in a replevin case were dis-
charged, and certain members of the jury having inquired of the
court as to the effect of their verdict and upon being informed that
it was in favor of the defendant, protested that that was not their
intention, it was not error for the court to re-assemble the jury
and after ascertaining that all of them were mistaken as to the
effect of their verdict, re-submit the case to them after further in-
structions.

Kline, Tolles & Goff, for plaintiff in error.
Henry Du Laurence, contra.

HEeNRY, J.; WINCH, J., and MARvIN, J., concur.

This was a replevin case commenced before John Brown, J. P.,
defendant in error, a retail shoe dealer, who had bought, partly
on credit, a bill of goods of plaintiff in error, wholesale shoe
dealers. The former having failed to pay punctually therefor,
his entire stock was replevied by the company, including not
only those that remained of the shoes for which he had not paid,
but also others bought of the same and other wholesale dealers.
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All that had not been bought of plaintiff in error were subse-
quently returned. The rest were kept.

The cause was appealed to the common pleas court, and, on
the trial there, the jury returned a verdict evincing on its face
a misunderstanding of the peculiar form of verdict returnable in
such cases. While court and counsel were discussing whether the
verdict might not be rectified by treating part of it as surplusage,
the jury were excused and told to report to the jury room for
duty. Part of them left the room and part crowded about the
court’s desk, inquiring about the effect of their verdiet and
whether it imported a finding for plaintiff or defendant. Being
told by the court that it was finding against Chicowicz, they pro-
tested that it was not their verdict. Thereupon the court called
the whole jury back, and having charged them further, sent
them out to deliberate once more. They later brought in a ver-
dict against the plaintiff in error, upon which judgment was
rendered.

The facts that transpired after the first verdict was rendered,
are brought into the record largely by the affidavits of the jury-
men themselves, filed in resistance to the motion for a new trial,
and incorporated in a bill of exceptions. It is complained that
the testimony of jurors can not be heard to impeach their own
verdict. Such, however, is manifestly not the purpose or effect
of this evidence. The first verdict is self-impeached, and the
door is thus opened to let in the testimony of the jurors them-
selves in confirmation of their misunderstanding. Farrar v.
State, 2 0. S., 54.

It is objected further that the court was without power, hav-
ing once discharged the jury, to reconvene them; and that the
jury were without power having once rendered a verdict and
separated, to withdraw the same and render another. Sutliff v.
Gilbert, 8 Ohio, 405, cited by plaintiff in error in support of this
contention, appears, however, when examined, to afford abund-
ant justification for the action of the court and jury under such
circumstances of this case.

It is objected further that the verdiet and judgment as
finally rendered, are for a sum in excess of the possible liability
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of the plaintiff in error in view of the amount of Chicowicz’s un-
paid indebtedness. This contention overlooks the fact that other
goods were taken besides those for which Chicowicz was in-
debted.

‘We find no error in the record and the judgment is affirmed.

PROTECTION OF A RETIRING PARTNER.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

EMILY SCHNEIDER, EXECUTRIX OF THE WILL OF W. F. SCHNEIDER,
DECEASED, V. GUSTAVE STERN ET AL.

Decided, November 24, 1905.
Partnership—No Notice of Dissolution Necessary, When.

When a partnershfp name does not disclose the names of the indi-
viduals who constitute the firm, no general notice of dissolution is
necessary to protect a retiring partner from the claim of one who
becomes a creditor after the dissolution and who had no knowledge
that the retiring partner had been a member of the firm,

W. C. Rogers, for plaintiff in error.
P. G. Kassulker and W. C. Ragcrs, contra.

MARvIN, J. (orally); WincH, J., and HENRY, J., concur.

For some time prior to the month of August, 1897, there was a
co-partnership doing business in this city, the members of which
were John Lindy, J. G. Waite and W. F. Schneider, the latter
being now deceased and being the testator under whose will the
plaintiff in error is acting. The firm name of this co-partner-
ship was ‘‘Cleveland Book Bindery.”’ A proper certificate of
the name of the members of this co-partnership was filed with
the clerk of the court of common pleas on the 9th day of April,
1895. No change in said certificate has been made, nor has any
certificate been filed with such clerk showing any change in the
personnel of said firm.
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In August, 1897, said W. F. Schneider retired from said firm
aund was never thereafter a member of it, but the remaining
partners continued in the business under the same firm name,
or possibly under the name of ‘‘Cleveland Book Bindery Co.’”
While said W. F. Schneider was a member of said co-partner-
ship, Gustave Stern was never a dealer with said firm.

On the 12th day of January, 1896, there was executed a
promissory note, reading.

¢‘CLEVELAND, OHIO, Jan. 12, 1898.
“‘$74.00.

‘‘Ninety days after date we promise to pay to the order of
Consolidated Paper Co. seventy-four dollars.

‘“At 198 Seneca St. Value received.

. “‘CLEVELAND Book Binbery Co.,
“Jorax LiNp, Mgr.”’

Said note is endorsed: ‘‘John Lindy. Consolidated Paper
Co. by F. C. Kauffman.”’

This note, by due course of business and before maturity, be-
came the property of the said Gustave Stern.

On the 29th day of March, 1898, there was executed and de-
livered to the said Gustave Stern a promissory note reading:

‘‘CLEVELAND, OHIo, March 29, 1898.

““$75.00.

‘“‘Thirty days after date we promise to pay to the order of

Gustave Stern seventy-five dollars, at 198 Seneca St. Value re-
ceived.

““CLEVEIAND BOOK BINDERY,
‘“‘Joun Linp, Mgr.”’

On this note the following words are endorsed: ‘‘Consoli-
dated Paper Co. John Lindy."’

Neither of these notes heing paid and both being the prop-
erty of said Gustave Stern at maturity, the said Stern brought
suit upon them, first before a justice of the peace, and an ap-
peal was then taken to the court of common pleas from the judg-
ment of said justice, and thereupon said Stern filed his petition
in said court upon said notes, making defendants in said suit
John Lindy, J. G. Waite and W. F. Schneider, partners as
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““Cleveland Book Bindery’’ and ‘‘Consolidated Paper Co.’’
While the case was pending in the court of common pleas said
W. F. Schneider died, and the action was revived against the
present plaintiff in error, as executrix of the will of said de-
cedent. The first trial of the case resulted in a verdict and
judgment for plaintiff, and, on motion, such judgment was set
aside and a new trial granted. The second trial resulted as the
first had done, in a verdict and judgment against the defend-
ants. The plaintiff in error filed a motion for new trial, which
was overruled, and she comes iuto this court by proper proceed-
ings in error, seeking to reverse said judgment.

A defense made for Schneider was that he was not a member
of the firm when either of the notes sued upon was executed.
This fact was established beyond controversy. But it is urged by
plaintiff below that this did not relieve him from liability upon
these obligations, unless he had given proper notice of his with-
drawal. This notice it was claimed Schneider had given, and
the real question, so far as this matter of notice is involved,
is as to what notice he was bound to give to relieve himself from
liability to Stern.

If Stern had been a customer of the firm when Schneider was
a member of it. and if, after his retirement, the remaining part-
ners continued to do business under the same firm name, then
Stern would have been entitled to actual notice of the change,
unless in some other way the knowledge had come to him of the
retirement of Schneider. Perhaps it is not profitable to discuss
the question of whether the business, in this ease, was continued
under the old name, because it seemed to be concluded on the
hearing that it was, although, as has already been pointed out,
the first of the two notes sued upon was not signed by the name
shown in the certificate of partnership, the latter being ‘Cleve-
land Book Bindery,”’ while the name signed to the note is
‘“Cleveland Book Bindery Co.”” The other note, however, is
signed by the name shown in the partnership certificate.

The court in its charge to the jury said, on the question of
notice:
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‘1 say to you, gentlemen of the jury, as matter of law, that the
plaintiff was not such a dealer, within the contemplation of the
law, with the partnership as would entitle them to actual no-
tice.”’ ’

It has already been said, as a fact, in this opinion, that Stern
was not a dealer with the firm while Schneider was a member of
it. Attention was not called to the evidence on that point, but
an examination of the evidence clearly shows that the court
was right in saying to the jury what has been quoted from the
charge on that point.

The court immediately followed what has been quoted with
these words:

‘‘But the plaintiff claims that even though he had had no deal-
ings previous to these notes, he was entitled to general notice,
and in this respeet I say to you that under the circumstances
the plaintiff would be entitled to notice, but not to actual notice ;
fair notice in a public or notorious manner is sufficient, * * *
and it is for you to say whether the defendant Schneider gave
fair notice of his withdrawal from the partnership. If he did,
then he would not be liable. If he failed to exercise reasonable
diligence by adopting a fair and usual method to give such gen-
eral notice, one that would be reasonably likely to give gen-
eral public notice, then he can not escape liability even though
he had withdrawn from the partnership prior to the time of the
giving of these notes.’’

‘We hold that this language in the charge, given as it is with-
out any qualification as to whether Stern had ever known that
Schneider was a partner in the firm, was erroneous. If there
had been added the qualification that this general notice must
be given to relieve from liability to one who had known of
Schneider’s being a partner in the firm, it would have been a
correct statement of the law.

In Meacham’s Law of Partnership, at paragraph 263, it is
said :

““Of the persons who have not had dealings with the firm there
are likewise two classes, those who knew of the partnership but

had not dealt with it, and those who did not know of it prior to
its dissolution. As to the latter class, it is said that no notice at
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all is necessary, upon the ground that, as they did not learn
of the existence of the partnership until it had actually been
dissolved, they could have no reason for holding it liable; and
this is doubtless correct where no element of estoppel is in-
volved.”’

It must be borne in mind that there was nothing in the name
of this firm indicating who were partners in it, so there was no
holding out by the firm name that any particular person was a
partner. .

Instructive notes on this question of notice are found on pages
290, 291 and 292 of 26 American Decisions, being notes.on the
case of Prentiss v. Sinclair. The following quotations are from
these notes:

‘A person who did not know of the existence of a partner-
ship can not, after it has been dissolved, say that he relied on' its
continuing to exist, or that he was induced by that unknown
existence to give credit.

‘“‘“There seems to be a distinetion made in the case of new
customers, between those who had actual knowledge of the ex-
istence of a partnership and of its membership, and those who
had no such information; to protect the former the general
notice by advertisement appears especially to apply, while as
to the latter the giving of any notice would seem to be un-
necessary.’’ '

A great number of errors are claimed by the plaintiff in
error. Each has been carefully considered, but none of them seem
sufficient to justify a reversal of the judgment, except the lan-
guage of the charge hereinbefore criticized. .

For error in the charge as pointed out, the judgment is re-
versed and the case remanded.
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DUTY OF ONE ABOUT TO CROSS A STREET CAR TRACK.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

J. F. GriesE v. CLEVELAND ELEcTRIC RAILwaAY Co.
Decided, January 21, 1907.

Evidence—Witnesses—Negligence—Trials—Not Error to BSirike Out
Answer when too General—One Approaching Street Car Tracks
Must Use His Senses to Discover Approaching Cars—Violation of
City Ordinance Not Per Se Negligence—Not Error to Fail to Ampli-
fy Instructions When Not Asked.

1. It is not error to strike out answers which are in terms so general
as to be indefinite and uncertain, as that a car was moving “fast”
or “very fast” or “at an awful rate of speed.”

2. A witness who has been accustomed to riding upon street care and
whose observations and experience has been such as to make his
judgment reliable, may testify as to the rate of speed a car upon
which he was riding was travelling.

3. One about to cross a street car track, is bound to use his senses to
ascertain whether a car is about to cross or is approaching a cross-
ing, and if he fails to see or hear anything, when a careful and
prudent man by using his eyes and ears with ordinary care would
have discovered a car in so close proximity to the crossing that
he could not safely drive across, he is guilty of negligence and can
not recover for his injuries.

4. Violation of a city ordinance in the operation of its street cars is
not per se negligence which makes the company liable to one in-
jured at a street crossing.

6. Where what was said by the court to the jury in the charge was
clearly the law, if the plaintiff desired the court to charge further
on the subject in question, a request for such further charge should
have been made, and none having been made, the court did not
err in failing to give any other proposition on the subject, wheth-
er such other proposition would have been warranted or not.

MarvIN, J.; WiNcH, J., and HENRY, J., concur.

The parties here are as they were in the court below ; the result
in that court having been a verdict and judgment for the de-
fendant.

The plaintiff filed his petition seeking damages for injury to
his person and injury to his horse and buggy which he claims
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to have received on the 14th day of September, 1901, by reason
of a collision between the carriage in which he was riding and
the horse drawing such ecarriage on the one part, and the
car of the defendant on the other. This collision occurred at
the corner of Wade Park avenue and Giddings avenue, in the
city of Cleveland. The plaintiff was driving his horse, attached
to said buggy in which he was riding, to the north on Giddings
avenue; the defendant’s car was traveling to the west on the
tracks of the company on Wade Park avenue. The petition al-
leges that the collision occurred and the injury was sustained
without fault on the part of the plaintiff, and wholly by reason
of the negligence of the defendant in two particulars, to-wit:
that the car of the defendant was being moved at an unlawful
rate of speed and that no gong was sounded or other alarm
given by the defendant when approaching the crossing of these
two streets. The defendant answered with a general denial,
and with an allegation that if the plaintiff was injured, his own
negligence contributed thereto; but there was no contention that
the two avenues did not cross each other; that the car of the
defendant was moving to the west, and that the plaintiff was in
his carriage driving his horse to the north, and that a collision
occurred. The real contention was that there was no negligence
on the part of the defendant which caused the collision, and in
any event there was negligence on the part of the plaintiff,
which contributed to this collision.

On the part of the plaintiff there was introduced in evidence
an ordinance of the city of Cleveland which provided that the
rate of speed of street cars should not exceed twelve miles an
hour, and it was admitted on the hearing that there was a valid
ordinance of the city of Cleveland in force at the time which re-
quired that ‘‘all street cars shall be provided with a signal bell
or gong, said bell or gong shall be sounded at least one hundred
feet distant from all street intersections, and shall be continu-
ously sounded while passing the same.’’

The evidence as to whether the speed at which the car was
going was greater than 12 miles an hour was conflicting, as was
also the evidence as to whether any gong or bell was sounded,
or other alarm given of the approach of the car to the crossing.
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For the purpose of establishing the proposition that the ear was
1oving at a higher rate of speed than that allowed by the ordi-
nance, the plaintiff introduced a witness who testified that the
car was moving ‘‘at an awful rate of speed.”” Another witness
testified that the car was moving ‘‘fast,”’ and another that it was
moving ‘‘very fast.’

The court on motion of the defendant excluded each of these
answers. It is urged that this is error, and in support of it
we are cited to Section 7754 of Thompson on Negligence, Vol. 6,
where this language is used:

““Thus a witness may state that a car was running fast, al-
though he had not sufficient experience to enable him to show
how fast. The rule will allow a witness of ordinary intelligence

to compare the speed of a train at the time of the accident with
the speed of the train on previous days.”’

The cases cited by the author in support of this are cases in
which the evidence that the car or the train was running fast
had been received, and the court refused to reverse the case be-
cause of the admission of such evidence. We think it doubtful
whether in either of these cases the court would have reversed
the case if the evidence had been excluded, and we find no case
in Ohio which will support the claim made by the plaintiff here.
The language that a car is moving ‘‘fast,’”’ or ‘‘at an awful
rate of speed,”’ or ‘‘very fast,”’ is so indefinite and uncertain
that it is not error to reject such evidence, although it is not
necessary that one should be able to give definitely the speed
with which the car was moving. We find no error of the court
~ in this regard. While the plaintiff, who is a physician, was on
the stand, the following question was asked him: ‘‘You may
state what, if any effect, the injuries sustained there had on your
ability to carry on your profession?’’

An objection was made by the defendant to this question, and
that objection was sustained. As to this, it is sufficient to say
that no suggestion was made as to what answer was expected
from the witness, and hence we can not assume that the plaint-
iff was prejudiced by the ruling of the court. This is true as
to a number of instances, in which it is claimed that there
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was error in the ruling of the court on the admission of evidence.

Another alleged error took place upon the examination of one
Gemlich, a witness on the part of the plaintiff. He had testified
that there was an ice wagon moving to the south on Giddings
avenue, which crossed Wade Park avenue immediately before
this collision took place, and from his testimony, and that of
uther witnesses, the jury might well have found that this wagon
barely escaped being struck by the car. The wagon was on the
easterly side of Giddings, while the plaintiff was on the westerly
side; that is, as they would have passed one another, the wagon:
would be on the side of the street towards which the defendant’s
car was at the time. The witness then said, speaking of the
plaintiff, ‘‘the doctor could not see the street car.”’ A motion
to take this from the jury was sustained. There was no error
in this. If the question became important of whether the doctor
could have seen the car, the jury could have found that out
by having the real positions of the car, the wagon and the doc-
tor’s buggy deseribed to them together with a description of
such wagon. Again it is urged that there was error in the ruling
upon the introduction of evidence when the defendant was mak-
ing its case, and had placed one Tlarriman on the stand, who
testified that he was a passenger upon the car; that he was aec-
customed to riding in street cars, and he thought he could ap-
proximately give the speed at which the car was moving. He
was then permitted, over the objection of the plaintiff, to testify
that ‘‘the car was moving somewhere about ten miles an hour.”’
In support of the plaintiff’s contention in this regard we are
cited to the same section on Thompson on Negligence, where this
Janguage is used:

““‘There is authority for the determination that the rate of
speed can not be shown by the opinion of witnesses observing,

when from the inside, unless they are experienced and their
observations is such as to make their judgment rcliable.’’

One case only, in support of this proposition is cited, that
of Grand Rapids Railroad Company v. Huntley, 38 Mich., 537.
In the opinion of that case, at page 540, this language is used:
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‘‘In regard to opinions of persons riding in the cars, and not
observing them from the outside, we are not prepared to say
that they may not be received, but we think they should be
excluded unless the witnesses first show such extended experi-
ence and observation as to qualify them for forming such opin-
ions as would be reliable. It is not presumable that ordinary
railway travelers usually form such habits.”’

As has already been stated, the witness who was under exami-
nation here had testified that he had paid attention to the rate
of speed at which cars traveled, whether fast or slow, and that
he thought he would be able to tell, approximately, about what
rate of speed this car was traveling. There is no inherent rea-
son why the testimony of one riding in the car is not as compe-
tent as that of one observing from the outside. The weight to
be given to the testimony of witnesses upon this, as upon every
other subject, is to be determined by the amount of knowledge
which the witness has upon the subject, and concerning which
he testifies. The evidence here sought to be excluded was com-
petent ; the weight to be given to it was to be determined by the
jury. Careful attention has been given to each of the alleged
errors, in the matter of ruling upon the evidence, and we find
no error in any such ruling which would justify a reversal of
the case.

It is further urged on the part of the plaintiff that the court
crred in its charge to the jury. The court, among other things,
said in its charge:

‘‘Plaintiff in approaching this crossing was bound to use his
senses to ascertain if a car was about to cross or was approach-
ing the crossing, and if he failed to see or hear anything, when
a careful and prudent man by exercising his eyes and ears with
ordinary care would have discovered this car in so close prox-
imity to the crossing that he could not safely drive across, he
would be guilty of such negligence as would defeat his recovery.
The fact that his view of the track toward the direction from
which the car was coming, if such you find to be the fact, was
obstructed by buildings or an ice wagon, would not exeuse him
from exercising ordinary care to - ascertain whether he could
cross in safety. If there were any such obstructions, plaintiff
was bound to exercise such care as an ordinarily careful person
should exercise under like circumstances. He must exercise
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ordinary care commensurate with the surroundings and circum-
stances in which he found himself. Not to exercise such care
would be negligence on the part of the plaintiff. 1f there was
any object to obstruct the view of the plaintiff in the direction
from which the car was coming, and the plaintiff by the exer-
cise of ordinary care could have seen the car and stopped his
horse in time to have avoided this collision, it was his duty to
exercise that care and stop his horse.’’

It is said that though this is the rule applicable to the course
of the tracks of the ordinary steam railroad in the country, it
is not the rule as applied to the course of street railroads in
cities.

In the case of The Cleveland Electric Railway Company v.
Charles Wadsworth, reported in 25 C. C. Reports, 376, this
court said:

“It is contributory negligence, precluding recovery, for a
passenger upon alighting at night from a street car to pass
around the rear end of the car and attempt to cross a parallel
track upon which cars are running in an opposite direction every
three minutes, without looking in that direction, or checking his
pace, or taking any precaution for his safety, he having knowl-
edge of the surroundings and s1tuatmn of the tracks and of the
operation of cars thereon.”’

On page 379, Judge Laubie in his opinion says:

‘‘There can be no question about the negligence of the rail-
way company, of the men who were in charge of the west bound
car; they were running at too great a rate of speed, in passing
a car that was stopping at this crossing. But it is evident, from
his own testimony, and from all the testimony in the case, that
the plaintiff was himself guilty of negligence contributing to
his injury.”’

This case was affirmed in the Supreme Court without report.

Complaint is further made that the court used this language
in its charge:

‘“‘Certain provisions of the city ordinance have been admitted
in evidence, but if you find that the defendant at the time of this
accident was running the car at a greater speed than 12 miles
an hour, or did not ring the gong or bell or give any warning,
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that would not of itself constitute negligence, but may be con-
sidered by you with the other facts and circumstances of the
case in determining the question of whether or not the defend-
ant was negligent at this time.’’

Clearly what was meant by this and what must have been un-
derstood by the jury, was that the simple fact that the defendant
was violating an ordinance of the city did not of itself consti-
tute negligence, for which the defendant would be liable. This is
amply justified by what was said by this court in the case of
Hoppe v. Parmalee, 20 C. C. Reports. 303, the second clause of
the syllabus of that case reading as follows:

““The Supreme Court of Ohio has never yet gone so far as
to say that an act done in violation of a statute or an ordinance
is negligence per se. Nor has that court gone so far as to say
that the violation of such statute or ordinance raises a presump-

tion of negligence, although there are mauny authorities outside
of Ohio in support of each of these propositions.”’

In that case an infant has been employed in a manufactory;
his age was such as to make his employment a violation of the
statute. The trial court in its charge to the jury quoted the
statute and then said that the jury might consider the statute in
connection with the other facts in the case in determining
whether or not there was negligence on the part of the employer.

It was urged that the court should have said more, and it is
urged here that the court should have said more and explained
to the jury that the plaintiff had a right to rely upon the ob-
servance by the defendant of the ordinance of the city applicable
to the situation, but no request was made for any charge in that
regard; and in Hoppe v. Parmalee, supra, this langunage is used
in the first clause of the syllabus:

‘“Where what was said by the court to the jury in the charge
was clearly the law, if the plaintiff desired the court to charge
further on the subject in question ,a request for such further
charge should bave been made, and none having been made, the
court did not err in failing to give any other proposition on the

subject, whether such other proposition would have been war-
ranted or not.”’
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So here we think that if the plaintiff desired further instruc-
tion to the jury on the question of the negligence of the defend-
ant, a request for such charge should have been made.

Taking the entire charge together, we think the law stated
to the jury was correctly stated under the rules in this state, and
that it was not misleading. Whether the rule adopted in Ohio
is entirely consonant with reason, it is not for us to say. It is
sufficient for .our purpose that we follow the ruling as laid
down by the Supreme Court.

That rule is announced in numerous cases, among others, in
Meek v. Pennsylvania Co., 38 O. S., 632, where the first clause
of the syllabus reads:

‘“In an action to recover for an injury alleged to have been
caused by cars moving on a railroad track, proof that the com-
pany was moving its cars in violation of a city ordinance at the
time the injury was inflicted, while not sufficient per se to create

a liability, is yet competent to go to the jury as tending to show
negligence.’’

We find nothing in the charge in this case which would justify
us to reverse the judgment.

The question is raised, not yet mentioned in this opinion, upon
the action of the court on a motion which was filed by the plaint-
iff to require the defendant to make definite and certain its an-
swer, in specifying in what particulars the plaintiff was negli-
gent. This motion was overruled. Unless some prejudice came
to the plaintiff by reason of this action of the court, no reversal
could be predicated upon it. There was no evidence introduced,
nor was any sought to be introduced, of negligence on the part
of the plaintiff which he could not have anticipated, and hence
he was not prejudiced by this action of the court, whether he
was entitled to have such motion sustained or not.

It follows fromr what has been said. that the judgment of the
court of common pleas should be, and it is affirmed.
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STALE CLAM FOR ALIMONY.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.
SARAH MORGAN V. JosEPH WAKELIN.*
Decided, February 29, 1904.

Alimony—Equity—Delay of Twenty-Four Years in Asking Alimony
Makes Claim Stale.

A delay of twenty-four years after a husband has secured a divorce in
another state, before applying for alimony, during all of which time
the husband was the owner of real estate situated in the county
which might have been subjected to the payment of alimony and
during which time the wife has remarried, makes a claim for
alimony stale.

E. Sowers, for plaintiff in error.
Blandin, Rice & Ginn, contra.

HaLE, J. (orally) ; MarvIN, J., and WINCH, J., concur.

Mrs. Morgan, who brings this action, was formerly the wife
c¢f Wakelin. In 1876 they were divorced, and the same year
she married Morgan and has been his wife since that time. She
brings an action now for alimony. The case was commenced in
1900, and seeks to reach real estate located in this county. One
parecel of real estate is owned in common, as the deeds show,
by her and her former husband, Wakelin. That property she
has occupied during all these years, notwithstanding the hus-
band has the title to one-half of it. The other parcel of prop-
erty was acquired by Wakelin in 1888.

The court below held that under these circumstances the action
was delayed too long; that the cause of action, being equitable
in its nature, had become stale, and that courts would not en-
tertain now an action to enforce it. This judgment of the court
of common pleas was rendered upon the pleadings as they stood,
without any evidence. 1f it is desirable to review the judgment
of the court of common pleas, it can be easily done as it now

*Afirmed without opinion, Morgan v. Wakelin, 72 Ohio State, 656.
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stands. We are inclined to think the court of common pleas
was correct, as more than twenty-four years had elapsed be-
tween the granting of the deeree and the bringing of this action.

The reason why alimony was not allowed in the first action
was because the divorce was granted in Arkansas, on the appli-
cation of the husband, and gave the wife no opportunity to
make a claim for alimony.

The property has all the while—one parcel since the divorce
and the other parcel since 1888—been in this county, and could
have been reached as well before 1900 as in 1900, and we are
inclined to hold that the court of common pleas was correct
in rendering judgment on the pleadings and we affirm the judg-
ment.

LLEGAL CONTRACT FOR DIVISION OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

Louis B. WHITNEY v. HARRISON W. EWING, ADMINISTRATOR OF
THE EsTATE OF HARRISON J. EWING, DECEASED.

Decided, December 24, 1903.

Contract—A Party to an Illegal Contract Can Not Invoke Aid of Court
to S8ecure a Division of Profits.

A plaintif who has knowledge of, and is party to, an agreement be-
tween an attorney and a client by which it is agreed that the at-
torney shall have one-half of all the money he succeeds in obtain-
ing from the husband of the client as alimony or otherwise, is
party to an illegal contract, working a fraud upon the court, and
can not invoke the aid of the court to recover from the attorney
one-half of the sum obtained in the transaction and which the at-
torney had agreed to divide with plaintiff for recommending him
to the client as an attorney.

W. C. Ong, for plaintiff in error.
Harrison Ewing, contra.

MagrviN, J.; WiINCH, J., and HALE, J., concur.
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The plaintiff here was the plaintiff below, and brought suit
against Harrison J. Ewing, then in full life but since deceased,
seeking to recover upon a contract entered into between said
parties and which, as set out in the petition, is as follows:

‘‘Plaintiff went to the office of the defendant, Harrison J.
Ewing, then a practicing attoruey, and said to him that a wo-
man by the name of Hornsby was in his (Whitney’s) office and
desired the service of an attorney and had directed and author-
ized this plaintiff to select for her some one to act as her counsel
and attorney for her, in order to recover alimony or mainte-
nance and support from her husband. This plaintiff then and
there said to said defendant, Harrison J. Ewing, that he (plaint-
iff) would recommend the appointment of Harrison J. Ewing if
he (Ewing) should give to the plaintiff a fair proportion of
whatever he (Ewing) should receive for fees or compensation
finally in said case and growing out of said appointment, where-
upon the defendant said to this plaintiff that if he (the plaint-
iff) should recommend him (the defendant, Harrison J. Ewing)
as counsel in the case he would give to the plaintiff one-half of
all the fees and compensation received for such service.’’

He then sets out that he did recommend the said Ewing to the
said Mrs. Hornsby as a suitable person for her to employ as an
attorney, and then introduced Mrs. Hornsby to the said Ewing;
that he, the said Ewing, took the case for Mrs. Hornsby, and re-
ceived as fees for his services the sum of $3,000, no part of which
has been paid to the plaintiff, though he has demanded from the
said Ewing the payment of $1,500—one-half of the fee so
received by Ewing. ‘

Upon the conclusion of the evidence introduced upon the trial
by the plaintiff the court, on motion, directed the jury to return
a verdict for the defendant, which was done, and judgment
entered for him. On the part of the plaintiff it is urged that in
so granting said motion the court erred. This brings us to a
consideration of the evidence in the case.

Upon the trial it appeared that Mrs. Ormsby went to the
office of the plaintiff, who was a private detective, on the 8th
day of August, 1897, and complained to him that her husband
was neglecting her, failing and refusing to provide for her and
was in other respects violating his obligations as a husband, and




CIRCUIT COURT REPORTS—NEW SERIES. 71

1915.] Cuyahoga County.

sought plaintiff’s advice, and he said to her that he was not
an attorney and that it would be necessary to have an attorney
in order to obtain her rights. She said to him that she was
without money and that whatever compensation was received
by anybody in helping her would have to come out of whatever
was recovered from her husband, who had a considerable amount
of money. Whitney went to the office of Ewing, told him of the
situation of the woman and agreed with him that he would
bring her, if he could, to Ewing’s office, and that Ewing should
pay him one-half of whatever he (Ewing) should receive as
compensation for his services. Ewing then went with Whitney
to the latter’s office and was introduced to Mrs. Hornsby. She
stated her case to him, and he thereupon entered into a written
contract with her by which it was agreed between them that
Ewing should receive one-half of whatever he recovered from her
husband for her. He filed a petition asking for alimony. Service
was had upon Hornsby, who was the next day arrested at the in-
stance of Ewing upon a charge of stealing a ring from his wife,
and while s0 under arrest Ewing made some arrangement with
Hornsby by which he was to file an answer in the alimony suit,
which was prepared by Ewing and signed by Hornsby and filed.
As a result of the transaction and within about two months of
the time when the suit was brought Hornsby paid to Ewing in
settlement of this suit the sum of $6,000, one-half of which
Ewing paid to Mrs. Hornsby and retained the other one-half,
$3,000, in pursuance of his contract with her. He never paid
‘Whitney anything.

That the contract made by Ewing with Mrs. Hornsby was ab-
solutely void is conceded by plaintiff’s counsel, as it must be by
any reputable lawyer.

. It was against public policy. It was calculated to impose upon
the court to whom the appeal for alimony was to be made. It
was a contract out of which Ewing had no right to profit and
by which, if appeal had been made to any court, he would not
have permitted to profit. If the plaintiff was a participant with
Ewing in perpetrating this imposition upon Mrs. Hornsby, and
in aiding in perpetrating this imposition upon the court, he is
not entitled to profit by it, and no court should aid him to profit
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by it. This is practically eonceded by counsel for the plaintiff.
But it is urged that Whitney is entirely innocent in the matter;
that he knew Ewing would be entitled to eompensation for his
services, and that it would be proper that he should receive
something for introducing a elient to him and aiding him in
procuring evidenee upon which the suit might be won, for,
though no claim is made in the petition for any compensation
for any other services than the introduction of the parties to
eaech other and the reeommendation of Ewing to Mrs. Hormsby,
still the evidence shows that the plaintiff did aid in obtaining
evidence. Ile sent a detective to disreputable places in this
city for the purpose of obtaining such evidence. Whatever may
be thought of rendering such aid, this case is determined upon
the plaintiff’s participation in the fraudulent contract made
by Ewing with Mrs. Hornsby.

In the plaintiff's own testimony, in speaking about his first
conversation with Ewing on the matter, he says:

‘I said to him that I had said to her that she needed an at-
torney, after talking with her, and I had come up to see if he
would take hold of the case and would take hold of the case
with me.”’ :

Again, he says:-
‘‘He said to me, ‘If you will take me down and introduce her

we will take hold of this case together and whatever we get
out of it for fees we will divide between us.’ ”’

And again:

‘‘He stated that he would take hold of this case with me, and
that I was to look up and get proof where he had been around
to different places where Hornsby had been, the different places
here, and get proof to him, and we would take hold of this
case together and we would pay ourselves out of whatever money
was got from Hornsby for her, alimony or otherwise.’’

Again, in speaking of this conversation he had between Ewing,
Mrs. Hornsby and himself, this question was put to him by his
own coungel: ‘‘What, if anything, was said about who was to
collect the money and what was to be done with it, that is, the
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money he received ; who was to collect it?’’ ® To this he answered,
“Mr. Ewing.”’ Then followed the question, ‘‘State what was
to be done with what was collected.”” He answered: ‘“To give
to Mrs. Hornsby one-half of it, and the remaining one-half to
be divided between Mr. Ewing and myself.”’ That this was said
at the first conversation had between the three together appears
from the question and answer immediately following. The
question is: ‘‘Well, then, what occurred? Where did they go,
if they went anywhere, out of your office?’’ (Answer) ‘“Went
into Mr. Ewing’s office.’”” It appears that earlier in this same
conversation Ewing had said that he would prepare a written
contract between himself and Mrs. Hornsby, and that in the
afternoon of the same day he reported to the plaintiff that such
a contract had been executed. This seems to settle beyond any
question that the plaintiff had full knowledge at the time that
it was made of the contract between Ewing and Mrs. Hornsby,
and that this contract with Ewing was dependent upon that. It
follows that his contract with Ewing was tainted with the same
fraud as was Ewing’s contract with Mrs. Hornsby.

It is urged here, however, that the action of the court re-
sulted in permitting Ewing to hold and enjoy all the fruits of
his own wrongdoing. This is true, so far as this case is con-
cerned. When the courts shall be appealed to by the person
or persons from whom Ewing fraudulently obtained this money,
it can be determined whether any one shall be entitled to enjoy
the fruits of such a fraud. It is said that so far neither Mr.
Hornsby nor Mrs. Hornsby have made any complaint of the con-
duet of Ewing, but this is no reason why the court should give
its aid to any wrongdoer to profit out of this despicable trans-
action. To permit a recovery here would be for the court to
lend its affirmative aid to a wrongdoer in obtaining profit from
his own unlawful act. This can not be done. It is true that
Ewing has no right to this money, but he has not asked for the
intervention of the court, nor is the judgment entered by the
court below any affirmance of any rights in Ewing to this money.
It is only a denial of any rights in the plaintiff. The reasoning
which would justify a judgment in favor of the plaintiff here
would apply with equal force if there had been a contract pure
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and simple to obtainemoney from Hornsby by blackmail and di-
vide the money so obtained between Ewing and the plaintiff,
and if such money had been obtained by blackmail and paid into
the hands of Ewing and the plaintiff had brought suit to re-
cover a portion of it. The trial court had no opportunity in
this case to give the money to the party to whom it rightfully
belongs, but was only ecalled upon to say whether, as it did not
rightfully belong to either Ewing or the plaintiff, the plaintiff
having aided in unlawfully getting it into the hands of Ewing,
should have a part of it paid to him.

It seems clear that the judgment of the court of common pleas
was right, and it is affirmed.

PURCHASE OF STOCK CONTRARY TO A POOLING AGREEMENT.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

EL1zABETH METZLER ET AL V., THE MASON STEAM LAUNDRY.
Decided, November 4, 1904.
Equity—One Who Demands Equity Must do Equity.

Where the subscribers to a stockholders pooling agreement have never
done anything to put the agreement into effect and for a term of
years have ignored its existence, one of the subscribers, who has
himeelf purchased stock in violation of the agreement can not
afterwards Insist upon the carrying out of the agreement by the
others while refusing to surrender to the pool the stock which he,
himself, had purchased.

Jas. F. Walsh and White, Johnson, McCaslin & Cannon, for
plaintiffs.
Foran, McTighe & Qage, contra.

Wincn, J.; HALE J., and MARvIN, J., concur.

The Mason Steam Laundry Company was incorporated Jan-
uary 3, 1894, with an authorized capital of $10,000, divided
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into 100 shares. On the fifth day of January, 1894, the incor-
porators of the company duly ordered hooks of subscription to
stock to be opened and on the same day twenty-five shares of
stock were subscribed for, directors were elected and the com-
pany organized.

By the terms of an instrument dated January 5, 1894, and
signed by all of the stockholders of the company, each and every
one of the subscribers agreed that for a period of five years no
one of them would sell any of the stock which he held in the
company, except to the other subseribers thereto, jointly, upon
a valuation to be agreed upon, if possible, and, if not, to be
fixed by arbitration, and each and all of the subscribers agree to
buy any such stock so offered, jointly for the benefit of all of the
subscribers at the valuation so to be fixed. It was further agreed
that the subscribers should assign their stock to G. E. Milligan,
one of the directors of the company, in trust to secure the per-
formance of the agreement. By a like instrument signed Jan-
uary 5, 1899, the same agreements were extended for a further
period of four years, or until January 5, 1903, the directors of
the company for the time being and their successors in office
being substituted for Milligan as trustees to whom the sub-
seribers’ stock should be assigned in trust; both of these agree-
ments provided that at the termination of the periods therein
named said trustees should reassign the stock to the respective
owners.

No such assignments of the stock to the trustees were ever
made, but the stock certificates, after being properly signed by
the officers of the company, were never removed from the stock
certificate book which remained in the custody of the officers
of the company.

Section X of the rules and regulations adopted by the stock-
holders provides as follows:

‘“The stock book of the corporation shall remain in the custody
of the secretary and treasurer, who shall have control thereof,
and not more than twenty-five shares of the capital stock of the
company shall be sold without the consent of four-fifths of the
board of directors and then only when it appears that it is
necessary that more money shall be had in order to conduet and
carry on the business of the corporation.’’
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‘While the subscribers to the pooling agreements mentioned do
not appear to have complied with its terms to the extent of them-
selves purchasing stock of subscribers who desired to sell, the
evidence shows some of the subscribers desired to dispose of their
stock during periods covered by said agreements and gave no-
tice of their desires, whereupon the Mason Steam Laundry Com-
pany out of its own funds purchased certain of its own stock,
the several transactions and amounts paid by the company be-
ing as follows: June 13, 1895, T. E. Milligan, 4-1/3 shares,
$500; June 10, 1898, Annie Kearney, 1 share, $337; June 8,
1901, Nellie Carroll, 1/2 share, $50; July 15, 1901, Rose Calla-
ghan, 1 share, $100, being in all 6-5/6 shares, and $987.50 being
expended by the company in the purchase thereof and all the
certificates representing said shares were duly assigned to the
‘‘Mason Steam Laundry Company.’’

November 28, 1903, and after the bringing of this suit, but
before any relief with reference thereto was prayed for by any
of the pleadings, the Mason Steam Laundry Company sold the
4 1/3 shares of stock it had purchased of Milligan to J. T.
Murphy, who paid for it the par value thereof.

The only other shares of stock which have changed hands are
114 shares purchased previous to January 5, 1903, by R. A.
Butler, one of the plaintiffs in this suit, director and secretary
of the company and one of the original subscribers for stock
and of the pooling agreements. He testifies that he bought
these shares with the knowledge of the company and the other
subscribers and because they were unable to purchase them.
‘While the evidence does not bear him out in all these claims,
it does not appear that the other subscribers after they had
knowledge of these purchases by Butler ever offered to buy said
shares or made any tender with reference thereto or complaint
with regard thereof, except as complaint is made by cross-peti-
tion filed in this case.

At a regular meeting of the board of directors of the company
held April 1, 1901, Butler being absent, the other four directors
voted for and passed the following resolution: ‘‘Authorized
more stock issued to help pay off the indebtedness of Mason
Laundry Company.”’
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The minutes of the next regular monthly meeting of the com-
pany held May 6, 1901, all five directors being present, set forth
the following :

‘‘On motion. Limited to ten shares of stock issued to help
pay off the indebtedness of Mason Laundry Company bills:
Anna Colgan, four shares of stock ; Maggie McIntyre, two shares
of stock ; Anna McNamara, two shares of stock ; Hannah Larkins,

two shares of stock. On motion ten shares of stock issued to the
four above named.”’

Butler protested against this action on the ground that the
issue of stock was illegal and he then and there refused to take
any of said shares. The other four directors votéed for the mo-
tion and two of them were named in it as persons to whom the
stock should be issued. )

May 10, 1901, certificates of stock for ten shares were duly
issued to the persons named in the resolution of May 6, but said
certificates were never removed from the stock certificate book.
Said shares were paid for and the company received cash to
the par value thereof, which is used in paying part of its in-
debtedness. .

August 2, 1901, Butler and Metzler filed their petition in the
common pleas court praying that the defendant corporation be
restrained from delivering said ten shares of stock to defendants,
and that on the final hearing said sale of stock to be set aside
and the defendants ordered to deliver up said certificates and
that they be canceled.

By subsequent pleadings filed in the common pleas court and
in this court, where the case was brought on appeal, issues have
been made up as to the several transactions mentioned and we
are now asked by plaintiffs not only to set aside said issue of
ten shares, but also to set aside the transfer to Murphy of the
4 1/3 shares; on the other side defendants ask that Butler be
decreed to hold the 1 1/2 shares of stock purchased by him,
as trustee for all the stockholders and subscribers to the pooling
agreement.

Considering the questions raised chronologically and not at-
tempting to set forth all the facts upon which our conclusions
are based, we first take up the pooling agreements.
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Plaintiffs claim that these contracts, so far as they are ex-
ecutory, are illegal, being in restraint of alienation and are also
without consideration, for the agreement to buy is at a price to
be agreed upon, and if not agreed upon, then fixed by arbitra-
tion and, if so agreed upon or arbitrated, upon breach of the
agreement the stockholder desiring to sell and still holding his
stock would be entitled in damages only to the difference be-
tween the real value of his stock and the price agreed to be paid;
there being no difference between the two there would be no
damage, hence no consideration for the promise to buy. So far as
executed, the plaintiff claims the pooling agreements are legal.
Urging this distinction between executory and executed con-
tracts of illegal character, plaintiff says that as to the 4 1-3 shares
of stock sold by Milligan to the company the contract was ex-
ecuted, the company became the owner thereof as trustee for all
the stockholders, that he is entitled to his pro rata share thereof
and that the subsequent sale of said 4 1-3 shares to Murphy,
who knew all the facts, was illegal and should be set aside for
plaintiffs’ benefit.

As to the 114 shares purchased by himself, Butler says he is
not bound by the agreement to hold the same in trust for the
other stockholders, because as to this 11% shares the pooling
agreement is not executed, and said agreement being illegal, he
can not be bound by it.

In other words, Butler asks the benefit of the pooling agree-
ment as to the 4 1/3 shares of stock, but himself declines to live
up to the spirit of it as to his 114 shares. This narrow ground
upon which Butler stands does not give him an assured posi-
tion hefore a court a court of equity. It was with much foree
that counsel for defendants suggested to the court that the time
honored maxims ‘‘IIe who comes into equity must come with
clean hands,’’ and, ‘‘He who asks equity must do equity,’”’ were
not mere platitudes, but should be applied in this case.

The conclusions we have arrived at are in accord with such
rules, but are based upon more specific reasons. We find as a
fact, that thé pooling contracts were never lived up to or aeted
upon by anybody. -No"stock' was ever -présented to the trustee
for purchase, norie wds ever piirchased by the frustees; it was
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presented by consent of all persons to the directors of the cor-
poration for purchase. The 6 5/6 shares were bought by the di-
rectors of the corporation in behalf of the corporation, were paid
for by the corporation funds, and were assigned to the corpora-
tion. This was done with the assent of everybody.

As to these shares the agreement was disregarded from the
beginning.

We find the same to be true with regard to the 114 shares pur-
chased by Butler.

We leave these purchases and sales where the parties left
them and no relief is granted to either party under said pooling
agreement.

It follows that the company, having made an unlawful use
of its funds in the purchase of its own stock, not only had a
right, but it was its duty, to resell the same and return to the
treasury the funds thus improperly expended. It has attempted
to do so with regard to the Milligan stock, resold to Murphy,
and we find said sale was a fair one and should be confirmed.

There remains for consideration the issue of ten shares of
additional stock, the sale of which was authorized in April and
confirmed in May, 1901.

We hold that the stock books were not closed after the sub-
scription for the original twenty-five shares and that the effect
of Section X of the rules and regulations of the company was
‘but a direction of the stockholders to the directors to go care-
fully in receiving further subscriptions. When the section was
adopted twenty-five shares had been sold without consent of four-
fifths of the directors, for then there were no directors, but hav-
ing provided for the election of directors, the stockholders limited
their diseretion as to the issue of additional stock, requiring of
them a four-fifths vote and their judgment as to the necessity
of a sale of stock as a means of procuring more money in order
to conduct and carry on the business of the corporation.

We find that on April 1, 1901, four-fifths of the directors
duly authorized the sale of tem additional shares and that a
necessity then existed for the sale thereof to procure funds to
pay the debts of the corporation, then existing, in order that
the business of the company might be continued.
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We find that the sale of these shares at par was for their full
value. Indeed, we doubt if the stock at that time was worth par
intrinsically.

The evidence as to the good faith of the directors in selling
part of this stock to themselves is not entirely satisfactory; we
are inclined to think all stockholders should have been notified
that the ten shares were to be sold and that the four directors
should not have trusted their own judgment that no other stock-
holders were able to take additional stock. One of the directors
testified that all but three of the stockholders were notified of
the additional stock to be sold. Butler was a director and ad-
mits he knew on Saturday before the meeting on Monday, May
6th, that additional stock was to be sold. On May 6th, he could
have applied for his share of the additional ten shares. He de-
clined to do so and said he would not take additional stock, but
gave a bad reason for his refusal; the issue was legal if made in
good faith. As to the other plaintiff, Mrs. Metzler, there is little
evidence. But that both plaintiffs, if they were in anywise pre-
Judiced by the confirmation of the sale by the directors on May
6th, to two of their own number, have slept on their rights,
there is no question. The stock was not paid for nor issued un-
til four days later, yet they took no prompt steps to restrain
the directors from issuing the stock or receiving pay therefor.
They did nothing for three months; they knew of the financial
difficulties of the company growing out of its connection with
the Cuyahoga Savings & Banking Company, which failed just
at that time, but they did nothing to help the company out, did
not offer to take stock, stood by and let the defendants use their
own money and after the company had finally been put upon its
feet again, they at last determined, not that they wanted part
of said shares, but that they did not want the subscribers for the
ten shares to keep them, and so they brought suit after three
months inaction. We hold that they were too late to be entitled
to the relief they now ask, in pleadings subsequently filed, that
they have part of said ten shares, and finding nov equities in the
petition, it is dismissed, as are also all cross-petitions, each party
to pay his own costs.
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CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE RURAL SCHOOL ACT.

Court of Appeals for Holmes County.

ALBERT E. CLINE v. OATH MARTIN ET AL.
Decided, December 11, 1915.

Schools—Arrangement of Districts—Discretion of County Board of Edu-
cation Will Not be Interfered With, Unless—Members of the Board
Not County Ofiicers—Constitutionality of the New Act.

1. What is known as the rural school code confers a broad discretion on
the county board of education in the matter of the establishment
of new school districts, and where this is done by attaching four
sub-districts to a village school district a court will not grant re-
lfef to a complaining tax-payer in the absence of a showing of
fraud or an intentional abuse of discretion.

2. There is nothing in the evidence submitted in the case under con-
sideration which would indicate an abuse of discretion on the part
of the county board, and the court would not be justified in limiting
by construction the discretion so exercised.

3. Faflure of the rural school act to provide for the election of the mem-

+  bers of the county board of education by the people does not render
the act invalid, for the reason that the jurisdiction of members of
the county board is exclusive of territory embraced in any city
school district and they are, therefore, not county officers.

4. Full power is vested in the General Assembly, under Section 3 of
Article VI of the Amended Constitution of September, 1912, to pro-
vide for the organization, administration and control of the public
school system of the state, and the act in question is within the
limits of this power.

Carl Schuler, Prosecuting Attorney, Weygandt & Ross and
W. F. Garver, for plaintiff.
C. H. Workman, George W. Sharp and C. J. Fisher. contra.

Houck, J.

This cause is here on appeal from the Common Pleas Court of
Holmes County. The petition in substance avers:

That the plaintiff is an elector and tax-payer in the school
district in question, and that the defendants claim to be the
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members of the board of education of said district, which is
known as the Nashville Village School District; that the county
board of education of Holmes county, Ohio, on the 3rd day of
December, 1914, attempted to pass a resolution adding certain
territory, amounting to four *‘‘sub-districts,’”’ to the Nashville
Village School District; that the same was done under a pre-
tended authority given under Section 4736 of the General Code
of Ohio (Ohio Laws, Volume 104, page 138) ; that four organ-
ized ‘‘sub-district’’ schools with an attendance of more than
twelve pupils each were thereby discontinued ; that said children
as a result were transported in wagons to said Nashville school,
which was a great inconvenience to said pupils so transported:
that the defendants are about to issue and sell bonds in the sum
of $18,000 for the erection of a school building in the said Nash-
ville Village School Distriet: that said ecounty board of educa-
tion is without authority to change the lines of said district; that
said Section 4736 of the General Code and related sections there-
to are in contravention of and repugnant to Sections 1 and 2 of
the Constitution of Ohio. Wherefore plaintiff prays for injunc-
tion, and that said sections of the ‘‘ New School Law of Ohio’’ be
declared unconstitutional and null and void.

The defendants filed an answer, making certain admissions
therein, but in substance being a general denial.

The plaintiff relies upon the following grounds for the relief
prayed for in his petition:

First. That the resolution passed hy the county hoard of edu-
cation was not sufficient to give to it jurisdiction, if it had juris-
diction over the subject matter.

Second. That said county board of education was without au-
thority to do what it attempted to do, and had no jurisdiction to
do so, and its acts therefore are null and void.

Third. That there was an abuse of discretion, on the part of
said county board of education, hecause the schools were not ar-
ranged 80 as to be most easily accessible to the pupils.

Fourth. That Section 4736, General Code. and kindred sec-
tions thereto (Ohip Laws, Vol, 104, page 138), are unconstitu-
tional,
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We are aware of the importance of the present case, and that
several of the questions here presented are now, for the first
time, before an appellate court in Ohio. What is denominated
the “‘Rural School Code,’’ being the act of February 5th, 1914,
and which is a radical departure in many respects, so far as
school legislation is concerned, is now attacked. The sections of
the act involved in this proceeding are found in Volume 104,
pages 136 and 138, Ohio Laws, and are as follows:

‘‘Section 4728. Each county school district shall be under the
supervision and control of a county board of education composed
of five members who shall be elected by the presidents of village
and rural boards of education in such county school district.
Each district shall have one vote in the election of members of
the county board of education except as is provided in Section
4728-1. At least one member of the county board of education
shall be a resident of a village school district if such district is
located in the county school district and at least three members
of such board shall be residents of rural school districts, but not
more than one member of the county board of education shall
reside in any one village or rural school district within the
county school distriet.

‘‘Section 4728-1. All school districts other than village and
city school districts within a civil township shall be jointly en-
titled to one vote in the election of members of the county board
of education. The presidents of the board of education of all
such districts in a civil township shall meet for the purpose of
choosing one from their number to cast the vote for members of
the county board of education.”” * * *

““‘Section 4729. On the second Saturday in June, 1914, the
presidents of the boards of education of the various village and
rural school districts in each county school district shall meet
and elect the five members of the county board of education, one
for one year, one for two years, one for three years, one for four
vears and one for five years, and until their successors are elected
and qualified.”” * * *

‘‘Section 4735. The present existing township and special
school districts shall constitute rural school districts until
changed by the county board of education, and all officers and
members of boards of education of such existing districts shall
continue to hold and exercise their respective offices and powers
vntil their terms expire and until their successors are elected
and qualified.”’
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‘‘Section 4736. The county board of education shall as soon
as possible after organizing make a survey of its district. The
board shall arrange the schools according to topography and
population in order that they may be most easily accessible to
rupils. To this end the county board shall have power by resolu-
tion at any regular or special meeting to change school distriet
lines and transfer territory from one rural or village school dis-
trict to another. A map designating such changes shall be en-
tered on the records of the board and a copy of the resolution
and map shall be filed with the county auditor. In changing
boundary lines the board may proceed without regard to town-
ship lines and shall providc ‘hat adjoining rural districts are as
r-early equal as possible in property valuation. In no case shall
#ny rural district he created containing less than fiftern square
niiles.”’

Coming now to the first claim of plaintiff: was the resolution
fixing the lines of the district in question sufficient, and did it
fully comply with the requirements of Section 4736, General
(ode? We have examined. the resolution, and we are of the
opinion that it fully complies with the requirements and pro-
visions of said statute, and that said county board of education
had jurisdiction of the subject matter, and that it was fully au-
thorized to adopt the resolution, and that it contains, in sub-
stance and in fact, all of the necessary things required by said
statute.

As to the second claim of the plaintiff, that the county bhoard
of education was without authority to create the mew distriet.
let us examine the language of the statute as found in Section
4736: ““To this end the county board shall have power by reso-
lution at any regualr or special meeting to change school district
lines and transfer territory from one rural or village school dis-
trict to another.”

In the present case four ‘‘sub-districts’’ as they originally
cxisted were attached to the Nashville Village School Distriet.
Could any language be more plain and explicit than the ahove in
giving the hoard authority to do just what it did in the prem-
ises? Certainly not. Tt provides for the changing of lines and
the transfer of territory from one rural or village distriet tn
another—just what was done by the county hoard in this case.
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when it transferred the four ‘‘sub-districts’’ as they originally
existed to the Nashville Village School District. Sub-distriets
not being provided for in the act of February 5th, 1914. do not
now exist, and it was only the territory that was bounded by the
‘‘sub-districts’’ as they formerly were that was annexed.

‘We do not think that the county board is limited in its right
to arrange districts, by simply taking the territory from one
rural district and adding to another. We feel that the statute is
broad enough and gives to the county board authority to take
territory from a rural district and attach it to a village district.

It is contended that Nashville is not a village district, and
therefore the territory in the ‘‘sub-districts’’ could not legally
be attached. We do not think it necessary for the proper solu-
tion of this question to determine whether it was or was not a
village district, hecause under the provisions of Section 4736 it
is immaterial, for the reason that it was tcrritory that could be
attached as provided and contemplated therein.

The third contention of plaintiff is that the county board of
education did not arrange the schools as to topography and popu-
lation, so as to make them most easily accessible to the pupils in
said territory, and thereby abused its discretion.

A county board is required to make a survey and prepare a
map of the district, and to arrange the schools according to topo-
graphy and population, and in such a manner as that they be
most accessible to pupils in the district, in order that they may
reach the schools with as little inconvenience as possible; yet the
Legislature certainly intended that a broad discretion be given
the county broad in this particular. The statute nowhere limits
the authority of the county board in this matter, and there is
nothing in the evidvnee submitted to the court that would .indi-
cate an abuse of authority on the part of the county board, and
we do not think that a court would be justified in imposing a
limitation by construction, or in any way interfering with the
acts of such board in arranging the lines of the distriet and
otherwise acting under said provisions of the statute, in the ab-
sence of proof clearly establishing fraud or gross and inten-
tional abuse of diseretion. And not finding in the present case,
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on the part of the county board, any equitable grounds of fraud.
or mistake, and not finding its acts wrongful, fraudulent, collu-
sive or arbitrary. we do not feel that the board abused its dis-
cretion.

We come now to the fourth and last claim made by the plaint-
iff, that said seetions hereinbefore referred to of the ‘‘ New School
Law’’ are unconstitutional, being in conflict with Sections 1 and
2 of Article X; also Seetion 26 of Article IT of the Constitution
of Ohio.

We may now inquire, When is a law in conflict with the Con-
stitution, and under what circumstancey and state of facts
should it be declared unconstitutional ¢

The Legislature is a co-ordinate department of the government.
and as such is invested with certain duties and responsibilities,
and we think in the enactment of laws it is only fair to presume
that it has considered and discussed the constitutionalty of all
measures passed by it, and therefore the unconstitutionality of
the act must be clear or courts will sustain it. Courts may re-
sort to an implication to sustain a statute, but not to destroy it;
and courts can not go beyond the province of legitimate con-
struction in an attempt to save a statute. In other words, where
the language used is clear, and the meaning plain, words can
not be read into it or out of it for that purpose. A statute can
not be declared invalid for the reason that it is unwise, unjust,
unreasonable, or opposed to the spirit of the Constitution; and
unless it violates some express constitutional provision it must
be held valid. While we change, while we alter, while we im-
prove in our material and social life, yet these principles of con-
struction now exist and will continue so until time shall be no
more.

We think this doctrine is well established in this state, and we
need only to cite the case of Probasco v. Raine, Auditor, 50 Ohio
State, page 390, where Judge Burket says:

‘““Whatever may be the rule elsewhere, it is clear that in this
state the validity of an act passed by the Legislature must be
tested alone by the constitution, and that the courts have no
right to nullify a statute upon the ground that it is against pub-
lic policy.




COURT OF APPEALS. 87

1915.] Holmes County.

‘““When the Legislature is silent, the courts may declare the
public policy, and mark out the lines of natural justice; but
when the Legislature has spoken, within its powers conferred by
the Constitution, its duly enacted statutes form the public pol-
icy, and prescribe the rights of the people, and such statutes
must be enforced and not nullified, by the judicial and execu-
tive departments of the state.

‘“When the Legislature, within the powers conferred by the
Constitution, has declared the public policy, and fixed the rights
of the people by statute, the courts can not declare a different
policy, or fix different rights. In this regard the Legislature is
supreme, and the presumption is that it will do no wrong, and
will pass no unjust laws. The remedy, if any is needed, is with
the people and not with the courts.”’

Section 26 of Article IT of the Constitution of Ohio provides:

‘“All laws, of a general nature, shall have a uniform opera-
tion throughout the state, nor shall any act, except such as re-
lates to public schools, be passed, to take effect upon the ap-
proval of any other authority than the General Assembly, ex-
cept as otherwise provided in this Constitution.’’

Section 1 of Article X provides:

‘‘“The General Assembly shall provide, by law, for the elec-
tion of such county and township officers as may be necessary.’’

Section 2 provides:

““County officers shall be elected on the first Tuesday after
the first Monday in November, by the electors of each county, in
such manner and for such term, not exceeding three years, as
may be provided by law.”’

Counsel for plaintiff urge that members of a county board of
education are county officers, and must be elected by the people,
and therefore the sections of the act hereinbefore referred to
contravene the above sections of the Constitution of Ohio. We
have now reached the place in the present case where we are
called upon to pass upon, as well as to determine, who are coun-
ty officers. We are pleased to cite, upon this branch of the case,
the case of State v. Hunt, 84 Ohio State, page 149, where Judge
Spear says:
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**We have not undertaken to enter the field of definition of
the term ‘office’ or ‘officer.” As given in the books they are
multitudinous, not to say multifarious. Indeed, so varied are
they, scattered through the books, that the ingenious barrister
may find support for almost any proposition relating to the gen-
eral subjeet which the necessities of his case may seem to demand.
But, alike maxims of the law, when used indiscriminately and
without judgment, they are apt to mislead. One which seems
to have met with most favor, perhaps, is that an office is a public
position to which a portion of the sovereignty of the country
attaches, and which i8 exercised for the benefit of the public.
And yet, without a satisfactory definition of what is and what
is not ‘the sovereignty of the country’ this definition seems to
‘ail to adequately define, Manifestly, however, each case should
be decided on its peculiar facts, and involves necessarily a con-
sideration of the legislative intent in framing the particular
statute by which the position, whatever it may be, is created.”’

In view of the statement made by the learned judge in the

above opinion, we will proceed in the light of the facts and tne
statute under consideration, and say that 4 county officer is
one whose right, authority and duties are created and conferred
by law, and whose jurisdiction is co-extensive with the county.
If our definition is correct, then and in that event a member of
a county hoard of education is not a county officer, from the
fact that his jurisdiction does not extend over the entire county,
for the reason that city school districts are not included in coun-
ty school districts, but are especially exempted therefrom under
favor of Section 4684 of the General Code, which provides:
‘“Each county, exclusive of the territory embraced in any city
school district, * * * ghall constitute a county school dis-
triet.”” * * * The jurisdiction being a limited one—to a
county school district—which does not include the county as a
whole, it necessarily follows that such position is not within our
definition of a county officer.

In addition to what we have already said concerning the
constitutional question involved in the case at bar, we think that
the entire matter is disposed of by Section 3 of Article VI of
our Amended Constitution of Ohio, as adopted September 3d,
1912, which provides:
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‘‘Provision shall be made by law for the organization, admin-
istration and control of the public school system of the state sup-
ported by public funds; provided, that each school district em-
braced wholly or in part within any city shall have the power
by referendum vote to determine for itself the number of mem-
bers and the organization of the district board of education, and
provision shall be made by law for the exercise of this power by
such districts.”’

1f we give to the language used in the above amendment that
plain meaning which the words and sentences certainly convey,
we can reach but one conclusion, and that is the Legislature had
power and authority to pass an act providing for a school sys-
tem in our state, and that the said constitutional provision so
authorizes. The language is clear, plain, and in no way am-
biguous: ‘‘Provision shall be made by law for the organization,
administration and control of the public school system of the
state supported by public funds.”’

This certainly delegated to and gave full and complete au-
thority and power to the Legislature to pass the school act now
under consideration, and to provide for its organization, admin-
istration and control. It will further be observed that said
amendment especially provides for legislation with reference to
¢ity school districts, and that the Legislature so provided in the
school act hy exempting city school districts from the supervi-
wion and control of county school districts, which is in aceord
with our theory that a member of a county school board is not a
county officer, and that neither the framers of the Constitution
nor the Legislature so intended.

The court is therefore unanimously of the opinion that said
sections of the statute under consideration herein are not uncon-
stitutional, and are not in confliet with or repugnant to the Con-
stitution of Ohio, ar any article or section thereof.

We further find that none of the claims of plaintiff is well
taken, and that he is not entitled to the relief prayed for in his
petition, and the petition is dismissed at the costs of plaintiff.

Judgment accordingly.

SHIELDS, J., and PowELL, J., concur.
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BOY HURT ON FREIGHT ELEVATOR.
Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

Victor Bitryer. s MiNorR AGeD SIXTERN YRaRs, BY His FATHER
ANxD NexTt FRIEXD. EpWARD BITTNER, v. THE DOLLY
VArDEN CHOCOLATE CoMPAXY.®

Decided, February 2, 1915.

Negligence—Freight Elerator With Open Sides—Boy's Foot Caught Be-
tween Eletator and Window ESill—Master Not Liabdle.

Failure to screen a window lighting an elevator shaft does not render
the proprietor liable to a boy whose foot, when projected over the
open side of a freight elevator, was caught and crushed between
the base of the elevator and the window silL

Cowell & Lamping, for plaintiff in error.
Waste & Schindel, contra.

Joxes (Oliver B.), dJ.

The action below was for personal injury to a boy sixteen
years of age, caused by his foot being caught between an elevator
platform and the side of the shaft at the top of a window which
admitted light and air to said shaft.

The only negligence relied upon is that defendant had failed
to comply with the provisions of Paragraph 4, Section 1027,
General Code, which is as follows:

‘““The owners and operators of shops and factories shall make
suitable provisions to prevent injuries to persons who use or
come in contact with machinery therein or any part thereof, as
follows:

* * L * . * < * *

‘“4.  They shall case in all unused openings of elevator shafts
and place automatic gates or floor doors on each floor where en-
{rance to the elevator carriage is obtained. They shall keep
such gates or doors in good repair and examine frequently and
keep in sound condition the ropes, gearing and other yarts of
elevators.’’

sAfirmed by the Supreme Court without opinion November 9, 1915.
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The evidence shows that the elevator in guestion was a freight
elevator operating in a five-story building. It was open in the
back and front for the purpose of admitting freight, and was
closed at the sides, and operated in a shaft which was entirely en-
closed, having doors on an alley and into the storeroom on the
first floor and a door on each of the upper floors, these door
openings being provided with automatic gates and firedoors at
each floor. In each story was an ordinary glass window opening
into the shaft to admit light and air.

Plaintiff’s testimony was to the effect that these glass windows
were each set in a recess about one inch back from the face of the
wall, while defendant, being called for cross-examination by
plaintiff, testified that the tops of these windows were flush with
the wall, but that they were recessed about one inch at the
bottom.

The accident occurred by plaintiff extending his foot beyond
the elevator platform in such way that his heel was caught be-
tween this platform and the top of the window at the front of
the shaft on the second floor. Plaintiff charges an omission of
duty, contrary to the provisions of Section 1027 in the defendant
failing to case or screen in such window. This section is an
amendment of an act passed March 20, 1900, found in 94 O. L.,
42, which required owners and operators of factories and work-
shops to make suitable provisions to prevent injury to persons
who may come in contact with machinery, and such

‘‘provisions shall include * * * the railing in all unused
elcvator openings, the placing of automatic gates or floor doors
and the keeping of same in good condition, on each floor from
which and where on each side or sides, or elevator openings, en-
trance to the elevator carriage is obtained, the frequent exam-
ination and keeping in sound condition of ropes, gearing and
other parts of elevators.’’

From reference to this law it will be seen that the windows in
question in this case were not such ‘‘unused openings’’ as are
referred to in the statute. There is no charge made in the peti-
tion of any negligence on the part of defendant, either in the
construction or the operation of the elevator. Such an accident
might occur in any well constructed freight elevator by a pas-
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*LZeT earc swiy ard negilzenily extending a hand or foot be-
vond tf.= Lire of tte platform in sach way as to be pinched against
the side of tre stafe. or at a 2 'or or window. For similar eases,
we: Commsii v. M7 sr. DyBry & Peters Co.. 19 Bul., 22:
Maiaverneni v. Turncr Comsiructivoa Co.. 126 N. Y. Supp., 303:
Hoechmann v. Miss Engineeriag Co. 23 \X. Y. Supp.. 787, 791;
McDonsld v. Dutt-on, 1% Mass_. 371: RBoberts v. Sanitas Nut Co.,
142 Mieh_, 589.

In the opinion of tk: ~wurt it was not error in the trial court
to direet a verdict for defendant. as was done. and the jude-
ment is therefore affirmed.

Jones ‘E. H. . J.. and GoryMax. J.. coneur.

LIABLITY FOR GOODS LOST BY FRE WHILE IN
TRANSIT BY RAL.

Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

THE HCENEFELD CoMPANY v. THE CHESAPRAKE & OHIO
Ranway CoMPaxy.

Decided, March 135, 1915.

Railways—Prorision of Bill of Lading Exempting Carricr from Lia-
bility—WRere Fire Oc-urs Without Its Faull—Testimony Required
to S8Row the Company was without Fault.

In an action against a railway company to recover the value of goods
destroved by fire, after being billed for shipment, where the bill
of lading exempts the carrier from liability for loss occurring by
fire without its fault, after the non-delivery of the goods is shown
the duty rests upon the carrier to show that the loss was within
the terms of the exception and occurred without its fault; and
this principle is applicable although the fire originated on the
premises of the plaintiff.

Charles A. J. Walker, for plaintiff in error.
Galvin & Galvin and E. JJ. Tracy, contra.

RicrARDS, J.
Aection was brought against the railway company for the pur-
pose of recovering the value of a car-load of washing machines
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which had been shipped by the plaintiff and were destroyed by
fire. The goods were billed to,the Bostwick-Braun Company,
Toledo, Ohio, and were shipped from the factory of the plaintiff
company situated at Augusta, Kentucky. Whatever rights, if
any, the consignee had to recover for the loss of the goods, have
been assigned to the plaintiff.

An empty car had been left on January 28, 1906, on a spur
track of the railway company extending back something more
than 900 feet, to the plant of the plaintiff. Plaintiff proceeded
to load the car with the goods, completing the same about five
o’clock p. M. on January 29, 1906, and upon the completion of the
Joading a bill of lading was made out and signed by the agent
of the railway company and the company informed that the ear
was ready to be forwarded to destination. During the night of
January 29th the car and its contents were destroyed by a fire
originating in the plant of the plaintiff, the same fire also destroy-
ing two car loads of ties, the property of the railway company,
standing on the same siding.

On the trial of the case the plaintiff introduced in evidence the
bill of lading, which contained a clause, in substance exempting
the railway company from liability for loss occurring by fire
without its fault. .The railway company offered no evidence, and
at the conclusion of the evidence offered on behalf of the plaintiff
the court directed the jury to return a verdict in favor of the
defendant, on which verdict so returned judgment has been en-
tered.

No question is made as to the knowledge of the plaintiff of
the terms of the limitation contained in the bill of lading, and
it is said, in justification of the ruling made by the trial judge,
that the evidence offered by the plaintiff shows the origin of the
fire to have been on the plaintiff’s property, and that the record .
contains no evidence of any negligence on the part of the rail-
way company. The evidence contained in the record is very
meager, the only material facts on this matter being that the
fire occurred on the same night that the car was loaded, and
while it still remained on the spur, and that it was in a small
village, not a terminal point of the railway company. It may be
true that, when it appears the fire originated on the property
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or in the plant of the plaintiff, the law under such circumstances
would imply that the fire originated without fault of the railway
company, but the mere origin of the fire is not the only fact which
is important in this case. It does not appear what length of time
the fire continued to burn, nor at what time of the night the
property in question was destroyed. Whether the railway com-
pany had any knowledge of the existence of the fire, or whether it
had any facilities for removing the car from the zone of danger,
does not appear; neither does it appear whether the railway
company had any grounds to anticipate that a fire was likely to
oceur.

‘We think, under the circumstances stated, the plaintiff had
made a prima facie case and the duty rested on the railway
company to offer some evidence tending to show that the loss
occurred without any fault on its part at the time of the fire. It
would be an easy matter to show whether the company or its em-
ployees had knowledge of the fire and, if such was the fact, that
it was without fault in allowing the car to remain in a place of
danger after the fire started.

The case was disposed of on a matter of practice and the Ohio
rule appears to be well stated in the case of Graham v. Datis,
4 0.8, 362. .

See also, Union Express Co. v. Graham, 26 O. S., 595; Penna.
Co. v. Yoder, 1 C.C.(N.S.), 283.

These cases establish the Ohio rule to be that the duty rests
on the common carrier to show not only that the loss was within
the terms of the exception, but that the same occurred without
its fault. The plaintiff’s evidence having established that the
loss occurred by fire, it became incumbent on the defendant to
show the destruction of the goods did not result from its negli-
gence. The trial court, under the circumstances shown, was not
justified in directing a verdict for the defendant, because it
could not be said, as a matter of law, that the defendant was
without fault. The (uestion depends upon the circumstances
existing at the time. While the burden of proof did not change,
vet the plaintiff having offered the evidence which appears in the
record, the duty then rested on the defendant to go forward
with the case by offering such evidence as it had tending to
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show that it was without fault for the loss of the goods shipped.

Under the federal authorities the burden rests on the carrier
to show that the damage resulted from a cause excepted in the
bill of lading, and, after that proof, the burden is then on the
plaintiff to show that the loss oceurred by the negligence of the
carrier. See Cau v. Texas & Pacific Ry. Co., 194 U. S., 427. But
the case on this matter we hold to be controlled by the rulings of
the courts of the state where the action is brought. The case
last cited is based on Clark v. Barnwell, 12 How., 272, which was
justly eriticised by Judge Ranney in Graham v. Davis, 4 O. S.,
372, cited supra, and which the Supreme Court of Ohio expressly
declined to follow.

The judgment will be reversed and the cause remanded for
new trial.

CHITTENDEN, J., and KINKADE, J., concur.

ADMINISTRATOR WITHOUT INTEREST IN ANNUITY BONDS.
Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

MARK A. CRAWFORD, ADMINISTRATOR, V. THE FOREIGN CHRISTIAN
MissioNARY SOCIETY; AND MARK A. CRAWFORD, ADMINIS-
TRATOR, V. THE AMERICAN CHRISTIAN MISSIONARY SOCIETY.

Decided, March 8, 1915.

@ifts—Donations to a Religious Society—Evidenced by Bonds Upon
Which Annuities Were Paid—Held to Have Been Ezecuted Gifts.

Donations made by the decedent to the defendant society, receipted
for by papers denominated annuity bonds and which recite that
such donations are executed gifts to the society and are to belong
to such society from the date thereof without any account or lia-
bility therefor, and which contain an agreement to pay an an-
nuity to the donor during his lifetime, and such annuities being
paid to the time of the donor’s death, are in fact executed gifts
in which the administrator of the donor has no interest.

W. C. Lambert and Guy W. Wallon, for plaintiff in error.
Galvin € Galvin and II. A. Bayless, contra.
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CHITTENDEN, J.

Plaintiff below, Mark A. Crawford, as administrator of the es-
tate of John F. Davis, deceased, began suit in each case to re-
cover an amount of money which it was alleged the defendant
had received for the benefit of the deceased or his estate. The
defendants are religious organizations formed for the purpose of
promoting the Christian religion.

It appears that at various times from 1897 to 1909, Mr. Davis
had given various sums to these organizations, amounting in the
aggregate to more than $30,000. Upon receipt of a given
amount the societies issned to him a paper denominated an annu-
ity bond. These bonds, in substance, recite that Mr. Davis had
donated to and paid into the treasury of the society a specified
amount of money, and recite that such sum so donated by him
is to be considered as an executed gift to said society and to be-
long to said society from this date, without any acecount or lia-
hility therefor. It is further provided in the bonds that the so-
ciety should pay an annuity of a given amount, in semi-annual
payments, such payments to cease upon the death of the donor.
These annuities ranged from four to six per cent. on the amount
of the donation.

‘Without undertaking to discuss in detail the interesting argu-
ments of counsel, we will state that it is our conclusion that the
transaction constituted an executed gift, and that the paper is-
sued by the society and denominated an annuity bond is a com-
plete and specific declaration that it is a completed and executed
zift. Such paper not only constitutes a declaration on the part
of the society that it is receiving the money as a gift, but it is
likewise a declaration upon the part of the donor who accepted
these honds and retained them during his lifetime. Whether the
agreement upon the part of the society to pay the annuities counld
have been enforced by the donor, need not here be considered, be-
cause the societies did in fact pay to the donor such annuities
until the time of his death.

Entertaining the views above announced, it follows that the
judgments should be, and the same are hereby affirmed.

RicuArDps, J., and KINKADE, J., concur.
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NEGLIGENCE IN PLACING A LOAN.
Court of Appeals for Holmes County.

ROBERT S. TORBET v. NORA YOUNG.

Decided, November 1, 1915.

Waiver by Silence of Trial to Jury—Loan Placed on Property to Which
Deed Had Been Forged—Agent Acting Without Pay and Claiming
to Have Been Duly Diligent—Held to Have Been Negligent and
Held Liable to the Owner of the Funds.

1. Where so far as the record discloses, a party sat by in silence and
permitted an action for money only to be tried without the inter-
vention of a jury without interposing an objection thereto, he is es-
topped from complaining for the first time in a court of review
that he was prejudiced thereby.

2. An agent or bailee, serving without pay, made a loan on farm prop-
erty to a stranger the title-whereof was shown by an abstract to be
perfect in the grantor of the borrower, who exhibited an unrecorded
deed to the property which was placed on record before the loan
was consummated. The deed proved to be a forgery, and the owner
of the funds loaned brought an action against the party who acted
for her in making the loan for the amount of her loss. Held:

The making of the loan to a stranger, without further inquiry than as
to the validity of the title in his grantor, was gross negligence. and
plaintiff is entitled to judgment for the full amount of the loss.

Taggart «& Ross and N. Stilwell, for plaintiff in error.
C. R. Cary, contra.

Houck, J.

This is a proceeding in error seeking to reverse a judgment
of the court below in a suit in which the present defendant in
error, Nora Young, was plaintiff, and the plaintiff in error,
Robert S. Torbet, was defendant. The petition of the plaintiff
below is as follows:

‘“Plaintiff in her petition avers that some time prior to the
14th day of October, 1910, the defendant was employed as the
agent of plaintiff to obtain and make for plaintiff safe loans
secured by mortgage on real estate of which plaintiff had knowl-
edge, in the vicinity of defendant’s home in Ripley township,
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Holmes county, Ohio, and on or about September 12th, 1910,
the defendant received from plaintiff about $2,800 in money
to be held by him in trust for plaintiff, and to be used by defend-
ant for said purposes, and for no other purpose; that defend-
ant has failed and refused to comply with and carry out the
terms and conditions of said agency and trust, and refused to
account for said money on demand, and prays for an accounting
and for judgment for the amount found to be due, and for other
relief, and for costs.”’

The defendant below filed an answer setting forth two de-
fenses, the first defense being a general denial and the second
defense being in substance as follows:

““That on or about September 10th, 1910, and for a long
time prior thereto he received from plaintiff divers sums of
money and at her request made loans and investments in her
name; that on or about September 12th, 1910, he received
$2,800 for said plaintiff, and informed her of the fact, and at
her request retained said money, to_be loaned and invested for
her; that he loaned said money to one William Hoover, who
represented himself to be the owner of a farm of ninety-seven
acres situated near the village of Dalton in Wayne county, Ohio;
that. Foover exccuted his promissory note for $2,800 with in-
terest at six and one-half per cent. due in three years, and his
mortgage deed conveying said farm to plaintiff to secure said
note, and delivered said note and mortgage to defendant, and
that said defendant placed said note and mortgage with other
papers and evidences of indebtedness belonging to plaintiff.
which were deposited in the Farmers Bank at Shreve, Ohio;
that all of said defendant’s acts relating to the loaning of said
money were in good faith, without compensation and wholly
gratuitous, and that in all of his acts pertaining thereto he exer-
cised reasonable care and prudence.’”’

The answer further alleges, and in detail, that notwithstand-
ing the fact that it was afterwards learned that the deed to
said ninety-seven acre farm upon which said $2,800 loan was
made had been forged by said Hoover, and although Hoover
.had not the legal title to said farm, yet said loan having been
made in good faith, and he (Torbet) having exercised reason-
able care and prudence, prays to go hence without day.

A reply in the nature of a general denial was filed by plaint-
iff below to this answer, and upon the issue joined the case
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was submitted to the court upon the evidence, without the in-
tervention of a jury. The record is silent as to anything relat-
ing to the submission of the cause to a jury. The court found
for the plaintiff below in the sum of $2,800, with interest from
October 14th, 1910. The plaintiff in error seeks a reversal of
this judgment upon two grounds: first, that the cause being
one triable to a jury the court below erred in permitting the
same to be tried without the intervention of a jury; second,
that the judgment is manifestly against the weight of the evi-
dence and is contrary to law.

Proceeding now to the alleged errors, let us first determine
whether or not the action at bar is for the recovery of money
only. This must be determined from the language of the peti-
tion and the relief sought therein. Without discussing the
question we think the allegations of the petition constitute a
cause of action for the recovery of money only and therefore
is triable to a jury. Having arrived at this conclusion, the
next inquiry is: Have the rights of the plaintiff in error been
prejudiced by the court trying the case and rendering a judg-
ment without a jury having been first waived? The record
shows that both parties appeared and without objection or
question as to the right of the court to try and determine the
cause submitted the same to the court, and the first objection
in that regard is made in this court. No question is made here
that the court below was, without jurisdiction to hear and de-
termine the rights between the parties, but it is claimed that
being an issue triable by jury that it could not be tried by the
court without a waiver by the parties of a jury, and there being
no waiver by the parties of record the judgment should be re-
versed.

So far as appears from the record here presented the defend-
ant below preferred to have the case tried to the court and not
submitted to a jury; he made no demand for a jury trial; he
sat by in silence and permitted a trial to the court without in-
terposing any objection thereto, and made none until after the
issues were found against him, and he certainly is now estopped
from making any such elaim. We think the rule of law here
laid down is well established in Ohio, and we need refer to but
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two cases; Bonewstz v. Bonewitz, 50 O. S., 377-378, where the
court say:

‘“To submit a case to a court is an affirmative act; it is to
ask the court to hear the evidence, consider it and apply the
law. What more potent consent could be given than this? A
jury was not demanded because in all probability the counsel
and the court alike regarded it as a court and not a jury case.
* ¢ * But actions sometimes speak louder than words. It
was not until after the court had found and adjudged against
the defendant that he discovered he had been prejudiced by
not having his case tried to a jury. His objection to the mode
of trial we think comes too late; to sustain his claim would seem
to be trifling with justice. He proceeded to trial, without ob-
jection, to a court having jurisdiction of the parties and capa-
ble of heing clothed with jurisdiction of the subject-matter
for all purposes, taking his chances on a favorable result, and
can not, now that the chance is turned against him, be heard to
question the authority of the tribunal to which he consented
to submit his cause.’’

And also the case of Lingler v. Wesco, 79 O. S., 243, where
the court say:

‘‘Therefore it appears that no one objected to the court hear-
ing the evidence and passing on it. No one asked for a jury,
but the parties proceeded with the submission of the case. The
condition of the record here warrants the use of the rule estab-
lished in Boneuutz v. Bonewitz, 50 Ohio State, page 373.
A party may waive his right to a jury trial by acts as well as
by words.”’

Coming now to the second ground of alleged error, namely:
Is the judgment manifestly against the weight of the evidence
and contrary to law? Counsel for plaintiff in error contend
that the said plaintiff in error occupied the position of agent
or bailee of the defendant in error, without pay, and being a
gratuitous agent or bailee could only be held liable for acts
of gross negligence. Admitting that to be the law, do the facts
in the case at bar as disclosed by the record, and applying
thereto the well established elements necessary to constitute
gross negligence, warrant the finding of this court that the
plaintiff in error was guilty of gross negligence; or did he, un-
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der all the circumstances and surroundings, act and do in the
premises and exercise such care as a person of common pru-
dence should have done? Counsel for plaintiff in error inquire,
‘““What could Torbet have done that he did not do to be more
careful in negotiating this loan? He was informed by Judge
Weiser of the character and value of the land; he acquired
an abstract of title which showed the title to be perfect; he
insisted that the abstract be made by attorneys in whom he
had confidence and who had been attorneys for Mrs. Young
in her claims and partition suit; he saw the note and mortgage
signed; took it to the recorder’s office and had it recorded;
saw that Hoover had the deed transferred at the anditor’s office
and duly recorded, and retained the abstract in his possession,
placing the note with the rest of Mrs. Young’s papers.’’

We think these inquiries would be pertinent if the loan that
Torbet was about to make for Mrs. Young was being made to
the Mosers, the alleged grantors in the deed to Hoover, but the
loan was being made to Hoover, and it seems to the court that
the real foundation or basis of the loan was the strength of the
title in William Hoover. The loan was being made to him, and
Torbet’s inquiries and investigations should have at least been
directed as to the title in Hoover. Hoover was a perfect
stranger, and we might ask, What inquiry did Torbet make as
to him? Not any! What inquiry, if any, did any of the per-
sons in interest make as to the standing, honesty or integrity
of William Hoover? -Not any! A stranger, unknown to Torbet
or any one connected with the transaction, was entrusted with
the duty of seeing that the deed from Moser to him was prop-
erly executed—which afterwards proved to be a forgery!
Hoover stated that he was a widower, and without any inquiry
on the part of Torbet to ascertain as to the truthfulness or un-
truthfulness of that statement he was permitted to sign the
mortgage alone, and received the $2,800 from Torbet. Without
any acquaintance with or knowledge of Hoover on the part of
Torbet prior to this transaction, he assigned the $2,800 certifi-
cate of deposit over to him, and at least stood by and saw him
receive the money from the bank on this certificate of deposit.
All of this was done with a stranger; no one had recommended
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him to Torbet, and so far as the record shows he made no in-
quiry concerning Hoover. What inquiry did Torbet make of
the grantors in the deed, or of the witnesses to it, or of the
notary who was reputed to have acknowledged it? Not any!
In the face of these facts can it be properly claimed that plaint-
iff in error exercised that care and prudence required of a
gratuitous agent or bailee? Certainly not. What constitutes
gross negligence has been defined by our Supreme Court in the
case of Johnson v. State, 66 O. S., 67-68, where the court say:

‘‘Negligence may consist of acts of omission as well as com-
mission, and what may be mere ordinary negligence under one
class of circumstances and conditions may become gross negli-
gence under other conditions and circumstances. Negligence
is the failure to exercise ordinary care. Gross negligence may
consist in failure to exercise any or very slight care. There
are other definitions, but these are sufficient now for our pur-
pose, so0 we may truly say that negligence differs only in degree.
With this we can not overlook what experience has taught for
many years: that what may seem ordinary negligence when
contemplated by one mind may be regarded by another as very
gross negligence. The inferences drawn from the same facts
by different minds may often greatly differ.’’

e Applying this rule of negligence to the facts in the present
case the plaintiff in error was certainly guilty of such negligent
acts of omission as well as commission as would not justify a
reversal of the judgment below. We think the claim made by
the plaintiff in error is untenable, and finding no error in the
record prejudicial to the rights of plaintiff in error the judg-
ment of the common pleas court is affirmed.

SHIELDS, J., and PowELL, J., concur.
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INVALID GIFT BY AN AGED WOMAN.
Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

ANNIE LAws AND ALICE LAws v. JaAMES M. MORLEY ET AL, AD-
MINISTRATORS OF ELLEN LEHANE, DECEASED.

Decided, December 13, 1915.

Action for Recovery of Corporate Stock—Validity of Gift of, Denicd—
Contractual and Testamentary Capacity Distinguished.

1. An action for recovery of the value of corporate stock, received by
the defendant as a gift from one alleged to have heen incompetent
by reason of senility, is an action for the recovery of money only
where the stock has been transferred by the donee.

2. It i8 not error to permit, during trial, an amendment which elimi-
nates a charge of fraud and substitutes therefor a charge of undue
influence; particularly where the jury subsequently found that the
decedent (the donor) was of unsound mind but that no undue in-

- fluence was exerted; nor is it error to refuse a continuance be-
cause of such an amendment.

3. Contractual rather than testamentary capacity is required to uphold
a gift of corporate stock, made by an aged woman without immedi-
ate prospect of death and rendered immediately effective by as-
signment and delivery.

DeCamp & Suiphin, for plaintiffs in error.
Horstman & Horstman, contra.

Jones (Oliver B.), J.

The action under review in these proceedings was brought in
the common pleas court by defendants in error, who were plaint-
iffs below, as the administrators of Ellen Lehane, deceased,
against plaintiffs in error, who were defendants below, to re-
cover the value of twenty-seven shares of preferred stock in
the Procter & Gamble Company, which had been transferred by
her without consideration to one of the defendants for the bene-
fit of both, five days before her death.

Ellen Lehane had been employed as a servant in the household
of their parents from the time defendants were small children
and after their parents’ death remained with them in the same
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capacity continuously until defendants removed from their old
homestead on Dayton street into a new home upon the hill,
when Miss Lehane, then seventy-five years of age, concluded to
give up active work, and secured quarters with friends or rela-
tives, living thus upon her income for a period of about five
years, during the remainder of her life. She had lived as a
faithful servant in defendants’ family for a period, in all, of
forty-three years.

While her wages were small, she was frugal in her habits, was

under little expense, and had carefully saved, depositing money
" from time to time in a savings bank, from 1895 up to the time
of her death. Her accumulations thus made were invested partly
in the Procter & Gamble stock in question in this case, which
was purchased about the time of the organization of that com-
pany in 1890, and partly in stock of the American Sugar Refin-
ing Company and American Locomotive Company, which was
purchased in parcels from time to time, in 1907 and previous
thereto. These investments were made with the advice and
assistance of the brother of the defendants.

While Ellen Lehane was living with defendants and their
family her relations with them were of an intimate and friendly
character. The defendants were looked upon by her as confi-
dential friends and advisers and they continued in that relation
up to the time of her death, looking after her personal comfort
and assisting her in her business matters. She could neither
- read nor write; she signed her name with a mark. One of the
defendants would draw checks for her on her account in the
savings bank and would collect the dividends on her stocks, -
bringing her the cash for them. They arranged for a telephone
in her room so they could converse with her at will, and by
means of which she could reach them whenever she wished to
or needed their assistance. They called upon her at her room
from time to time, and frequently made her little presents.

Ellen Lehane had never married, and she had no brothers
or sisters living at the time she left the service of the defend-
ants, but she had numerous relatives, descendants of deceased
sisters, with whom she was on good terms, and especially one
nephew of whom she was quite proud, the Reverend P. P. Crane,




COURT OF APPEALS. 106

1915.] Hamilton County.

a Catholic priest who lived in St. Louis, and Mrs. May Som-
mers Soards, a grand-niece, of whom she was quite fond, and
with whom she lived for a time, and who remained attentive to
her up to the time of her death.

The stocks which constituted the small fortune of Ellen Le-
hane were at her request kept for her by the brother of the de-
fendants in his safe deposit box. At a meeting in his office in
1907, when Mr. Laws and Miss Annie Laws were present with
Ellen Lehane, she executed assignment blanks assigning all
the sugar and locomotive stock to her nephew, Father P. P.
Crane. The transfer of this stock was not then made, but the
stock and the assignments were left with Mr. Laws to give to
Father Crane at her death, and no change was made as to the
dividends which were to continue to be paid to her during her
lifetime, to live upon. These assignments were kept by Mr.
Laws until after her death, when he sent them to the respective
companies and had new certificates made in the name of Father
Crane and delivered them to him as hereinafter stated.

On Monday morning, October 28, 1912, May Sommers Soards
vigited her aunt at her home and found her prepared to go out
with one of the defendants to Mr. Law’s office, but learning that
she did not feel well, Mrs. Soards at her request telephoned Miss
Laws and postponed the trip until the next day. On the follow-
ing day, Tuesday, at about ten o’clock Miss Alice Laws called
at the Phelan home where Ellen Lehane then lived, at Broadway
and New street, and together they walked to Mr. Law’s office in
the First National Bank Building at Fourth and Walnut streets.
There they met Mr. Laws in his private office where, he says,
he was told by Ellen Lehane that she desired to give her Procter
& Gamble stock to ‘‘her girls,”’ as she called the defendants,
that they had been kind to her and she wished to return their
kindness. He says he told her that if she gave it to them she
should ‘‘give it to them out and out, without any strings to it,”’
and she said that was what she wanted to do. Thereupon he
sent his son, who was in the office, to the safe deposit box for the
certificate of stock, and had his bookkeeper, Mr. Muller, prepare
an assignment of the stock. At the suggestion of Mr. Laws that
the transfer should not be made to both but to Annie Laws alone,
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it being understood that she would hold it for her sister and her-
self, it was drawn to Annie Laws. This assignment was then
signed by the name of Ellen Lehane, who made her mark, which
was witnessed by Mr. Muller and Harry L. Laws and by Miss
Alice Laws, and the paper was left in the hands of defendants’
brother.

Miss Alice Laws and Ellen Lehane then returned, walking
back to Ellen’s home, where Alice left her at the foot of the
stairs. Mrs. Phelan seeing her come, assisted her upstairs and,
finding her in a state of collapse, put her to bed and gave her
stimulants. She was about the house the rest of the week, suffer-
ing from a cold,-until Saturday, when she consented to have
a doctor called. The doctor found her suffering from a rheu-
matic and bronchial condition, of which she had been complain-
ing for some five or six weeks, and he prescribed for her. She
was found dead in bed Sunday morning, November 3. The doc-
tor testified that ‘‘the indirect cause of her death was a senile
degeneration of all of her organs, that is, her heart and lungs.”’

Miss Annie Laws, who had called and seen her on Thursday,
was notified at once of her death by Mrs. Phelan, and she came
and took charge of affairs and made the necessary funeral ar-
rangements, sending for Father Crane, who came on from St.
Louis and performed the churceh services.

Upon the request of Miss Annie Laws Father Crane came to
Cincinnati December 2, 1912, and met her and her brother, and
was told by them of the transfer to him of the sugar and loco-
motive stocks, the new certificates for which in his name were
then delivered to him. On his inquiry in regard to Proecter &
Gamble stock there is a conflict of testimony, Father Crane say-
ing that Mr. Laws told him it had been sold by him years ago
to invest the money in these stocks, while Mr. Laws testified
that he told Father Crane that Ellen had disposed of the stock
before her death, without giving him any of the particulars as
to how or when she had disposed of it.

The certificate for the twenty-seven shares of Procter &
Gamble stock, together with the assignment to Annie Laws, was
sent by Harry L. Laws, through his broker, for transfer on
Thursday, October 31, 1912, and it was transferred to Annie
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Laws. It was sold by her brother for her December 16, 1912,
for $190 per share, and the proceeds were placed by Harry L.
Laws in an account to the credit of ‘‘ Alice Laws, Special.”’

On December 16, 1912, a letter was written by the attorneys of
the plaintiffs below to Miss Annie Laws advising her that they
had been appointed administrators of Ellen Lehane’s estate
and asking for information regarding it. She responded with
a letter referring them to Father Crane for such information.
Thereupon proceedings were had in the probate court for a cita-
tion against Annie Laws and Harry Laws to appear and disclose
to the court their knowledge concerning the property and effects
of Ellen Lehane’s estate. Learning, as a result of this citation,
of the transfer of this stock, plaintiffs brought this action, which
resulted in a verdiet and judgment in their favor.

The original petition, setting out but one cause of action, was
for the recovery of the value of this stock. While two causes
of action were set out in the fourth amended petition, on which
the trial was had, it was alleged that the defendants had sold
the stock and had appropriated its proceeds to their own use.
There could be, therefore, no relief obtained by setting aside
the transfer, or seeking to recover the stock itself. It was ap
action for money, the value of property which defendants claimed
had been given to them, but the validity of which gift was de-
nied by plaintiffs upon two grounds: first, because of unsound-
ness of mind on the part of their intestate; second, because of
undue influence on the part of defendants.

It was not necessary to set out two causes of action. The pri-
mary demand was for the recovery of money only, as was held
by this court in dismissing the appeal sought to be taken from
this judgment.

Nor was it improper in the trial court to permit an amendment
of the petition during the trial by the elimination of the charge
of fraud as a ground of recovery and substituting the charge
of undue influence, nor was it error to refuse a continuance be-
cause of that amendment. Any possible error because of this
amendment is removed by the answers given by the jury to the
interrogatories submitted at the request of defendants. By these
answers the jury found that at the time of the alleged gift the
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decedent was of unsound mind, but that no undue influence had
been exercised upon her by the defendants.

The judgment is therefore based upon the finding that dece-
dent was of unsound mind, and many of the errors claimed by
defendants in error in regard to the matter of undue influence
are thus necessarily eliminated from consideration.

It is contended that the court erred in its general charge, in
discussing the issue of unsound mind. Plaintiffs in error insist
that decedent must be required to have merely testamentary
capacity at the time of the execution of the assignment of this
stock in order to perfect it as a valid gift.

It is true that a person may lack capacity for the transaction
of ordinary business, and lack contractual capacity, and yet may
have testamentary capacity (Wadsworth v. Purdy, 12 C.C.
IN.S.], 8, 12). A less degree of mental capacity is required to
make a will than to make a contract or to transact ordinary busi-
ness involving a contest of reason, judgment, experience and the
exercise of mental powers not at all necessary to the testamentary
disposition of property (Rowcliffe v. Belse, 261 Ill., 566, 573). It
is, however, doubtful whether mere testamentary capacity would
be sufficient to sustain a gift such as is claimed here. A will
disposes of property to take effect only after death. It can be
revoked at any time by the testator up to the time of his death.
But a gift such as this, once made, is irrevocable by the donor
alone, without the consent of the donee. It was not made to
take effect at death, but was to be operative at once. It would
divest Ellen Lehane of all of her property except merely the in-
come of the stock to be given to Father Crane at her death, which
also she had reserved no right to sell or recover back. She made
no condition to retain the income until death, as to this stock.
but simply relied upon a general understanding that the Misses
Laws would look after and supply her wants without any defi-
nite obligation on their part in return for the gift. While she
was old, she had no immediate prospect of death, but might
have lived for years. Under these circumstances it would re-
quire a contractual rather than testamentary capacity to uphold
such a gift.

The part of the charge particularly objected to by plaintiffs
in error, in which the court says that
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—*‘‘the jury would be wa'rranted in finding Ellen Lehane
of unsound mind’’—

when the purported gift was executed, if she was then

—*‘so far incapable of acting rationally in the ordinary affairs
of life and of comprehending the nature and value of her prop-
erty as to be incapable of transacting or procuring to be trans-
acted ordinary business, and of reasonably understanding the
business or transactions in which she engaged as to the nature,
purpose, effect or result, and did not act rationally in the ordi-
nary affairs of life’”’—

taken in connection with the finding of the jury that she was .
then of unsound mind, would indicate a greater degree of in-
capacity found by the jury than was deemed necessary by plaint-
iffs in error to invalidate the gift.

‘While the charge may be subject to criticism as to certain inde-
pendent paragraphs when taken alone, taken as a whole, as it
must be, we find §t without error prejudicial to plaintiffs in
error. And the court did not err in refusing to separately
charge the jury, when so requested by plaintiffs in error, that
the issue of fraud was not in the case, the jury having then been
distinetly charged to ‘‘only regard the issues made by the plead-
ings, which are unsoundness of mind and undue influence.”’

A reading of the argument, in full, as made to the jury by
Mr. Horstman, on which plaintiffs in error predicate a claim
of misconduet of counsel, fgils to show that the bounds of legiti-
mate argument have been so far exceeded as to create error to
their prejudice.

A careful consideration of the voluminous record and of the
extended arguments and briefs of counsel, fails to disclose that
the judgment is not sustained by the evidence, or that prejudi-
cial error has intervened, but shows that substantial justice has
been done.

The judgment is affirmed.

Jones (E. H.), P. J, and GorMaN, J., concur.
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PRIORITIES UNDER A DECREE OF DISTRIBUTION.
" Court of Appeals for Licking County.
J. W. HorNBY v. HARRY D. RANK ET AL.
Decided, October Term, 1915.

. Distribution—Order of Priority of Magistrate’s Judgments—Governed
by Rection 11661—Character of Evidence Required to Sustain ¢
Nunc Pro Tunc Entry.

1. Under the rule that a motion for an entry nunc pro tunc must be
sustained by clear and convincing evidence, a reviewing court is
without authority to reverse a judgment overruling such a motion
where there is no bill of exceptions embodying the evidence upon
which the motion was overruled below.

2. Judgments rendered by a justice of the peace become a lien as of the
date and in the order of the filing of the transcripts where such
filing occurs during the term, and a decree of distribution giving
them priority in the order of their flling will®not be disturbed.

Smythe & Smythe, for plaintiff in error.
Flory & Flory, contra.

PowELL, J.

The order or judgment sought to be reversed in this action is
an order overruling a motion filed in the court of common pleas
for an entry nunc pro tunc of an order of distribution, entered
in a partition case in which one George Fessler owned an undi-
vided interest in the real estate sought to be partitioned and
against which were numerous liens sufficient to exhaust his in-
terest in such real estate.

The particular question complained of is as to the distribution
of $192.83 balance remaining after the specific liens against said
real estate had been paid and an allowance made to said Fessler
in lieu of a homestead. In addition to the other liens were four
judgments entered before justices of the peace, transeripts of
which were taken and filed with the clerk of courts of this
county. These four judgments were all filed during the January
ferm of 1911, but at different dates. The total amount of the
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judgments is largely in excess of the amount to be distributed.
It seems that an entry had been prepared and approved by all
of the attorneys, excepting the attorneys for one of the trans-
cript creditors; that gmch entry was taken by the sheriff, and the
order of distribution made by it was entered upon his partition
ledger, and distribution of said sum was made by him in ae-
cordance therewith ; that a year or two afterwards it was discov-
ered that this entry had never been journalized or entered upon
the journal of the court of common pleas; whereupon a motion
was made for an order to be entered as of the date when such
distribution was made, making distribution of said fund in a dif-
ferent manner than the same had been distributed. This motion
is not with the papers in the case, but the transcript shows that
such- motion was presented and overruled.

The petition in error involves two propositions:

1. A motion for an entry nunc pro tunc must be sustained by
cvidence. In fact, our Supreme Court had held that the power
of a court to make such entry should be exercised only upon evi-
dence which shows clearly and convineingly that the action
sought to be entered by a nunc pro tunc order was in fact taken.
Jackson v. Adamson, 56 O. S., 397.

The entry overruling the motion shows that the same was sub-
mitted upon evidence, and the court found that the facts on
which said motion was founded were insufficient and overruled
the motion. There was no bill of exceptions taken embodying
the testimony offered upon this motion, and it is urged upon the
part of defendants in error that the court is without authority
to reverse the judgment, upon the ground that the evidence upon
which that judgment or order was entered is not before the
court. We think this contention is well taken and that we are
without authority to enter a reversal of this case upon the
grounds stated in the petition in error.

. It is contended however, that the facts appear upon the record
-and that they are stated in the briefs of counsel, and the real
question between the parties is as to the manner of distribution
of said fund. The sum to be distributed was rightly held to be
applicable to the payment of the transeript fudgments. It is
contended by plaintiff in error that the sum should be applied
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pro rata upon the amount of the several transeript judgments.
and it is contended by the defendants in error that the trans-
cripts became liens at the date of their filing because they were
filed within term time, and the judgmentsgsghould be paid in the
order in which the transeripts were filed with the clerk; or, in
other words, it is contended by plaintiff in error that the rule
prescribed by Section 11665 of the General Code should control
in making the order of distribution, while the defendants in
error claim that the rule prescribed by Section 11661 of the Gen-
cral Code should provail.

We are of the opinion that, upon the facts as shown by the ad-
missions of counsel and by their briefs to be undisputed, that
Section 11661 furnishes the proper rule by which such distribu-
tion should be made, viz: that these judgments became liens at
the date of their filing, because they were each filed during term
" time, and that in an order adjusting priorities of liens against
said amount they should be ordered paid in the order of time in
which they were filed.

The rule prescribed by Section 11665 relates to liens created
by levy of an execution, and the rule as prescribed by Section
11661 relates solely to the attaching of liens by virtue of trans-
cripts of judgments before justices of the peace having been
filed by the clerk of courts, and this rule is applicable to the case
at bar.

It is the opinion of the court, upon either contention. that
there was no error in the order of the court of common pleas in
overruling the motion for an order nunc pro tunc, or the claim
of plaintiff in error to have said fund distributed pro rata, in-
stead of in the order of the filing of the different transeripts.
The judgment of that court will be affirmed at the costs of the
plaintiff in error.

SniELps, J., and Houck, J., concur.
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WAIVER OF CONDITIONS BY A LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

THE NEW YORK LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY V. HENRIETTA
KAuFMAN.

Decided, December 7, 1903.

Insurance—Condition as to Forfeiture for Non-Payment of Premium
May be Waived.

An insurance company may waive any of the conditions in its favor
in a policy, hicluding a provision that a failure to pay a premium
when due shall work a forfeiture of the policy, and such waiver
may be proven by proving a known custom of its agent to deliver
its policies before receiving the first premium, although the policy
contains a provision that only certain officers can extend time of
payments.

Garfield, Garfield & Howe, for plaintiff in error.
J. H. Sempliner, contra.

MARVIN, J.; WiINcH, J., and HALE, J., concur.

On the 8th day of January, 1900, Ignatz Kaufman gave his
written application to the plaintiff in error for a policy of in-
surance upon his own life in the sum of $1,000 to be paid at his
death to his wife, the defendant in error. A clause in this ap-
plication reads: '

‘‘That the company shall incur no liability under this appli-
cation until it has been received, approved, the policy issued
thereon by the company, at the home office, and the premium
has actually been paid to, and accepted by the company or its’
authorized agent during my lifetime and good health, except
when the premium has been paid in advance to an authorized
agent of the company, and a binding receipt on the company’s
authorized form has been given by such agent, the liability of
the company shall be as stated in such binding receipt.”’

The agent of the company through whom this application was
made was Max Stearn. He was an insurance solicitor acting
for this company, soliciting and taking applications for policies,
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delivering them to the branch office of the company here, from

. which they were sent to the home office in New York, and, when
accepted, the policies were sent back to the branch office here,
and from such branch office were delivered to him and by him
delivered to the assured and the premiums collected.

This application was delivered by Stearn to the branch office.
forwarded to and accepted by the company, and a policy issued
bearing date of January 12th, 1900. This policy was forwarded
by the company to the office in' Cleveland where the application
was made out. and Kaufman and Stearn both lived, on the 14th
day of January, 1900, and was given to Stearn for delivery to
Kaufman. Stearn took the policy to the place of business of
Kaufman, found himn busy and laid the policy on his desk, call-
ing his attention to it. Nothing was said by either Stearn or
Kaufman at this time about the payment of any premium and
nothing was actually paid.

On the 23d day of January, 1900, Kaufman died, not having
paid any part of the premium, and never having been asked to
make any payment. Among other provisions of the policy, is
the following:

““Only the president, a vice-president, the actuary or the
secretary. has power in behalf of the company to make or modify
this or any contract of insurance or to extend the time for pay-
ing the premium, and the company shall .not be bound by any
promisé or representation heretofore or hereafter given hy any
rerson other than the above.”’

The policy containéd also the following clause:

‘“This agreement is made in consideration of the sum of for-
ty-eight dollars and forty-eight cents ($48.48), the receipt of
wvhich is hereby acknowledged, and of the payment of thirty-
seven dollars and ninety-eight cents ($37.98) on the 8th day of
January, 1901, and of the payment of a like sum on the 8th day
of January of every yvear thereafter during the continuance of
this poliey.”’

Upon the death of Kaufman, proper notices were sent and
proofs made out and filed, and demand made for payment of
the one thousand dollars. This was refused, whereupon the de-
fendant in crror brought suit against the company and recov-
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ered a judgment for said sum. The purpose of the present pro-
ceeding on the part of the insurance company is to obtain a re-
versal of such judgment.

The claim made on the part of the plaintiff in error is, that
the policy never took effect because no premium was ever paid.
It relies upon the language of the application hereinbefore
quoted. Of course, if the payment of the first premium was a
condition precedent to the taking of the insurance, then the
policy was not binding, unless such condition was waived. It is
said that because of the language of the policy, first hereinbe-
fore quoted, there was clearly no waiver by any person author-
ized to make such a waiver; the language being that,

**Only the president, a vice-president, the actuary, or the sec-
retary has power in behalf of the company * * * {0 ex-
tend the time for paying any premium, and the company shall

rot be bound by any promise or representation heretofore or
Lereafter given by any person other than the above.”’

1f there was any waiver here is it evidenced by the fact that
Stearn, the agent of the company delivered the policy to Kauf-
man without asking for any payment; and that Stearn, who had
been the agent of the company for more than twenty years, fre-
quently delivered policies in this way without receiving the
first premiun at the time of delivery. It appears from the evi-
dence that the company had a form of receipt which it took
from persons to whom policies were delivered, and who did not
pay the premium at the time of such delivery—this receipt
showing that the policy was held for examination only. No such
receipt was given in this case, nor was it asked for. It is clear
that Stearn understood that the policy was in force from the
time of its delivery, and that he had simply extended credit to
Kaufman.

As has already been said, the testimony of Stearn shows that
it was common practice for him to deliver policies without
the cash preminm being actually paid at the time of delivery;
trat this was known to Mr. Taylor, who was the manager of the
company’s husiness in this city, appears from his own testi-
mony. It seems to have been the practice of the company to
make out invoices of policies sent or put into the hands of the
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several agents of the company, the agent being charged with the
premiums. The rules of the company required that upon the
delivery of a policy, either a receipt showing that the policy was
taken for examination only should be taken, or the premium
should he paid in cash. It is clear, however, that his rule was
not uniformally enforced, and that such fact was known to Mr.
Taylor, the manager of the Cleveland branch of the business.
That a provision in the policy to the effect that no waiver can
be made by the agent, may itself be waived, is held in numerous
cases.

In the case of Knickerbocker Life Insurance Company V.
Phoebe A. Norton, 96 U. S., 234, this language is used in the syl-
labus:

‘“An insurance company may waive any condition of the pol-
icy inserted therein for its benefit.

‘‘ As the company may at any time at its option give authority
to its agents to make arrangements or to waive forfeitures, it is
not bound to act upon declaration of its policy that they have
no such authority * * * as denoting the power given by
an insurance company to a local agent, evidence is admissible
as to its practice in allowing him to extend the time for the pay-
ment of premiums and premium notes; and the jury upon such
(vidence may find whether he was authorized to make such an
extension, and, if so, whether it was in fact made in the case on
trial.”’

In the policy under consideration in that case, this provision
appears:

““If the said premium shall not be paid on or before twelve
o'clock noon on the day or days above mentioned for the pay-
ment. thereof, at the office of the company in the city of New
York (unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing) or to
agents, when they produce receipts signed by the president or
secretary, or if the principal of, or interest upon said policy
shall not be paid at the time and the same shall become due and
payable, then, and in every such case, the company shall not be
liable to pay the sums assured, or any part thereof.”

By an indorsement on the poliey, it was declared that:

‘‘ Agents of the company are not authorized to make, alter or
abrogate contracts or waive forfeitures.”’
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The facts in this case were, that the assured, after paying
various premiums, failed to pay in full the premium due on the
20th of April, 1875, but paid in cash, and gave for the balance,
to-wit, $335, his two promissory notes, one due on the 20th of
June, and the other on the 20th of July, 1875; each note con-
tained a clause, declaring that if it was not paid at maturity,
the policy would be void. The first note was not paid at ma-
turity, but the claim was made that the agent of .the company
extended the time for payment of such note. The authority of
the agent making such extension was denied, and the language
of the poliey itself, including the indorsement hereinbefore
quoted, was relied upon as conclusively showing that the agent
had no such authority. In the opinion, page 240, Mr. Justice
Bradley calls attention to the provisions of the policy herein-
before quoted, and then says:

‘““And these terms, had the company so chosen, could have
heen insisted on. But a party always has the option to waive a
condition or stipulation made in his own favor. The company
was not bound to insist upon a forfeiture, though incurred, but
might waive it.”’

Without quoting further from this case, we regard it ~~ on
authority in point on the question under consideration.

In the case of Insurance Company v. Florence Oliver, 22
Texas Civil Appeals, 8, this language is used in the syllabus:

‘“Where a policy of life insurance provides that it shall not
ro into effect until the first premium has been paid in cash by
the assured, and that no agent of the company has powers to
waive this requirement, and it is shown that the local agent had
frequently and for several years taken notes for the first pre-
mium, and that this practice was known to the company s general
agent, and no disapproval thereof was shown, such waiver will
be binding on the company.”’

In the case of Berliner v. The Insurance Company, 121 Cal,,
451, this language is.used in the syllabus:

‘““The general agent of a life insurance company may waive
the payment of the first premium and deliver the policy and
thereby make it a valid and substituting contract of insurance,
notwithstanding the provision in the policy that it shall not
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take effect until the first premium is paid while the insured is
in good health * * * the possession of the policy by the in-
sured or by the beneficiary is prima facie evidence of its deliv-
cry as a valid and subsisting contract, and the burden of over-
coming the prima facie case made by the production of the pol-
icy by the plaintiff in an action to enforce it.”’

Attention has already been called to the fact that the policy
itself acknowledged the receipt by the company of the first
premium. This acknowledgment, it is conceded, is not binding
upon the company, but is subjeet to be explained or denied; and
to this extent the company itself denies the language used in
the poliey.

It would seem a great wrong to permit the company to be re-
lieved from liability, if what was done by the agent was the
customary method of transacting this business, and if the pol-
icy was delivered by Stearn to Kaufman under such eircum-
stances that Kaufman had the right to understand that a tem-
porary credit was given to him. As a matter of fact, it is prob-
able that he never read the clause in the policy providing that
none but the officers named in the clause could make or modify
any provision contained therein, and that he never read the re-
ceipt for the first premium contained in the policy. But, how-
ever, this may be, we hold that it was proper to submit to the
Jury the question of whether there was a waiver as to the ad-
vance payment of the premium. This question was properly
submitted to the jury. The charge properly stated the law ap-
plicable to the case.

Attention is called to the case of MacDonald v. The Provident
Savings and Life Assurance Soctety, 108 Wis., 213. In this
case a note was given for the first premium, and the payment of
the same extended from time to time. Both in the application
and in the policy it is provided that the policy shall not take
effect until the first premium is actually paid. There was no
acknowledgment in the policy of the receipt of the first pay-
ment. The agent had such receipt in his hands at the time he
delivered the policy. He had taken a note from the assured
when the application was made and when the policy was deliv-
ered, the note not being paid the agent retained the receipt.
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The assured gave as a reason why he did not then pay the note,
that he did not know that his wife would be satisfied with the
policy. On this state of facts it was held that there was no
waiver, but this is clearly distinguishable from the facts as
above recited from the case' now under consideration.

The case of The Union Central Life Insurance Company v.
Hook, 62 Ohio State, 256, differs materially from'the present
case. In that case the policy had been in the hands of the as-
sured for nine years, when, it is claimed, the agent agreed to an
alteration in its terms as to the payment of the tenth premium.
At the trial, the plaintiff was permitted to introduce evidence
as to conversations had with the agent prior to the time the
policy was issued. This admission of evidence was held to be
erroneous. Evidence was further permitted as to conversations
between the agent and the assured nine years after the policy
was issued, by which it was sought to change the terms of the
policy. The admission of this evidence was held to be errone-
ous, and the court in its opinon lays stress upon the fact that the
policy had been so long in the possession of the assured that he
must have known its terms, using this language on page 363:

“‘Under such circumstances the presumption is conclusive, in
the absence of fraud and mistake, that he knew the contents of
the instrument.’’

On page 265, this language is used in the opinion:

‘““We do not decide that there might not be estoppel by con-
cuet, notwithstanding such an agreement, but that case does not
arise here.”’

Neither this nor the case of Travellers’ Insurance Company v.
Muyers, 62 Ohio State, 259, seem to us to be in conflict with the
view of this case taken by the trial court and we hold that no
error is shown by the record to have been committed by the
trial court, and the judgment is affirmed.
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SETTLEMENT UNDER A USURIOUS BOND EXECUTED BY A
BUILDING ASSOCIATION.

Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

THE INDEMNITY SAviNgGS & LoAN CoMpPANY v. CLINTON S.
SPANGLER, ANNA B. SPANGLER, JOHN W. TAYLOR AND
TeE FurtoN BuiLpiNg CoMPANY.*

Decided, November 30, 1903.

Vendor and Purchaser—Vendor Liable for Usurious Interest in Ezcess
of Amount of Obligation Assumed by Vendee.

Where a building company which has given a bond at a usurious rate
of interest together with a mortgage upon certain premises to
gsecure its payment, sells the premises so mortgaged 'upon a land
contract for a definite amount and later, in the performance of that
contract, conveys the premises to the purchaser, and in its deed,
stipulates that the purchaser assumes and agrees to pay a mort-
gage of a certain definite amount, such building company is liable
to the purchaser for the difference between the amount which the
purchaser agreed to pay, together with legal interest, and the
amount called for by the usurious bond.

Dickey, Brewer & McGowan, for plaintiff.
McKisson & Curtis and Weed & Miller, contra.

HALE, J.; WINCH, J., and MARVIN, J., concur.

This case comes into this court by appeal and was submitted
upon the evidence and the admissions of the parties.

On the first day of May, 1896, the Fulton Building Company
executed and delivered to the plaintiff, the Indemnity Savings
& Loan Company, a bond, of which the following is a copy:

‘‘CLEVELAND, O., May 1st, 1896.
““The Fulton Building Co. promises to pay to The Indemnity
Savings & Loan Co., its successors or assigns, one hundred and
twenty installments of twenty and 15/100 dollars each, one of
which installments to be paid on the first business day of May,
1896, and one on the first business day of each succeeding one

+Afirmed without opinion, Fulton Building Co. v. Spangler, 72 Ohio
State, 627.




CIRCUIT COURT REPORTS—NEW SERIES. 121

1915.] Cuyahoga County.

hundred and nineteen months pursuant to the constitution and
Iy-laws of said company and the conditions and stipulations in
mortgage given to secure this bond.”’

v

This bond was secured by a mortgage of same date, upon said
premises, and delivered by the Fulton Company to the Indem-
nity Company on the 17th day of September, 1896.

The Fulton Company entered into contract with the Spang-
lers, whereby they agreed to sell and convey to them the prem-
ises described in said mortgage, for the consideration of $2,800,
payable $200 cash in hand and the balance, $2,600, as follows:
To assume and pay a mortgage to the Indemnity Savings &-
Loan Company of $1,487.79, also a mortgage to John W. Tay-
lor of $684 and interest, and the balance of $428.21 in sums of
$27 or more at the option of said grantee, after deducting there-
from the payments and interest stipulated for in the above mort-
gages, together with interest thereon from this date at the rate
of six per centum per annum, to be due and payable semi-annu-
ally on the first day of June and December of each year.

On the 21st of January, 1897, the Fulton Company conveyed
by warranty deed the premises described in said mortgage and
in said contract, to Clinton S. and Anna B. Spangler, in which
the consideration expressed as $3,000 but which in fact was
upon the consideration named in said written contract. It is
stipulated in said deed that said premises are free and clear
from all encumbrances whatsoever, except the mortgage to the
Indemnity Savings & Loan Co. ($1,487.79) and the mortgage to
J. W. Taylor ($684), both of which are assumed by the grantee,
and the last half of the taxes of 1896.

Payments were made under this contract by the Spanglers to
the Fulton Company directly until after the conveyances in
January. Sometime after the conveyance a change was made
by which the Spanglers paid directly to the Indemnity Com-
pany.

" The original loan from the Indemnity Company to the Ful-
ton Company for which the bond and mortgage were given was
$1,550, and there was no other consideration for said bond and
mortgage.
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The Spanglers have paid to the Indemnity Company more
than the $1,487.79 named in the contract and in the deed, with
interest at six per centum, and there is no evidence whatever
of any other consideration for said bond by assessment of dues,
or otherwise.

Under the issues and the evidence submitted at the trial sev-
eral propositions are to be considered: Between the mortgagor
and the mortgagee there is no issue. The maker of the bond and
mortgage, the Fulton Company, makes no claim of usury. Its
claims are that whether the transaction is usurious or not it
must be paid by the Spanglers who, as is claimed, in considera-
tion of the conveyance to them by the Fulton Company assumed
and agreed to pay the mortgage according to its terms. That
company desires the bond to be paid in full, but insists that the
Spanglers shall pay it. The Spanglers, however, insist that the
mortgage and bond has been paid in full; that, legally, only the
sum loaned and six per cent. interest can be collected, and that
more than that has been paid to the Indemnity Company al-
ready. They claim further that if the mortgage must be paid
to the Indemnity Company, the maker, the Fulton Company,
must pay all that now remains due and relieve the premises con-
veyed to them from any lien by reason thereof.

So far as appears from the evidence, the bond, in the form
above recited, was executed and delivered by the Fulton Com-
pany to the Indemnity Company for the sole and only con-
sideration of a loan to it of $1,550 at the date of the bond, and
it is evident as between the original parties to the bond that the
transaction was usurious, and had the Fulton Company so an-
swered as between it and the Indemnity Company, the court
would be compelled to so hold. But, as no such issue was made,
the transaction as between the original parties must be consid-
ered and treated as valid in all respects.

Must the bond he paid according to its terms by the Spang-
lers? The transaction between the Fulton Company and the
Spanglers commenced with the making of the land-contract of
May 1, 1896. We hold that that contract was competent as ex-
plaining the interpretation to he placed upon the deed and as
evidence of the true consideration agreed to he paid by the
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Spanglers to the Fulton Company. The Spanglers agreed to as-
sume and pay a mortgage to the Indemnity Savings & Loan
Company of $1,487.79. There was no mortgage of that deserip-
tion to the Indemnity Company. It is said that this sum was
the present worth of such mortgage. It was its present worth
upon a basis of interest at nine per cent. per annum, but upon
a basis of six per cent. per annum the amount of the mortgage
was several hundred dollars in excess of that. The Spanglers
agreed to pay to the Fulton Company for said premises $2,800.
With the other payments the $1,487.79 exactly equalled the
$2,800 and this is all we think that the Spanglers were under
any obligation or legally bound to pay.

There is no evidence in the case tending to show that the
Spanglers had any knowledge of the mortgage or of the bond
or of its terms at the time of entering into the contract other
than as expressed therein. The exact amount to be paid by the
Spanglers to the Fulton Company for said premises is definitely
fixed by the terms of said contract, together with the terms of
payment and to whom such payments were to be made. All
these payments the Spanglers have made, together with interest
at six per cent., as stipulated in the contract. We are of the
opinion that no interpretation should be placed on this con-
tract requiring them to pay more.

If the Fulton Company is desirous that the bond should be
paid according to its terms without reference to any claim for
usury, without reference to any eclaim that the contract is
usurious, the excess called for by the bond in addition to the
amount which the Spanglers stipulated to pay must be paid by
it. It has made no contract, in our judgment, with the Spang-
lers by which they are to pay such excess arising out of the fact
that the original contract was usurious.

The claim is made that the controversy arising, or that may
arise, hetween the Fulton Company and the Spanglers, can not
be settled in this action. We hold otherwise. If the payment
of this bond was not assumed, as we hold it was not, by the
Spanglers according to its terms but only a definite amount
named in the contract and deed, then there was more due upon
the bond, accordirg to its terms, than the Spanglers had agreed
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to pay, and the Fulton Company, being the maker of the bond
and the mortgage, was a necessary party to the taking of an ac-
count upon the bond and mortgage, and being a necessary
party, all controversy between it and the Spanglers necessarily
could be settled in this one action.

Supposing the mortgage had been given to secure two sepa-
rate bonds the payment of one of which was assumed by the
grantees, the Spanglers; then, manifestly, on a foreclosure of
the mortgage, the mortgagee, although having conveyed the
premises, would be a necessary party to an accounting and that
accounting would necessarily fix definitely the rights hetween
the Fulton Company and the Spanglers.

The remainder due upon this bond according to its terms
may be ascertained. Counsel can undoubtedly agree as to that
amount. That amount, as the issues now stand, must be held to
be a lien upon the premises deseribed in the mortgage, which
sum the Fulfon Company is ordered to pay within sixty days
from the first day of this term of court, in default of which said
mortgage may be foreclosed and order of sale issue of said
premises. The defendants, the Spanglers, may, however, to save
the said premises from sale, pay said sum to the Indemnity
Company, and if so paid by them, an execution may issue in
their favor against the Fulton Company to collect the sum so
paid by them.
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ERROR. PROCEERDINGS FROM THE PROBATE COURT.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

BErTINE RoBINSON PALMER v. ANNIE J. M. ROBINSON, a8
ExEcCUTRIX OF THE LAsT WILL OF WILLIAM
RoBINSON, DECEASED.

Decided, Febrnary 23, 1903.

Practice—Common Pleas Court Can Not Rcrerse Probate Court in
Error Proceedings where no Bill of Exzceptions is Filed—Probdate
Court Without Power to -Require Deposit of Special Fund with
Court. .

1. Where error is prosecuted from an order of the probate court to the
common pleas, but no bill of exceptions is filed showing upon what
evidence the probate court acted, it will be presumed that it acted
upon proper evidence, and it is error for the common pleas court
to reverse the order of prohate court. '

2. The probate court is without power upon the final settlement of an
estate to order the deposit of a certain amount of money in the
name of the court to await the outcome of an attempt to collect
a note from the distributee.

A. W. Mayer and B. Pcarce, for plaintiff in error.
W. C. Rogers, contra.

MarviN, J.; WiNcl. J., and HALE, concur.

The defendant in error is the executrix of the last will and
testament of William Robinson, deceased, and is also the widow
of said deceased.

The plaintiff in error is a daughter of said defendant and,
with her, is the only devisee and legatee under the will of said
deceased.

Said exceutrix on the 15th day of October, 1901, filed, in the
probate court of this county, the court in which the estate of
said deceased was heing settled under the will, what purports to
be a final account of the administration of the estate of the de-
ceased. On the 1st day of November, 1901, exceptions to this
account were filed by the plaintiff in error. In said acecount the
executrix charges herself with having received on account of
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said estate as follows: ‘‘Received from sale of land of de-
ceased, $5,055.00. Received from collection from distributive
share, note of Bertine Robinson Dietrich, $511.50.”” Among the
credits which the executrix claims in said account is one
which reads as follows: Paid allowance to widow, judgment
and interest, $1,950.”’

The exceptions filed to this account specify as one of the items
excepted to, the item of $511.50 charged by the executrix to
herself as a collection from distributive share, note of Bertine
Robinson Dietrich. It should be said that Bertine Robinson
Dietrich is the same person as Bertine Robinson Palmer.

Exception is further taken to the credit in the account here-
inbefore quoted of ‘‘Year’s allowanee to widow, judgment and
interest, $1,950.”> Other items are excepted to.

A hearing was had in the probate court upon this account and
the exceptions in reference thereto.

The present defendant in error brought proceedings in error
in the court of common pleas to reverse the judgment of the
probate court. The probate court sustained the exceptions te
the item of $511.50, both as to its being charged to the execu-
trix and being taken from the portion to be distributed to the
plaintiff in error. The court of common pleas reversed the pro-
hate court in this regard. There was no bill of exceptions filed
in the court of common pleas, showing upon what evidence the
probate court acted in making its order; and, without some evi-
dence, it is difficult to understand how the court of common
pleas determined whether or not there was error in the order
made by the probate court. As a part of the transcript filed in
the court of common pleas, there is a copy of the will of the de-
ceased. By the terms of that will, certain real estate named is
bequeathed to the widow of the deceased for the period of her
natural life, and, at her death, said real estate is devised in fee
to Bertine Robinson Palmer.

It is said in argument that the money with which the execu-
trix charged herself as having received from the sale of lands.
is the avails of the sale of this real estate thus hequeathed and
devised. . Without some evidence on the subject we do not know
how that fact is found, though it is probably true, as there is a
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credit taken by the executrix for the sum of $1,085.09 as the
value of /er life-estate in the real estate sold. No exception
was taken to this, and we presume that there was some evidence
before the probate court which disclosed some arrangement be-
tween the plaintiff in error and the defendant in error by
which the value of this life estate was ascertained.

Looking to the will alone, we are unable to see how the
plaintiff in error was entitled to any distribution during, the
lifetime of the widow—and the court of common pleas had only
this will before it as evidence.

Attention is called to this because unless there is some dis-
tributive portion to go to the plaintiff in error, we fail to see
how she ecould have been prejudiced by a charge being made by
the executrix of this $511.50; but the common pleas court found
that there was error in this behalf. Since neither the court of
common pléas nor this court can know upon what evidence the
probate court acted in making such order, the presumption is
that there was some evidence introduced justifying the order
made by the probate court, and it was, therefore, error for the
court of common pleas to reverse such order of the probate
court.

As to the item of $1,950 claimed for the year’s support and
interest, we are equally in the dark as to the evidence upon
which the probate court acted.

‘We learn from the transcript that a certain amount was al-
lowed by the appraisers to the widow for such year’s support ;
that upon exceptions to the allowance made by the appraisers.
the probate court fixed the allowance for the widow, at $1,400.
Whether such allowance should draw interest up to the time
when it was paid would depend on facts which were not dis-
closed to the court of common pleas by the record and are,
therefore. not disclosed to us; and it must therefore, he pre-
sumed that such a state of facts was disclosed hefore the pro-
bate court as justified the order made by that court which was
that the widow should be allowed interest on said $1,400 for
the period of two years and no more. Certainly a state of facts
may exist which would justify this order.
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If the widow, being herself executrix, was negligent in the
performance of her duties, either in converting real estate into
money or in any way whereby she was responsible for the non-
payment of this sum at a time earlier than it was paid, she
should not profit by it by having interest upon it. If for two
years of the time that elapsed between the time when the
amount of this allowance was fixed by the probate court and the
time when by proper diligence on her part it would have been
paid; or, in any event, if two years elapsed after the expiration
of one year from the giving of her bond during which two years
there was no money to pay this allowance, and such want of
money was, in no way, chargeable to her negligence, and then it

- would seem proper that an allowance should be made for two
years, and if the rest of the time that elapsed before the pay-
ment was due to negligence on her part, it would certainly be
an injustice to this estate to allow her interest for that delay
in payment caused by her own negligent administration. In
short, there are faets which may have existed, entirely justify-
ing the order of the probate court. Those facts not being
brought before the court of common pleas, that court erred in
reversing the probate court in that regard.

A further order, however, was made by the probate court
that *‘the sum of $350 out of any distributive share of said
Palmer be, and is ordered to be, reserved and to remain in the
registry of this probate court undistributed, subject to the
order of the probate court, and to be deposited in the name of
the probate judge, on interest, and to abide any recovery
against said Palmer on said claim or note or to be ordered dis-
tributed to her with interest at the end of one year if no ac-
count is taken thereon or recovery had.”’

This order was reversed by the court of common pleas and,
we think, properly so. We know of no authority of law by
which the probate court had any jurisdiction to order such de-
posit of money to be made.

Tt is the order of this court, therefore, that the judgment of
the court of common pleas be affirmed in so far as it reverses the
judgment of the probate court as to the deposit of this $350.
In all other respects the judgment of the court of common pleas
is reversed and that of the probate court affirmed.
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CHANGE OF BENEFICIARY IN MUTUAL BENEFIT SOCIETY.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.
Eva K. DAUBER V. ELIZABETH DAUBER ET AL.
Decided, December 15, 1902.

Mutual Benefit Societies—Issuing a Certificate Naming Beneficlary of
Class Not Mentioned in Constitution, Valid—Member May Change
Beneficiary.

1. Where the constitution of a fraternal order states that the object
of the endowment fund of the order is for the better and sufficient
support of the widows and orphans of its members, but the laws
of the state under which it is organized permit the payment of
benefits to the mother of a deceased member, as well as to the
widow and orphans, the fact that the order has issued to a mem-
ber a certificate in which his mother is made beneficiary, after he
had surrendered one in which his wife was named as beneficiary,
will be construed as an exercise on the part of the order of the
power granted by the state and as a waiver of the constitutional
provision, and in case of the member’s death the mother will be
entitled to the insurance.

2. The naming of one as a heneficiary gives him no vested interest in
the insurance fund of a fraternal order, as the right is reserved to
the member to change his beneflciary at any time.

Kerruish & Kerrwsh, for plaintiff in error.
Thompson, Solders & Tuden, contra.

CALpwELL, J.; I1ALE, J., and MaRVIN, concur.

The plaintiff, Elizabeth Dauber, brought this action in the
court of common pleas of this county against the Independent
Order of Foresters for the sum of one thousand dollars, the
amount of a certificate of insurance issued upon the life of
George Dauber, her son. The certificate she sets up was issued
in 1899, and in it she was named as the beneficiary. The de-
" fendant brought the money into court and interpleaded Eva K.
Dauber, the plaintiff in error, with Eliza Dauber, the plaintiff
helow, whereupon Eva K. Dauber came in to the case and
claimed that when (Feorge Dauber first became a member of the
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beneficial order, he made her the beneficiary in his certificate
and she claimed that by reason of that fact and by reason of the
fact that the constitution of the order made the fund payable
to her, and by reason of other facts set up in her answer, she is
cntitled to the money in question.

The administrator of the estate of George Dauber, Willis
White, claims that by reason of a change in the constitution of
the order, made in January, 1890, after the certificate on which
the action was commenced, was obtained, he is entitled to re-
ceive the funds.

Elizabeth Dauber obtained a judgment for this fund in the
court below, and Eva K. Dauber prosecuted error in this court
to reverse that judgment.

It appears as a fact in this case, that the first certificate that
GGeorge Dauber obtained when he became a member of the order,
was obtained about 1894, and that Eva K. Dauber was named as
the beneficiary in that certificate, thereafter a new certificate
was obtained, in which Eva and the mother Elizabeth were each
named as beneficiaries, each to receive one-half, and soon after
that certificate was obtained in May, 1899, it was surrendered
and a new one taken in which the mother Elizabeth Dauber is
named as the beneficiary.

The judgment of the court below was not only against Eva K.
Dauber, but also against Willis E. White, administrator of the
estate. :

The administrator has filed no petition nor cross-petition in
this court, and he abides by the judgment rendered in the com-
mon pleas court, so that the question of, whether the money
should be paid to him as administrator, is not raised in this
hearing, unless it is raised in the petition of the plaintiffs in
error. It appears from an examination of the petition, that that
(question is not raised, and hence is not before the court.

Article IT of the Constitution states that ‘‘the object of this
endowment fund shall be for the creation and maintaining of a
fund for the better and sufficient support of the widows and or-
phans in the case of the death of a brother belonging to a court
existing in the city of Cleveland.”
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The first claim made by the plaintiff in error is, that the con-
stitution of the order limits the endowment fund to the support
of widows and orphans and hence can not be made payable to
the mother of the deceased, and that the certificate that was is-
sued, making the mother of the deceased the beneficiary, is for
that reason of no effect, and that nothing being accomplished by
it and nothing in favor of the mother being accomplished by the
one in which the wife and mother were made jointly beneficia-
ries, the original certificate, making the plaintiff in error the
beneficiary, is in full force and for this reason she is entitled to
the fund in question.

The statutes of this state, Section 3631, and especially sub-
division 11 thereunder, point out who may be beneficiaries un-
der a certificate of this character, and it is broad enough to in-
clude the mother; and the order being organized under this
statute as defining its charter powers, had authority to make
this certificate in favor of the mother.

If the constitution is to be read literally, as it is printed, in-
stead of simply declaring a general purpose of the organization
and made to read as though this particular purpose of benefit-
ting widows and orphans, is intended to exclude all others who
might be benefited under the state, then under this provision
it might be said that he certificate would not be valid. But we
think that the purpose of the provision in the constitution was
simply to name a general purpose of the organization without
undertaking to give it any definite limitation to the terms used,
and, by issuing the certificate, making it payable to the mother,
the order construed its meaning of this article. Then, even if
the provision of the constitution is to be taken as literal and
definite, it is a provision that could be waived by the order, and,
notwithstanding that only widows and orphans are named, the
order might make the certificate payable to any one designated
in the statute; and, designating one within the statute but not
within such literal meaning of the constitution, would be a
waiver of the constitutional provision, and neither the plaintiff
in error nor the order could object to the payment of the fund
to the mother after such waiver had taken place
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The next question raised by the plaintiff in error as to why
the; judgment should be reversed, is, that she had under the
first certificate issued wherein she was named a beneficiary,
such a vested interest in the fund that no change could there-
after be made without her consent. We think the authorities
generally show, not only in this state but in other states, that
the insurance is founded upon a contract wherein the assured
reserves to himself the right at any time to change the bene-
ficiary, and for that reason the beneficiary named in a certifi-
cate, until the death of the brother, takes nothing but a con-
tingent interest in the fund, liable to be defeated at any time by
the assured. This matter has recently undergone extensive dis-
cussion in the seventh judicial circuit court, wherein Judge Cook
delivers the majority opinion of the court, and Judge Laubie
gives a dissenting opinion. Many of the cases found in the
hooks bearing upon this question, are cited in those opinions
found in the Weekly Law Bulletin of October 27, 1902, page
618.

The opinion of this court approves the opinion of the major-
ity in that ease. The matter is so clearly discussed in those
opinions that we could add nothing to them except to multiply
the cases that bear upon the questions involved, which would
be of no benefit to this case.

It is the judgment of the court that there is no error in the
record before us, and the judgment of the court of common
pleas is affirmed.
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EXTENT OF JURISDICTION UNDER CHANGE OF VENUE.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

FrLoy MiLLs v. ROBERT MILLS.
Decided, November 10, 1902,

Jurisdiction—Effect of Change of Venue on Jurisdiction as to Existing
Orders.

By the transfer of a case from the court of common pleas of one county
to the court of common pleas of another county, the court in the
county to which the case is transferred acquires exclusive juris-
diction of all matters pertaining to the case, including the en-
forcement of the orders already made in the case, as well as the
granting of new orders and final judgment.

Walter C. Ong, for plaintiff in error.
L. Z. Tanney, contra.

I1sLE, J.; CALDWELL, J., and MARVIN, J., concur.

An action was pending in the court of common pleas of this
county by plaintiff against defendant for a divorce. Alimony
pendente lite had been allowed and the defendant ordered to
pay a certain amount to the plaintiff during the pendency of the
action. After this order was made, the case was transferred by
order of the court, under statute, to Medina county for trial
and determination. Up to the time that the order was made
transferring the case to Medina county, all instalments of ali-
mony falling due had been paid; there was no default on the
part of the defendant in payment of alimony at the time of the
transfer. After the transfer, proceedings in contempt against
the defendant were commenced in the court of common pleas of
this county. The question is, whether actions for contempt can
be maintained in this county after the transfer, for a violation
of an order on the part of the defendant in the payment of
alimony.

Very little light or aid can be gathered from any decisions
that we have been able to find, or which have been cited to us.
But, after consideration such as we have been able to give in
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the case, we hold that, after the transfer by the court of com-
mon pleas of this county to the Court of Common Pleas of
Medina County, exclusive jurisdiction of ‘all matters pertaining
to the case, as well the enforcement of the orders made as the
granting of new orders and judgment, was transferred to the
Court of Common Pleas of Medina County. That court had
jurisdiction to modify, abrogate, or enforce the order for ali-
mony pendente lite then existing. Disobedience of the order
which existed at the time of the transfer, after the transfer was
made, was a contempt of the court having the jurisdiction to en-
force the order, that order virtually becomes the order of the
court to which the case is transferred and that court has full
jurisdiction over existing orders and over the case, to make fur-
ther orders.

This, of course, does not deal with the phase of the case as if
there had been a default to obey the order of the Court of Com-
mon Pleas of Cuyahoga County prior to the transfer. Nor do
we undertake to controvert the proposition argued by counsel
that proceedings in contempt are quasi criminal and, to an ex-
tent at least, independent of the case in which the order was
made for the disobedience of which the party is in contempt.

This was the holding of the court of common pleas, and the
result is the affirmance of that judgment.
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LIABILITY FOR INJURY IN ELEVATOR OF EMPLOYEE OF
TENANT.

Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

THE CoBB-BRADLEY REALTY CoMPANY V. FANNIE HARE.
Decided, February, 1903,

Passenger Elevators—Liability of Owner Not Increased by Employment
or Minor as Operator.

The liability of the owners of an office building to tenants in the use of
its passenger elevators is that of a carrier of passengers, and such
lability is not altered by the employment of a minor as an opera-
tor; hence, in an action by a tenant for personal injuries result-
ing from the negligent operation of an elevator, an allegation that
the laws of the state make it unlawful to employ a minor, such
as the one operating the elevator at the time of the accident, should,
on motion, be stricken from the petition.

0. C. Pinney, for plaintiff in error.
Olds & Willet, contra.

HaLE, J.; WiNcH, J., and MARvVIN, J., concur.

The plaintiff in error was, at the time of the transaction com-
plained of, the owner of a building known as ‘*“The Birming-
ham’’ located on Euelid avenue in the city of Cleveland, and
maintained and operated therein for the accommodation of its
tenants an electric elevator.

On the 22d of April, 1899, the defendant in error was em-
ployed by a tenant in that building and entered the elevator
for the purpose of riding from the sixth to the first floor. She
alleges in her petition that she was injured while thus in the
elevator, by the carelessness and negligence of the employees of
the plaintiff in error in operating said elevator.

She alleges that said elevator was negligently run by defend-
ant’s employee to the basement of the building and by the first
floor and entrance to said building, where plaintiff desired to
leave said elevator, so that the elevator struck the bottom of the
shaft with such force as to severely injure the plaintiff’s spine
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and back, and, in consequence of such injury, plaintiff was con-
fined to her bed for fourteen weeks and still is unable to sit up
for over two or three hours at a time and is permanently in-
jured and will suffer from such injuries to her back and pelvic
organs the remainder of her life.

She then describes more specifically the injuries of which she
complains, and adds:

**The plaintiff says that the defendant was further guilty of
negligence in the premises in that it employed and permitted
the operator of said elevator to operate the same, knowing that
many persons would daily ride up and down in said elevator
many times, said block or building contgining many tenants of
defendant many of whom employed a large number of persons
st dressmaking and other pursuits; and knowing that said
operator, John Neely, a boy about fifteen years of age, was in-
experienced and incompetent to operate an electric elevator
such as said elevator was, or by the exercise of ordinary care
could have known him to be inexperienced and incompetent, al-
though plaintiff did not know it.”’

She further alleges that the plaintiff in error was negligent
in failing to keep the elevator in proper repair, and to provide
the same with automatic stops or other devices in general use
on elevators of that kind in Cleveland and elsewhere, such as
would prevent said elevator running down below the first floor
of said building.

The petition then alleges:

*‘Plaintiff says that the defendant was further guilty of negli-
gence in that it employed and permitted said operator, a boy of
fifteen years of age, and less than twenty-one years of age, to
cperate said electric elevator in the state of Ohio, said defend-
ent being in said state, contrary to the laws of Ohio and con-
trary to Section 2575-91, Sub-Section 31%, of the Revised Stat-
utes of Ohio, which is as follows: ‘No person under twenty-one
years of age shall be employed in running or operating any
electric, steam or hydraulic passenger or freight elevators, and
it shall be unlawful for any firm, company or person in the
state of Ohio owning, operating, or having in charge any such
rassenger or freight elevator or elevators to employ a person
under twenty-one years of age to run or operate any such ele-
vator.” ”’
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The answer denies substantially all the allegations of the peti-
tion and for an affirmative defense alleges that the building and
the elevator at the time of this transaction were under the con-
trol and management of an independent contractor who alone
was responsible for any negligence growing out of this trans-
action. Upon this proposition, however, under the charge of the
court, the jury properly found in favor of the defendant in
error.

On the trial, testimony was given by the defendant in error
tending to show the claim made by her, and by the plaintiff in
error tending to rebut any such claim.

Before answering the petition, the plaintiff in error filed a
motion asking that various allegation of the petition be stricken
from the petition, and, among others, the clause pleading the
statute above quoted, which motion was overruled and an ex-
ception noted.

At the close of the evidence, upon the effect of this statute the
court charged the jury as follows:

“It is claimed that the defendant company was negligent in
that it employed a boy of the age of fifteen years and less than
twenty-one years of age, to operate the electric elevator in con-
travention of the laws of the state.”’

He then read to the svrv the statute above quoted and adds:

““The violation of this statute by the defendant, if you shall
find that it was violated, is not in and of itself such I}eghgence
as will render the defendant company liable. It is simply the
cxpression of the state, through its legislative body, of its pol-
icy with respect to the operation of elevators, and is evidence
t» be considered by you in connection with all the other evidence
in the case. The mere fact of employing a boy under the age
mentioned in the statute to which I have just referred, would
1ot constitute negligence in and of itself.”’

To this charge an exception was noted.

In both the refusal to strike out from the petition, the statute
pleaded and in this charge given to the jury, there was error.

The duty of the plaintiff in error to the defendant in error in
the operation of the elevator was the same as that of a common
carrier to a passenger—the highest degree of care must be the
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measure of that duty. A failure in its performance would be
negligence. The fact that the employment of a minor was pro-
hibited by statute neither added to, nor detracted from such
duty. If the duty was fully performed, there was no liability
resting upon the plaintiff in error, whether the operation of the
elevator was by a minor or an adult. Such liability arose only
from the non-performance of such duty. We conceive it com-
petent, however, to show who was operating the elevator at the
time of the accident, his age, competency and the like, but the
existence of the statute should have no weight in determining
the liability of the plaintiff in error for negligence in the opera-
tion of the elevator. ,

We are dealing with the relation of the common carrier to a
passenger and the responsibility of the plaintiff in error therein
must be determined by the manner in which it performed its
duty growing out of that relation.

The case of Jacobs v. The Fuller & Hutsinpiller Co., 67 0. 8.,
70, sustains, we think, this proposition. That case, 1t is true,
involved different facts. The relation of master and servant
was therein considered, but certainly no stronger reasons ex-
isted for the conclusion of the consideration of the statute in
that case than those existing for the exclusion of the statute in
this case.

Again, on review of the evidence contained in the bill of ex-
ceptions, we are of the opinion that the damages awarded to the
defendant in error were grossly excessive and for that reason
the motion for a new trial should have been granted and, in
not so ruling, there was error.

The evidence shows clearly that the disabilities under whlch
the defendant in error now claims to be suffering, are not wholly
due to the injuries which she received in that transaction.

We find no other prejudicial error apparent upon this record.

The judgment of the court of common pleas is reversea anu
the cause remanded for a new trial.
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CONSTRUCTIONZOF AGREEMENT TO SELL LAND.
Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.

JosEPH KuNDTz V. VAN DEBOE HAEGER & Co. AND JAMES W.
EVENDEN, TRUSTEE.*

Decided, December 22, 1902.

Land Contracts—When Two Contracts for the Sale of One Parcel of
Property are Regarded as One.

When a real estate company sells lots upon an installment plan and
gives the purchaser a land contract signed by a trustee in whose
name the title appears, in which the trustee agrees to convey upon
the receipt of the final payment; and also gives the purchaser an-
other contract signed by the company in which it agrees to convey
the property to the beneficiary of the purchaser in case of the death
of the purchaser before final payment has been made—both of the
contracts are to be construed together as one contract, and the real
estate company, by accepting payments after they were past due,
walved any forfeiture provided for in the contract signed by the
trustee.

G. H. Schaibley, for plaintiff.
Smith & Taft, contra.

CALDWELL, J.; HALE, J., and MARvVIN, J., concur.

The plaintiff, Joseph Kundtz, brought this action for specific
performance. The petition sets out that Van Deboe, Haeger &
Company was the owner of a lot in an allotment; that James W.
MWvenden is trustee, held the title to the property, which lay in
‘he hamlet of Rockport, county of Cuyahoga and state of Ohio,
and was designated as lot 112 on a certain plat of lots called
Lenox Park; that they sold said lot to Agnes Kundtz, trustee,
on the installment plan, payable weekly, until the full amount
was paid, and that, when the amount was paid, she was to
have a deed for the same. Agnes Kundtz was buying said lot
as trustee for the plaintiff, Joseph Kundtz, and he claims in

*Afirmed without opinion, Van De Boe, Haeger & Co. et al v. Kunditz,
70 Ohio State, 485.
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his petition that there was an agreement on the part of Van
Deboe, Haeger & Company that if she died before the payments
were made in full, a deed would be given to the plaintiff for the
lot without any further payment, and sets up that Agnes
Kundtz died and that the plaintiff made proper proof of her
death to the defendant and demanded a conveyance of the
property and that the defendant refused to convey the same.
The answer claims that Evenden was trustee, holding the lands,
not for his co-defendant but for other parties, and that he had
placed the lands in the hands of his co-defendants to sell and
dispose of the same. And the evidence shows that in undertak-
ing to dispose of these lands and other lots thus turned over to
them for sale they adopted the plan of selling the lots and giv-
ing therefor a land-contract not differing in any way from the
ordinary land-contract which was signed by James W. Evenden,
trustee, and, at the same time, Van DeBoe, Haeger & Company
would enter into a contract with the purchaser of the lot, that,
if she died hefore payments were made in full, the lot would be
deeded to the beneficiary named by her without any further pay-
ment, although the same had not been paid for in full at the
time of her death.

The plaintiff claims that these two contracts constitute one
contract ; that they together form part of the consideration that
induced the purchase of the lot, and, being construed together
as one contract, she claims that the defense set up is not good.
The contract signed by Van DeBoe., Haeger & Company for
the lot is as follows:

‘‘This agreement made this 15th day of February, 1897, by
and between Van DeBoe, Haeger & Company of the city of
Cleveland, Ohio, of the first part, and Agnes Kundtz, trustee,
of Cleveland, Ohio, of the second part:

‘““\WHEREAS, the parties of the first part have advertised to
deliver over free from further payments, a deed of property
purchased from them at Lenox Park, upon certain conditions
in the case of the death of the grantee of said property, and,

‘“WHEREAS, the party of the second part, being the purchaser
of the lot, No. 112, in Lenox Park, wishes to avail herself of
said offer. now, therefore, it is hereby agreed that in case the
party of the second part shall die while her agreement for the
purchase of the above-mentioned lot is in force and before said
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I'remises are conveyed to her by deed, said party of the first
part shall, under certain conditions hereinafter mentioned,
have no claim for the payment of further installments on ac-
count of said premises, but shall convey the same without fur-
ther consideration, at the special direction of party of second
part, to Joseph Kundtz.’’

It is further provided and agreed that the conditions upon
which said deed shall be given her, is as follows:

‘“1st. That said party of second part is the original pur-
chaser, and not a transferee. 2d. That the payments on said
lot shall not, at any time, be more than two weeks in arrears.
3d. That satisfactory proof of death of said party of second
part shall be furnished. 4th. That said party of second part
shall not have come to her death by reason of suicide, sane or
insane. 5th. That the party of second part is in good health
at the time of purchase.

‘“No alteration in the terms of this agreement will be valid
unless signed by Van DeBoe, Haeger & Company and Agnes
Kundtz, trustee.”’

We are satisfied that these two contracts were held out as an
inducement to the party purchasing the lot; that they both en-
tered as a consideration for the payment of the money paid upon
the lot. The fact that the lot was owned by the trustee, James
‘W. Evenden, can make no difference, for the evidence shows
that he had turned over to his co-defendant the entire market-
ing of the lots, which they proceeded to do upon the plan set
out, and he has, in a sense that will bind him, made himself a
party to the method adopted by his agents. This makes the
two contracts but one contract in fact; they become parts of
one and the same contract. Hence, the defense set up herein,
‘which is, that payments were not made promptly as rquired by
that part of the contract signed hy Van DeBoe, Haeger & Com-
pany, will vitiate the second part of the contract, although they
‘were received upon the first contract, clearly creating a waiver
on behalf of the trustee who made the land-contract, by reason
of the money being received after becoming due; and the claim
is that the same parties, Van DNeBoe, Haeger & Company, held
both of these contracts and thev now make claim that although
payments were made and received on the land-contract after



142 CIRCUIT CO[jRT REPORTS—NEW SERIES.
Kundtz v. Van De Boe, Haeger & Co. [Vol. 24 (N.8.)

they were due, yet that can not be regarded as a compliance or
waiver of the conditions of the second contract; in other words,
Van DeBoe, Haeger & Company could take the money after
due and apply it upon the land-contract and yet, by so taking it.
they did not make a waiver of the insurance contract. The
only way to make this seem plausible to the court is, as was
contended by defendant, that these contracts are entirely sepa-
rate and distinct, and that whatever was done under one, either
by way of payments or waiver, could not, in any manner, affect
the other. We can not subscribe to that doctrine.

The real facts of the case are that while the land-contract was
signed by James W. Evenden, trustee, yet it is with the other
defendant, and really their contract, until they have made the
proper collections and turned them over to the trustee in lien
of the land, for the whole thing looks to their securing not only
the contract, but also the deed, when the contract is paid up in
full. So Evenden having signed the contract, amounts to noth-
ing more than binding him to give the deed. The whole trans-
action was really in the hands of the other defendant and
henee while, in form, the contracts appear to be made by differ-
ent parties, yet, in substance and sn fact, so far as the interest
of the parties is concerned, they are both made by the same
persons. U'pon the death of the purchaser, Van DeBoe, Haeger
& Company certainly did not expect to pay up the balance of
the purchase-price of the lot; if they did, the whole transaection
would be merely a gamble, '

We think the plaintiff has shown his right to have his deed
given to him without further consideration, and the prayer
of his petition is granted.
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QUALIFICATION STATEMENT FOLLOWING SIGNATURE
ON NOTE.

Circuit Court of Cuyahoga County.
H, H. WyLIE v. THE KiNnGSLEY PAPER COMPANY.
Decided, November 5, 1902.

Bills and Notes—Promise of Agent, a Personal Obligation.

Where one signs a promissory note and after his signature adds the
statement that he is signing it for another, he nevertheless becomes
personally Hable upon it.

0. J. Campbell, for plaintiff in error.
Carpenter, Young & Stocker, contra.

MARvIN, J.; CALDWELL, J., and Hatg, J., concur.

The Kingsley Paper Company sued H. H. Wylie before a
Justice of the peace, upon two promissory notes. One of said
notes reads as follows:

““$50.00. NoveMBER 26, 1898.
‘““Two months after date I promise to pay to The German-
American Ptg. Co. or order fifty dollars, value received, at their

office.
‘“H. H. WyLIE,
for the Critic Pub. and Prtg. Co.
. Due Jan. 26.”’

(‘\'o

The other note reads as follows:

““$50.00. NovEMBER 18, 1898.
“Sixty days after date I, we or either of us promise to pay to
the order of The German-American Prtg. Company fifty dol-
Jars at their office. Value received.
‘“H. H. WYLIE,

for the Critic Pub. & Prtg. Co.

““No. Due Jan. 17.”

The only defense made to these notes was that upon their face
they show that Wylie was not the maker of the notes and could
not be held personally liable thereon ; that each of the notes was
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a note of the Critic Publishing & Printing Company. The court
held otherwise, and judgment was given the plaintiff. This
Judgment was affirmed by the court of common pleas. It is
sought here to reverse the judgment. We hold that the judg-
ment was right, and must be affirmed.

The cases holding that commercial paper signed by one as
agent, and as agent of particular persons, is the persenal obliga-
tion of him who signed the paper are decidedly in point.

It is urged that it can not be claimed that the words follow-
ing the signature of Wylie on these notes are simply a desecrip-
tion of the person; but we think that the notes in this case are
clearly written promises on the part of Wylie for the payment
of the money. It is true he says that he promises to pay for this
publishing and printing company, but it is clearly he who prom-
ises to pay. Suppose these notes read ‘I, H. H. Wylie, promise
to pay for the Critic Publishing and Printing Company.”
Could there be any doubt that it would be the promise of Wylie,
which he is bound to make good? We think not. And we think
the language used in the notes sued upon is equally clear that
Wylie promised to pay for the company.
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PROSECUTION FOR. MURDER. IN THE SECOND DEGREE.
Court of Appeals for Hamilton County.

LeoNARD GoOINGS V. STATE oF OHIO.
Decided, December 13, 1915.

Criminal Lew—Errors in Charge to Jury in Second Degree Murder
Trial—Instruction as to Threats Where no Evidence of Threats Had
Been Offered—Plea of Not Guilty Does Not Admit of a Charge on
the Subject of Self-Defense—Misconduct by the Progecuting Attor-
ney.

1. In a prosecution for murder in the second degree an instruction to
the jury, to the effect that threats made by the deceased against the
defendant would not justify defendant in killing the deceased, con-
stitute prejudicial error where there is no evidence that any threats
were made. .

2. A plea of self-defense admits the kflllng by the defendant but seeks
to avoid the legal consequences by pleading and showing justifica-
tion; and where a defendant does not admit the killing, but stands
on his plea of not guilty and challenges the state to prove beyond a
reasonable doubt that the killing was committed by him, an in-
struction to the effect that there was some evidence that the killing
was by the defendant, but he claimed he was justified under the
doctrine of self-defense, is highly prejudicial since it leaves the jury
no option but to find that the killing was the act of the defendant,
their task being only to determine whether it was in self-defense,
which shifts the burden of proof and compels the defendant to
prove his innocence by a preponderance of the evidence.

3. Where the circumstances seem to indicate that the crime was com-
mitted by either the prosecuting witness or the accused, the use
by the prosecuting attorney of language in his argument to the
jury which leaves in their minds the impression that the prosecu-
ting witness had been tried and acquitted of the crime and had no
motive to testify otherwise than the truth, leaving them to con-
clude that the defendant must be the guilty one, is misconduct of a
prejudicial character.

Ed. F. Alexander and Jas. B. 0’Donnell, for plaintiff in error.
John V. Campbell, Prosecuting Attorney, and Waller M.
Locke, Assistant Prosecuting Attorney, contra,
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GORMAN, J.

The plaintiff in error on July 20th, 1915, was indicted for
murder in the second degree by the grand jury of Hamilton
county, charged with ‘‘unlawfully, purposely and maliciously”
killing one James Garner by shooting him with a pistol on May
4, 1914, at 554 George street, in the city of Cincinnati. On July
24, 1915, after trial, he was by a jury found guilty of man-
slaughter, and on July 26, 1915, was sentenced to the Ohio peni-
tentiary. He has prosecuted error to this court and asks for a
reversal of the judgment.

Briefly, the salient facts adduced at the trial, as shown by ‘the
record, are as follows: For about three years prior to May 4,
1914, Leonard Goings cohabited with one Violet Anderson, alias
Gertrude Thomas, an open and notorious prostitute in several
parts of Cincinnati, and elsewhere. He had left her and gone to
Indianapolis about a month or two prior to May 4, 1914, and
while he was there she took up her abode in the tenderloin dis-
triect of Cincinnati at 554 Gleorge street. Both Goings and the
Anderson woman are colored.

On May 4, 1914, Goings returned to Cincinnati from Indian-
apolis, and on the same day the Anderson woman heard of his
return and sent one of her friends to request QGoings to visit her
at her room on the second floor of the building No. 5564 George
street. He went to her room about four o’clock in the afternoon
of that day, with Violet’s messenger, and after a few minutes the
messenger departed, leaving the Anderson woman and Goings
alone in the room. These two are the only witnesses as to what
occurred with reference to the killing of Garner.

Shortly after Goings arrived at the Anderson woman’s room
Garner, a large, strong young colored man, appeared at the
house and asked two of the inmates on the first floor front of the
house how he could get upstairs. He was directed to go to the
rear of the house, which faced south on the north side of George
street, and he would find the stairway. He walked back perhaps
twenty or thirty feet, entered a side door and mounted the stairs
which lead to a hallway running north and south on the second
floor. He walked south through this hallway, which was dark
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and unlighted, to the door of the Anderson woman. He knocked,
and she came to the door, opened it, and asked Garner what he
wanted. He asked if she did not know him. She said she did
not, and ordered him away. He began to curse her and call her
vile names and said something about his money. He went down-
stairs and into the side yard, where he continued to curse the
Anderson woman, and she from the window talked back to him.
She told him he had better stay down there, but if he must come
up, then to come up. This is her statement before the coroner,
but on the trial she says Goings told Garner that ‘‘if he must
come up, to come up.’”’ Goings denies having spoken to Garner
while in the yard. Garner came up into the hall, and while there
was shot by either Goings or the Anderson woman. She admits
having thrown two drinking glasses out into the hall at Garner.
On the trial she testified that while she was at the door of her
room trying to drive Garner away and throwing the glasses at
him, Goings passed by her into the hall, saying, ‘‘Let me get
down to him,’’ and that when Goings got out into the hall.she
heard something like a slap, followed by a shot. Goings came
back into the room and she says she asked him who shot, and
he said ‘I did.”” She asked if he had shot him (Garner), and
Goings said ‘‘No.”” She says she saw Garner come around the
house and lean up against the wall, and she then said to Goings
‘““Yes you did.”’ He said, ““Did 1% What must I do?’’ and she
told him to go to his home in Virginia. She says he told
her he would throw the pistol into the vault in the back yard.
She did not see Goings have a revolver nor did she see him
shoot Garner. Garner died without making any statement.

Goings entered a plea of ‘‘Not guilty,”” and on the witness
stand in his own behalf denied that he shot Garner, denied that
he had or owned a revolver, and denied most of the Anderson
woman’s statements. He testified that she shot Garner from
her door in the hall while he, Goings, was out in the hall trying
to get Garner to go away; that she was very close to Garner
when she shot him, and that Garner had struck him, Goings,
with a dinner pail and knocked him down, and while he was
down, she shot Garner; that she told him, Goings, to go away
home so that he could not testify against her.
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Goings went away that evening to Virginia, and was not
arrested until more than a.year afterwards at Dayton, Ohio.
After the shooting, the deceased was taken to the city hospital,
where he died that night. The police officers that evening
searched the vault and fished up a thirty-two caliber revolver
with one empty shell and two unexploded cartridges. Goings
testified that the revolver belonged to the Anderson woman and
was the one with which she shot Garner; that he had often seen
it in her bureau drawer. Two other witnesses testified that she
told them she had a revolver and would shoot. She was arrested
after the shooting, and when questioned by the officers said a
man named ‘‘Walter’’ did it. After being confined for quite a
while and, as she said, cross-examined by the police and put
through either the second or third degree, she said Goings did
it.

There appears to be a direct conflict between her testimony
and that of Goings, the only two who know what person fired
the shot that killed Garner. The circumstances and probabilities
appear to us to point as strongly to Violet Anderson as to
Goings, as the slayer of Garner. Indeed, we think the probabil-
ities are stronger in favor of the theory that the woman, rather
than the man, fired the shot. Each, it is true, was equally inter-
ested in throwing the blame on the other; both were persons of
bad repute, and each had strong motives for testifying against
the other as they did, but a careful consideration of the evi-
dence and circumstances will lead a reasonable person to the con-
clusion that the state failed to establish the guilt of Goings be-
yond a reasonable doubt. Assuming that Violet Anderson was
entitled to equal credibility with Goings, nevertheless the attend-
ing circumstances, if carefully weighed and considered by
twelve unbiased and disinterested men, were such that there
must have existed in the minds of such a jury a reasonable doubt
of Goings’ guilt, and if that reasonable doubt had been resolved
in his favor the verdiet should have been ‘‘not guilty.”

There are several errors claimed, by counsel for Goings, to
have been committed by the court in the charge. In speaking
of that provocation which would warrant the jury in finding the
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accused guilty of manslaughter rather than murder in the sec-
ond degree, the court said :

““The provocation to have the effect of alleviating the killing
from second degree murder down into manslaughter must have
consisted in this case of personal violence done, or attempted to
be done by James Garner, nor can the threats which were alleged
to have been made by Garner against the defendant be con-
gidered as reasonable provocation to reduce the killing from
second degree to manslaughter.”’

This portion of the charge assumes, as we read it, that threats
were alleged to have been made against Goings by Garner, and
assumes that Goings would not be justified in killing Garner on
that account, whereas there is no evidence of Garner having
threatened Goings. In this part of the charge we think the court
erred to the prejudice of the accused.

In several places in the charge the court assumed that Goings
did the shooting; whereas Goings strenuously denied that he
did, and there was no witness who testified that he did shoot the
deceased. Violet Anderson only testified that Gosngs told her
he shot, but did not hit Garner.

The trial court further charged the jury on the plea of self-
defense, and while that part of the charge relating to self-de-
fense appears to state correctly the rule of law applicable to
self-defense, there was no claim or plea of self-defense made by
Goings, nor was there any evidence, to our minds, tending to
show a case of self-defense. The plea of self-defense in murder
cases admits the killing by the defendant, but seeks to avoid the
legal consequences by pleading and showing a justification.
There can not properly be a case of self-defense unless the ac-
cused admits the killing. This plea is in the nature of a confes-
sion and avoidance and, when interposed, the burden of estab-
lishing it by a preponderance of the evidence is upon the ac-
cused.

In the case under consideration Goings did not admit the kill-
ing, but on the contrary was standing upon his plea of not
guilty, and challenging the-state to prove beyond a reasonable
doubt that he fired the shot which killed Garner. Therefore,
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when the court charged the jury, as he did, that there was some
evidence tending to show that Goings shot Garner as a matter
of self-defense, and then proceeded to charge the law of self-
defense, it was in substance saying to the jury that Goings ad-
mitted the killing of Garner but claimed that he was justified
under the doctrine of self-defense, which must be proved by
Goings'by a preponderance of the evidence. This in effect took
from the consideration of the jury the question of whether or
not Goings killed Garner, and left no option to the jury but to
find as a matter of fact that he did kill Garner. They were,
under this charge, required only to find whether or not this
killing of Garner was done in self-defense, and on this issue they
were told that the burden of proof rested not on the state, but
on the defense. Under the evidence it was impossible for the
jury to find that Goings killed Garner in gelf-defense, and, there-
fore, assuming the killing of Garner to be admitted by Goings
by this plea of self-defense, and Goings having adduced no evi-
dence to establish self-defense, the jury were bound to bring
in a verdict of either manslaughter or murder in the second de-
gree. Thus, this part of the charge was highly prejudicial to the
accused, Goings, as it practically put upon him, in the eyes of
the jury the burden of proving his innocence by a preponder-
ance of the evidence.

In the argument to the jury the prosecuting attorney referred
" to the prosecuting witness, Violet Anderson, and commenting
upon her and her testimony, said, among other things:

‘‘Violet Anderson is free; she is clear of this trouble. * * *
But, gentlemen, as their first counsel told you this morning, she
is out breathing the free air—you can draw your own conclu-
sion as to what has happened to Violet Anderson.’’

Counsel for defendant objected to this language, and asked
the court to interpose, but the court overruled the objection.
The language, we think, was calculated to leave the impression
on the jury’s minds that the prosecuting witness, Violet Ander-
son, had been tried and acquitted of the crime for which Goeings
was undergoing trial, and that she therefore had no motive in
testifying to anything but the truth, whereas there was no evi-
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dence tending to show that Violet Anderson had been tried or
acquitted or that she was not under indictment charged with
this crime or complicity in its commission. The jury seeking
a victim might well have concluded that if the Anderson woman
had been acquitted then Goings must be guilty, inasmuch as the
killing of Garner was by either Goings or the woman. If she
did not kill Garner, then of necessity Goings did kill him. We
think this was prejudicial misconduct on the part of the prose-
cutor.

There are other errors in the record but those pointed out are
sufficient to require us to reverse the judgment, which is accord-
ingly done.

Jones (E. H.), P. J., and JoNES (Ollver B.), J., concur.

JUVENILE COURT WITHOUT JURISDICTION OVER. CHILDREN
OF PARENTS INVOLVED IN DIVORCE
PROCEEDINGS.

Court of Appeals for Sandusky County.

CLEVELAND PROTESTANT ORPHAN ASYLUM ET AL V. HAzEL
TAYLOR SOULE.

Decided, October 16, 1915.

Jurisdiction—Juvenile Court Act—Does Not Deprive Common Pleas
Court of Jurisdiction Over Children of Parents Involved in Divorce
Proceedings—Continuing Jurisdiction of the Common Pleas Court.

1. Sections 1647, 1648 and 8031, General Code, conferring on juvenile
courts authority to determine cases involving delinquent, neglected
and dependent children, do not supersede Section 11987, General
Code, empowering common pleas courts to mnake orders for the dis-
position, care and maintenance of children of parents involved in
divorce proceedings.

2. A court of common pleas, having made an order concerning the dis-
position of a minor child of parents involved in divorce proceed-
ings, has continuing jurisdiction of such child, precluding a juve-
nile court from taking independent jurisdiction thereof. If the
best interests of the child demand a change of custody the proper




162 COURT OF APPEALS.

Orphan Asylum v. Soule. [Vol. 24 (NS.)

procedure is by application to the common pleas court to modify
its former order. { ¢4 v i A ¢ w’l)

3. The principle, that the court first obtaining jurisdiction of a sub-
ject-matter retains exclusive jurisdiction and authority until final
disposition, applies to jurisdiction of a dependent child, concerning
which a common pleas court has made an order for the custody in
divorce proceedings, and a juvenile court has no authority to make
an order for the disposition of such child.

W. J. Mead, for plaintiffs in error.
Kinney, O’Farrell & Rimelspach and E. C. Sayles, contra.

RiCHARDS, J.

This is a proceeding in habeas corpus brought in the court of
common pleas to recover the custody of a child about eleven
vears of age. The court of common pleas granted the writ and
error is prosecuted to that judgment. The case raises a very
interesting question of jurisdiction as between the probate court
end the common pleas court. No disputed matters of fact aris=
in the case. The important facts to be considered in determining
the questions raised are simply, that in a divorce action pending
between the father and mother of the child, the custody of the
child had been awarded to the mother in the court of common
pleas of this county on December 26, 1913. In pursuance of this
decree cf the common pleas court, the mother took and retained
possession of the child. Tn May, 1914, proceedings were insti-
tuted in the probate court, acting as a juvenile court in this
county, in which it was charged that the child was a dependent
child by reason of the fact that it had mot proper parental care
and that its home was, by reason of neglect and depravity on the
part of its parents, an unfit place for the child. On the trial in
the juvenile court that court found and adjudged that the child
was a dependent of about the age of eleven years, and that she
was a ward of the court, and the court ordered that her custody
be committed to the Cleveland Protestant Orphan Asylum, and
that she be there cared for and educated until the further order
of the court.

The authority vested by statute in the court of common pleas
in an action for divorce is contained in Section 11987, Genera!
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Code, and empowers that court to make such order for the dis-
position, care and maintenance of the child, as is just. The or-
der which was made in the court of common pleas antedates the
order in the juvenile court and was made in direct conformity
with the language of the statute. It is said, however, that the
juvenile court law supersedes the order and decree made in the
court of common pleas. The juvenile court proceeded under and
by virtue of the authority contained in Sections 1647, 1648 and
6031, General Code. These sections confer ample authority upon
the juvenile court to consider and determine cases involving
questions of delinquent, neglected or dependent children. The
later Section 8031, General Code, provides in substance, that,
when a parent, through vagrancy, negligence or misconduect, is
unable to support a minor child or neglects so to do, or habitu-
ally ill-treats such child, the probate ecourt may issue a summons
requiring the parent to appear and answer the complaint and if
the court finds the complaint to be true and that it is for the
best interests of the child to be taken from the parent, it may
make an order to that effect and direct the placing of the child
in a suitable orphan asylum or children’s home or with some
other benevolent society. We do not, however, understand that
these sections operate to supersede the authority conferred on
courts of common pleas to make proper orders for the disposi-
tion, care and maintenance of the children of parents involved
in a divoree action before that court. It has long been held
that the jurisdiction of the court of common pleas over the
children of parents so involved is a continuing jurisdiction, and
~ that the child becomes the ward of the court. This child was
a ward of the court of common pleas prior to and at the time
the proceedings were brought in the juvenile court. We think
that the statutes conferring authority on any court in such mat-
ters must be read as limited to children not already provided
for by some other court first having obtained jurisdiction.
Hoffman v. Hoffman, 15 Ohio St., 427; Rogers v. Rogers, 51
Ohio St., 1. :

A similar question has been before the Supreme Court on
two recent occasions, the first being In re Crist, 89 Ohio St.,
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33. In that case the probate court had appointed a guardian
of the child after the decree awarding the custody of the child
had been entered in the court of common pleas, and it was held
that the child had become the ward of the court of common
pleas and that the jurisdiction over its custody was a continu-
ing jurisdiction and could not be affected by the subsequent ap-
pointment of a guardian in the probate court.

The question was again before the Supreme Court in the
Children’s Home of Marion Co. v. Fetter, 90 Ohio St., 110. In
that case a delinquent child had become a ward of the juvenile
court and had been committed to an institution under provi-
sions of the General Code relating to that court. Thereafter
proceedings in habeas corpus were brought by a parent of the
child and it was held that the order of the juvenile court was
effective and controlling and that the court assuming to take
subsequent jurisdiction was without authority. This is but
another enunciation of a principle of law that has been recog-
nized from time immemorial, that the court first obtaining juris-
diction of the subject-matter retains exclusive jurisdietion and
authority until final disposition, free from interference by any
other tribunal. Of course, this principle has nothing to do with
the question of convictions of minors for violations of any
criminal statute. To hold differently than in accordance with
the rule above stated would permit a defeated litigant, seeking
the custody of a minor child in the common pleas court, to go
immediately to the juvenile court and there re-litigate the ques-
tion just determined in the common pleas court. It would be
doing violence to known rules of procedure to assume that
the General Assembly intended by the passage of the juvenile
law to confer authority on the juvenile court to re-litigate mat-
ters already determined in another court, particularly in view
of the fact that the orders as to the custody of children are
continuing orders.

We see no reason why the order in the court of common
1-leas granting the custody of the child to the mother could not
be modified in that court if conditions had so changed as to
render such modification proper.
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We call attention of counsel to the language of the Supreme
Court in the closing paragraph of the opinon in Bower v. Bower,
90 Ohio St., 172. In that case the Supreme Court sustained
the appealability of an order of the common pleas court deter-
mining the care, custody and maintenance of minor children,
and in so doing affirmed the judgment of the circuit court and
1emanded the case to that court for such further orders from
time to time, touching the custody and support of the children,
as that court should deem just and proper.

We are entirely in accord with the eloquent tribute to the
home as a place for rearing children, announced by Mr. Justice
Brewer, found in In re Bullen, 28 Kan., 557. The only ques-
tion, however, that is in this court is one as to the jurisdiction
of the juvenile court under the circumstances disclosed in the
record. The court of common pleas found that the order made
in that court in the divorce case was unreversed and not modi-
fied and still in force, and that for this reason the juvenile
court had no jurisdiction over the child as a dependent child.
With that judgment we are in accord and the same will, there-
fore, be affirmed.

CHITTENDEN, J., concurs.

KINKADE, J.

I concur in the judgment of affirmance but I think it might
well be placed on an additional ground than that mentioned in
the opinion of Judge Richards, to-wit, that it is manifest in
the record that the child in question is no longer a dependent
child, if she were such at the time of the entry of the judgment
of the juvenile court. :
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VACATION OF A JOINT JUDGMENT AS TO ONE OF THE
DEFENDANTS.

Court of Appeals for Morrow County.

B. M. MEREDITH ET AL V. THE BUTLER MANUFACTURING COMPANY
Decided, October 15, 1915.

Practice—Death of One of Joint Defendants After Submission—Joint
Judgment Entered Without Personal Representative Being Made o
Party—Vacation of Judgment as to Decedent’'s Estate Ground for
Vacation as to the Remaining Dcfendants.

The vacation of a joint judgment as to one of the joint judgment
debtors vacates it as to all, where the subject-matter of the action is
such that the plaintiff could not have prosecuted several actions;
and a trial court in such a case, a prima facie case having been
tendered, should grant a vacation as to all the defendants but
suspend the order pending a new trial on the merits.

Mitchell & Bruce, for plaintiffs in error.
J. M. Schooler and Harlan & Wood, contra.

Houck, J.

This is a proceeding in error prosecuted from the Common
Pleas Court of Morrow County, Ohio.

_The plaintiffs in error have filed in this court a supplemental
petition in error, alleging that since the trial of this cause in
the common pleas court, and since the same was partly heard
in this court, the plaintiffs in error, Sarah J. Huntington, as ad-
ministratrix of the estate of R. N. MicMahon, deceased, filed their
petition in the Common Pleas Court of Morrow County, Ohio.
asking for a vacation of and suspension of a judgment formerly
made and entered by said court in said proceedings below, and
for leave to file answer therein, for the reasons set forth, and
upon the grounds stated therein.

The common pleas court refused to grant the relief prayed
for, but entered a judgment affirming the former judgment of
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the court therein, save and except as to R. N. McMahon, and as
to the judgment against him enjoined the plaintiff below from
issuing an execution against or in any way attempting to collect
said judgment, or any part thereof, from the estate of the said
R. N. McMahon, deceased.

Plaintiffs in error claim that there is error in the record and
proceedings in said common pleas court, in said supplemental
proceedings, to their prejudice, in the following particulars, to-
wit :

1. In refusing to vacate the judgment against all the plaint-
iffs in error, the defendants below. )

2. After vacating the judgment against McMahon, the
court’s refusal to suspend the judgment against all of the de-
fendants below, and set the cause down for trial.

3. The court’s refusal to permit the plaintiffs in error, the
defendants below, to file an answer which contained two new
and additional defenses.

4. The modification of the original judgment without a trial.

Upon these grounds the plaintiffs in error seek a reversal of
the judgment below.

The original action out of which this proceeding arises was
commenced in the Common Pleas Court of Morrow County, Ohio,
in December, 1909, by the defendant in error, the Butler Manu-
tacturing Company against the plaintiffs’ in error, A. E. Bell,
R. N. McMahon, since deceased, and others.

The issue was duly made, jury waived, and the cause was tried
to the court, and judgment rendered against the defendants be-
low for $2,650, with interest. A motion for a new trial was filed,
heard and overruled, and error was prosecuted to this court, the
petition in error alleging that after said cause was tried and
submitted, R. N. McMahon, one of the defendants in said suit,
died on or about the 4th day of November, 1912, and before
judgment was entered ; that no suggestion of the death of said
R. N. MeMahon was made in said court, and no personal or legal
representative of said decedent was made a party to said action,
but said case was tried and a joint judgment rendered against
said R. N. McMahon and the other defendants in said cause,
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after the death of said McMahon, and without his legal or per-
sonal representative being made a party defendant therein.

The petition in error came on for hearing in this court at the
June term, 1913, and the above alleged error not appearing in
the record, this court was without jurisdiction to hear and de-
termine the same, and the cause was continued to give plaintiffs
in error an opportunity to proceed under the provisions of Sec-
tion 11631 of the General Code, or other similar provisions, to
obtain their remedy.

This case is an important one, relating to questions of prac-
tice that are of vital importance to the bench and bar.

From an examination of the record we find that the original
suit upon which this proceeding is based was founded upon a
joint contract, and the judgment rendered therein in the trial
below was a joint judgment, and therefore the only question
presented to this court for determination is: Does the vacating
of a joint judgment against one defendant and joint judgment
debtor vacate it as to all?

Section 11631 of the General Code, provides:

‘“The common pleas court, or the circuit court, may vacate
or modify its own judgment or order, after the term at which
it was made: * * *

‘“(6) For the death of one of the parties before judgment in
the action.”’

Under this section, and Sections 11636 and 11637 of the Gen.
eral Code, the successive steps required to vacate a judgment
after term are as follows:

““1. An application filed in the original case, stating the
ground of vacation and the defense, upon which summons shall
issue, and no further pleading is required.

‘2. Hearing on the application.

‘3. " If ground for vacation is found to exist, and a valid de-
fense is averred in the application, the judgment shall be va-
cated, but the lien of the original judgment saved hy suspending
the order of vacation pending trial on the merits. )

‘4. A pleading setting up a defense, and a trial upon the
issuies made, as if no judgment had been rendered.
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‘5. The rendering of a judgment which shall either restore
the old judgment or extinguish it, as the facts found on the

trial demand.’’
\

In determining whether there is error in this record it is
proper to inquire as to whether or not the plaintiff in the original
. action below could have maintained a separate action on the con-
tract against each of the obligors, had they elected so to do, or
was their sole remedy on the contract against them jointly?

There can be little doubt that the cases wherein it is proper to
render a several judgment against one or more of the defend-
ants in the suit, thereby leaving the cause to proceed against the
others, are limited, as a general rule, to certain actions. The
difficulty, however, is in determining whether these cases where-
in such judgment is forbidden includes actions on joint and
several contracts, on which the plaintiff might have elected to
prosecute several actions. Some courts have held that they are
confined to actions on joint contracts, when the plaintiff had no
clection as to the joinder of defendants, and therefore was com-
pelled to bring a joint suit, and that his only remedy was such;
others have held the contrary to be the rule.

We think that Section 11584 of the General Code will ma-
terially aid us in the proper determination of the question be-
fore us. The section provides:

* “In an action against several defendants the court may ren-
der judgment against one or more of them, leaving the action
to proceed against the others, whenever a several judgment is
proper.”

A fair construction of this statute, with the facts presented in
this case, and applying thereto what seems to us to be the rule
of law applicable to the same, should aid us in reaching a proper
conclusion. A court in its discretion may render a judgment
against one or more of the defendants, leaving the action to pro-
ceed against others, whenever it appears that the plaintiff might
have demanded a several judgment on the contract if he had
elected to sue the defendants separately. On the other hand,
if the subject-matter of the action is such that the plaintiff
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could not have prosecuted several actions, then and in that
event his only remedy would be to demand a joint judgment.
in a joint action, and in such case he can not have a several
judgment against any of the defendants until the liability of
each and all of the defendants has been determined upon final
trial of all the issues in the case.

In the case at bar the vacating of the judgment against one
of the plaintiffs in error, the defendants below, thereby vacated
it as to all. This being so, and ground for vacation having been
svard to exist, and a prima facte defense having been tendered
by the plaintiffs in error, the defendants below, the judgment as
to all of them should have been vacated, and the order of vaca-
tion suspended pending a trial on the merits.

The judgment is reversed, and cause remanded to common
pleas court for a new trial.

SHIELDS, J., and FERNEDING, J. (sitting in place of Powell, J.),

concur.
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ACTION FOR RECOVERY OF SECRET PROFITS FROM
A PROMOTER.

Court of Appeals for Ashland County.

THE MARBLEHEAD BANK COMPANY V. S. A. RARIDON.*
Decided, October Term, 1915.

Corporations—Seccret Profits Enjoyed by a Promoter—Exztent of the
Recovery which May be Had by the Corporation—Promoter Stands
in a Fiduciary Relation—Application of the Statute of Limitations.

1. In an action by a corporation to recover the secret profits of its
promoter, the recovery is limited to the profits actually made by
him in dealing with the corporations or in transactions for the
corporation.

2. In an action by a corporation to recover secret profits from its pro-
moter, the promoter stands in a flduciary relation to the corpora-
tion, and the action is one for a breach of duty, not for fraud, and
does not come within the saving clause of the statute of limitations
as an action for relief on the ground of fraud.

Mykrantz & Patterson, for plaintiff in error.
C. H. Workman, contra.

SPENCE, J. (sitting in place of Houck, J.).

It is difficult to tell what theory of the case was in the mind
of the pleader when the petition was drawn, but stripped of
much of its useless verbiage it seems to set forth the circum-
stances leading up to the incorporation of the Marblehead Bank
Company, and certain transactions which took place after the
incorporation of the company.

The amended petition avers that the defendant, S. A. Raridon,
was the promotor of the bank company and had as his associate
one W. C. Pollock; that they induced certain persons to become
stockholders in the bank, representing to them that it would
do a prosperous business in the village of Marblehead; that
the banking company was incorporated under the laws of the

*Affirming Marbdblehead Bank Co. v. Raridon, 17 N.P.(N.8S.), 27.
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state of Ohio on the 14th day of March, 1907, and that on the
11th day of May, 1907, the defendant, Raridon, Louis St. Marie
and others were elected directors, and that the stockholders or
directors elected a cashier for said bank. Then the amended
petition contains this averment: -

‘““And that afterwards on May 11th, 1907, the stockholders
who had subscribed for stock in said company, met and organ-
ized the same by electing directors and that said defendant was
present at said meeting and falsely and fraudulently repre-
sented to the stockholders and directors of plaintiff that he had
purchased for the company bank fixtures including four chairs,
one directors’ table, one side desk, one double desk, one single
desk and table, check shelves, electric fixtures, vault doors and
safe, and that said fixtures were of the value of $2,982.32; that
all of the stockholders and directors of said company, aside from
the defendant and the said Pollock, relied upon the representa-
tions of the defendant, in the entire organization, promotion
and management of the bank at its inception.”’

A
\

The amended petition further avers the defendant while in
charge and control of said bank caused certain certificates of
stock of the cash value of $1,000 to be issued to himself and
'W. C. Pollock, and that they afterwards sold and transferred said
stock to other parties, and that while defendant was in charge
and control of the bank he made out a ‘‘deposit slip,’’ and caused
the cashier of the bank to give him credit on a checking account
for $1,988.32, which money was later checked out of the bank by
defendant, and further avers that it had no knowledge of the
fact that defendant had taken a credit deposit subject to check-
ing of $1,988.32 for cxpenses, furniture and fixtures until the
year 1910, and had no knowledge as to what amount had been
paid by defendant for furniture and fixtures or the real value
of the same as furnished by defendant until the year 1910, and
avers that the bank furniture and fixtures were not worth more
than $1,000; that between May 10th, 1907, and July 16th, 1908,
the defendant drew by check from the bank the amount of
$1,988.32, at which date he closed his account with the bank and
asks a judgment for $1,988.32 and interest.
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The petition does not aver any collusion between the defend-
dant Raridon and the other directors of the bank, but alleges
that Raridon was in charge of the bank for some time after its
organization. If these allegations are true then the directors
of this bank were guilty of gross negligence.

To this petition the defendant filed a demurrer, first, because
the petition does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of
action against the defendant; and, second, that the cause of
action is barred by the statute of limitations or the action was
not brought within the time limited for the commencement of
such action.

The court of common pleas sustained the second ground of
the demurrer and the case is here on error to the ruling of that
court.

It was the evident purpose of the pleader to set forth a cause
of action for the recovery of the difference bétween the actual
cost or price paid by defendant for the furniture and fixtures
furnished by him to the bank and the amount which he received
from the bank for them.

The rule is well settled as stated in Vol. 1 of Clark & May-
shall’s Private Corporations:

‘‘That the relation of promoters to the proposed corporation
when formed, is a fiduciary relation, or a relation of trust and.
confidence, and for this reason it is well settled that they will
not be permitted to take advantage of their position in order to
make a secret profit out of their transactions on behalf of the
proposed corporation or the corporators, or out of their dealings
with the corporation or corporators. If they do so, they will
not be allowed to retain their advantage or gain, but the trans-
action may be set aside in equity or they may be compelled to
account or be held liable to respond in damages.”’

In Yeiser v. United States Board & Paper Co., 107 Fed., 340,
in the syllabus the court say:

‘‘Promoters of a corporation who become stockholders therein
assume a trust relation to the company and the other stock-
holders which binds them to act openly and in good faith in all
matters connected with its organization, and the acquiring of
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the property necessary for the transaction of the business for
which it is organized and they will not be permitted to make a
secret profit on the sale of such property to the corporation.”

These principles of law are conceded by counsel for defend-
ant in error, and the question is whether the averments of the
petition make a case for recovery under these well established
rules of law. The petition alleges that defendant represented
to the stockholders and directors that he had purchased the
furniture, fixtures and equipment for the bank and that they
‘““were of the value of $2,988.32.”’ That is not a statement or
representation of a fact, but simply the expression of an opinion
as to what they were worth. Waiving the form of allegation,
the question is not what they were worth, but what is the differ-
ence between the amount paid for them by the defendant and the
amount which he received from the company for them. The
averment that the furniture, fixtures and equipment of the bank
were worth only $1,000 is also the expression of an apinion as
to value and does not fix the measure of recovery as the differ-
ence between that amount and the amount which the bank paid.
$2,988.32, or $1,988.32.

In Woodbury v. Loudenslager, 58 N. J. Equity, 556 ; 43 Atlan-
tie, 671, it is said:

““To go beyond restitution and decree the actual payment of
a sum of money never received by the defendant by way of
profit or otherwise, is to impose a penalty of a sort and in a

fashion unknown to courts of equity, aside from causes of active
fraud.”’

The rule is so well recognized that it would be idle to eite
authorities to show that the amount which a corporation is en-
titled to receive from a promoter is the profits which he actually
received in dealing with or for the corporation; in other words,
his secret profit.

Speaking for myself alone, I do not think that the amended
petition states facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action
against the defendant and that the first ground of the demurrer
should have been sustained by the common pleas court.
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Counsel for plaintiff in error contend that this action is one
for relief on the ground of fraud, and that the action was begun
within four years after the discovery of the fraud. The amended
petition avers that the bank company is a corporation incorpo-
rated under the laws of Ohio; that on May 11th, 1907, the stock-
holders organized by electing a board of directors and a cashier
for said bank; that the defendant was present at said meeting
and falsely and fraudulently represented to the stockholders
and directors of plaintiff company that he had purchased for
the company bank fixtures, enumerating them, and that ‘‘said
fixtures were of the value of $2,988.32.”> Then follows a state-
ment in regard to the defendant depositing $1,600 and withdraw-
ing the same. This seemed to be his private funds and we are
unable to see how it is connected with this case, but following
these statements is this allegation:

‘‘Plaintiff further avers that it had no knowledge nor did any
of its directors or stockholders, except the said defendant and
the said Pollock, have any knowledge of the fraudulent trans
action of the defendant or had any knowledge that the repre-
sentations made by him were fraudulent and false until in the
year 1910.”’

If the petition sets forth a cause of action for relief on the
ground of fraud, then the allegation that the fraud was not dis-
covered until within four years of the time the action was begun,
would be good as against a demurrer. In Zieverink v. Kemper,
50 Ohio St., 208, the court say (syllabus):

‘“When it appears from plaintiff’s petition on an action for
relief on the ground of fraud that the cause of action accrued
more than four years before the action was commenced, a gen-
eral averment in the petition that the fraud was not discovered
by plaintiff until a time within four years before the action
was brought is sufficient to bring the case within the saving
clause of the statute of limitations for such actions, without
specifically setting out when the discovery was ‘made, or how
it was made or why it was not made sooner.’’

‘We come now to the question as to whether this is an action
for relief on the ground of fraud and comes within the saving
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clause of tﬁe statute which provides that the cause of action shall
not acerue until the fraud is discovered. In Carpenter v. Canal
Company, 35 Ohio St., 307, Okey, J., says:

‘‘These sections (now Section 11224, General Code) extend
to causes of an equitable as well as those of a legal nature.”

‘Waiving all questions as to the anomalous petition and assum-
ing that it makes a cause of action for the recovery of the secret
profits of a promoter, is such an action one for relief on the
ground of fraud or is it one for breach of duty on the part of
the promoter?

The petition alleges that the furniture, fixtures and equipment
for the bank were sold by the defendant to the bank company
on May 11th, 1907, and if there was any fraud practiced by the
defendant it was at the time of the sale of<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>